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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Wu Po Sum
Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing

Mr. Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on 9 January 2023)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) (resigned on 14 June 2024)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

Mr. Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit committee

Mr. Liu Dianchen (chairman, appointed on 31 May 2024)
Mr. Siu Chi Hung (chairman, retired on 30 May 2024)
Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

Remuneration committee

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (chairman, resigned on 10 October 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (chairman, appointed on 27 December 2024)
Mr. Wu Po Sum

Mr. Xu Ying

Nomination committee

Mr. Wu Po Sum (chairman)

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

BEEg

FERIHTES

PR E

HITES

Ak A

MR H 2 A (R2023F1H9H EZE(F)
ER BB 4 (202351 H9AEZE(T)
EE R B oL A (R20234E1 H9A BHE)
EHITES

HET+ (R20244F6 H 14 H B 1F)
BIAFHTES

RIRRE LA (R2024F10H10H B (F)
BmBRE

BEEM A (R202445H30H R 1F)

IR B e (202445531 H EZE ()
BEE L+ (HR2024F 127527 A EZE(F)

EEZ
ERES

w0
IR}

2R B e (F /5 R20244E5 31 H EZ(F)
BRI A (F/F R2024F5H30H E L)
RIRR LA (R20244E10H 104 B (F)
BBRE

BEE L+ (HR2024F 12527 HEZE(F)

FMESS

KRR LE (F/F R2024F10H 108 i (F)
BEELL (F/E R2024F 12527 HEZ(F)
PR E

BB E

REEES

MRERESE ()

KAR B 48 4 (R20244E10 8 10H BHE)
BErE

BEE L+ (HR2024F 12527 A EZE(F)

RS S MREE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands



2023 ANNUAL REPORT « ZZ2 == F J

CORPORATE INFORMATION
LAFEH

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEADQUARTERS IN CHINA

Room 212, 313, Block C
Jianye Office Building
Nongye East Road
Zhengzhou City

Henan Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

HONG KONG REGISTERED UNDER PART 16
OF THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE

Address with effect from 6 May 2024:

Room 1602-1605, 16/F,

Tower 2, The Gateway,

Harbour City,

Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon,
Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.centralchinamgt.com

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Wing Nga (FCG HKFCG (PE))

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
(UNDER THE LISTING RULES)

Mr. Hu Bing
Ms. Ho Wing Nga

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Everbright Bank, Zhengzhou Tianyun Street Sub-branch
Bank of China, Zhengzhou Jianye Road Sub-branch

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS TO OUR COMPANY

As to Hong Kong law
Hogan Lovells
lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries with effect from 1 August 2024

As to Cayman Islands law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Opus Capital Limited
Ignite Capital (Asia Pacific) Limited with effect from
6 December 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Prism Hong Kong Limited

With effect from 15 October 2024

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Share listing
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Ordinary Shares (as at 31 December 2023)

Issued shares: 3,691,302,120 shares
Nominal value: HK$0.01 per share

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

ir@centralchinamgt.com
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Central China Management Company Limited (hereinafter referred
to as “CCMGT” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”, stock code: 9982.HK) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 22 October 2020 as an exempt company with limited
liability, the shares of which were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
31 May 2021.

The project management business of the Group is primarily carried
out by Henan Zhongyuan Central China City Development Limited
(“Zhongyuan Jianye”) and Zhongyuan Central China (Hainan)
Management Services Co., Ltd. (“Zhongyuan Jianye (Hainan)”),
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. After years of
development, CCMGT has possessed independent capital,
construction and management capabilities, and embarked on a path
of independent, national, large-scale and professional development,
especially in the business model, operation logic, engineering
construction and partner resource management.

As of 31 December 2023, project management projects of CCMGT
spread across 134 counties and cities above county level in 9
provinces and autonomous regions. It cooperated with 223 partners
on 418 projects, with a total planned capacity area of approximately
53.09 million square meters (“sq.m.”), and a repeat cooperation rate
of 62%. It served over 400,000 property owners. CCMGT has
accumulated a mature marketing and management team. Through
its mature development capabilities and brand advantages, the
Company has brought higher premiums to its partners’ projects, with
an average selling price 10% higher than that of its competitors.

Currently, CCMGT mainly operates businesses in commercial
project management, government project management, capital
project management and management consulting. Traditional
commercial project management is the core business of CCMGT,
with extensive cooperation resources, high business share and
strong profit realization. With business development, the Company
has begun to focus on promoting the government project
management business, which involves three major business models:
the traditional government project management model, the joint
venture platform model, and the equity trading model. At present,
the Company has forged strategic partnerships with 27
governmental platform companies and 8 state-owned enterprises in
Henan, including Zhoukou Chengtou, Dancheng Chengtou, Yichuan
Chengtou, Nanyang Gaoxin Chengtou, Finance Bureau of Shangcai
County, and Henan Province Airport Group. There were intentional
projects followed up.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
LR E N

Relying on years of development experience, CCMGT officially
released a brand-new project management trust system called the
CCMGT Project Management C Platform in September 2023. The
CCMGT Project Management C Platform is a revolutionary
exploration and attempt of CCMGT on the basis of its improved
brand premium and management capability. It links and builds an
institutional partnership platform, a financial linking platform, a digital
management efficiency enhancement platform, a supply chain
empowerment platform, and a think-tank sharing platform.
Innovation was made in cooperation models in the development of
areas, capital project management, government project
management and the revitalization of relief projects. It established
advantages in platform cooperation, created value through
cooperation, and won the trust of property owners, governments,
capitalists, partners, clients, and industry peers.

CCMGT paid special attention to the communication and exchange
with its partners, and in the course of project management, it takes
“ensuring the success of each project, the satisfaction of each
partner and the sustainability of the cooperation” as the standard of
its work, so as to continue to provide partners with more quality
services. Every time CCMGT enters a city, every product built for the
city is committed to creating a new business card for the local city.
Innovating a new lifestyle for local people; Improving the
construction level of cities together with local developers; Paying
more tax to local governments; Being a good propagandist of cities
by fitting into them.

In the future, CCMGT will, based on innovative ideas and modes of
cooperation, continue to link resources from various parties with
trust, and build a cooperation platform that achieves a win-win
situation for all parties through synergistic development, in a bid to
realise multi-dimensional values on the government, capital, partner,
user and enterprise levels. The Group will fulfil the corporate mission
of “Building quality lives for the people of Central China” and
continuously promote the strategic development of Central China
Group to facilitate the urban construction and upgrading in China.
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

CENTRALISED CONTRACT SIGNING CEREMONY AND THE PARTNER
APPRECIATION EVENT WAS HELD IN JANUARY 2023

2023 F 1 AR REERTHENEXNESFBH IR BT

The centralised contract signing ceremony for CCMGT'’s 27 projects and the partner appreciation event was successfully
held at Unique Henan on 10 January 2023. This time, contracts on 27 projects were centrally signed, with a total
estimated capacity area of 3,544,300 sq.m.. There were six government project management projects, accounting for
43% of the total estimated capacity area of the contracted projects. Among the 27 projects signed centrally, 24 projects
were in Henan Province, with a total estimated capacity area of 3,253,100 sq.m.. Three projects were located in
provinces other than Henan, with a total estimated capacity area of 291,200 sq.m., all of which are projects under
framework agreements.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KWAFLL

2. SINOLINK SECURITIES LED AN INVESTOR GROUP TO CCMGT FOR
EXCHANGE AND STUDY

B 55 5 R IR E A Bk R RE R KRR

On 7 February 2023, Sinolink Securities led an investor group of about 20 people to CCMGT for exchange and study.
The arrival of the investor group once again demonstrated the recognition of the industry and the market for the
development model of CCMGT.

202352 A7H B2 5 RF20ALEHREABN TR REZZRNAT - LLREBREANENER B REBRTITE
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3.

MAJOR EVENTS
SEXERL

CHAIRMAN WU PO SUM LED A DELEGATION OF CCMGT CITY
PARTNER COUNCIL IN VISITING CPC XUCHANG MUNICIPAL
COMMITTEE AND MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT AND HAD TALKS WITH
PARTY SECRETARY SHI GENZHI
HERESRBPFREZABABEETHEONNETE

m I R h £ E L iRaRMR TFE M

On 22 February 2023, CCMGT City Partner Council held its 2023 city walk and had talks with leaders of Xuchang City.
The attendees include Shi Genzhi, Secretary of the CPC Xuchang Municipal Committee, Li Haifeng, a member of the
Standing Committee and Secretary General of the CPC Xuchang Municipal Committee, Yang Zhaohui, Vice Mayor of
Xuchang City, as well as executives from Xuchang City Investment Group, Xuchang Asset Management and Xuchang
Chengtou. Directors and the Group’s management team, including Mr. Wu Po Sum, Chairman of Central China Group,
Mr. Wang Jun, CEO of CCMGT, Mr. Chen Aiguo, executive Director of CCMGT and rotating chairman of CCMGT City
Partner Council, and Mr. Duan Juwei, executive Director of CCMGT, participated in the talks.

202342 A22R  FREEX AR AR EGRIT2023F M MAEN B U RFETAGRRIIFER FETRELLRE
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

4, CCMGT WAS HONOURED AS ONE OF 2023 CHINA OUTSTANDING
PROJECT MANAGEMENT OPERATION REAL ESTATE COMPANIES

FRERRE [20237BFEMENREZSESLE]

The Press Conference for Research Results of 2023 China Top 100 Real Estate Enterprises cum the 20th China Top
100 Real Estate Entrepreneurs’ Summit was held in Beijing on 16 March. CCMGT was recognised as one of the 2023
China Outstanding Project Management Operation Real Estate Companies for its strong business operations, exemplary
delivery capabilities, and highly regarded customer reputation. Additionally, CCMGT was commended for its innovative
business model and influential brand presence.
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

HIGH NET PROFIT MARGIN AND HIGH DIVIDEND — CCMGT
ANNOUNCED 2022 ANNUAL RESULTS

FRNER  S24 > RRER2022FEERR M

On 21 March, CCMGT (09982.HK) held the 2022 annual results press conference. Despite the resurgence of COVID-19
in 2022, the real estate market under pressure, various parties’ entry in the project management field, and the intensified
industry competition, CCMGT, by leveraging on the leading asset-light business model, saw high-quality development
with a high net profit margin and the synergistic development of diversified businesses during the year ended 31
December 2022
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

12

PURSUING GROWTH AND OPENING UP A NEW CHAPTER — CCMGT’S
2023 SECOND CENTRALISED CONTRACT SIGNING CEREMONY WAS
SUCCESSFULLY HELD

EXAEHBRTRE — 2023 FFRERERF-REFHRHGEXRINET

On 9 April 2023, the 2023 second centralised signing ceremony of CCMGT was successfully held at
Unique Henan. Contracts on 21 projects were signed, with a total capacity area of 1.9515 million sq.m..
There were 13 government project management projects, with a capacity area of 1.2162 million sq.m..
Seven projects were located in provinces other than Henan, with a capacity area of 619,300 sq.m.; There
was one capital project management contract, with a capacity area of 116,000 sq.m..
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MAJOR EVENTS
KEAFL

CCMGT WAS HONOURED AS 2023 CHINA’S TOP 5 PROJECT
MANAGEMENT SERVICE PROVIDERS WITH COMPREHENSIVE
STRENGTH

RIREERE [2023 PEIRERFEEASE N TOPS]

On 3 August, the 2023 China Real Estate Strategy Summit organised by EH Consulting was held in
Shanghai, at which the list of 2023 China’s Project Management Service Providers with Comprehensive
Strength was released. The organiser comprehensively evaluates project management enterprises in five
dimensions, namely, business development capability, development and operation capability, brand
building capability, system building capability and resource coordination capability. CCMGT was honoured
as one of 2023 China’s Top 5 Project Management Service Providers with Comprehensive Strength for its
outstanding operational and service capabilities.
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MAJOR EVENTS

SEXFIC

8. CCMGT WAS NAMED ONE OF THE 2023 TOP 10 BRANDS OF CHINA
REAL ESTATE ESTATE PROJECT MANAGEMENT ENTERPRISES

RIREEANE [2023FEIEERELCZERE10%E]

On 3 August, the organiser released the list of the 2023 Top 10 Brands of China Real Estate Estate Project
Management Enterprises at the 2023 13th China Real Estate Brand Development Conference jointly held
by China Real Estate Business and China Urban & Regional Governance Research Institute. CCMGT

came second by virtue of its comprehensive strength.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KEAFL

CCMGT WAS SELECTED AS ONE OF THE OUTSTANDING
COMMERCIAL PROJECT MANAGEMENT ENTERPRISES IN CHINA’S
REAL ESTATE SECTOR IN H1 2023

PREEAERE [2023F ¥ FHERMERSTHERRELE]

The 29th Real Estate and Financial Situation Summit themed on “Finding new ways with innovation”,
organised by CRIC Research Center, was rounded off on 24 August. The Top 30 Project Management
Enterprises in Chinese Real Estate Sector in terms of Comprehensive Capabilities in the First Half of 2023
were unveiled at the summit, and CCMGT was selected for its comprehensive strength. Thanks to its
excellent results in commercial project management, CCMGT was successfully selected as one of the
Outstanding Commercial Project Management Enterprises in China’s Real Estate Sector in H1 2023.
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

10. KEEPING ITS LEADING POSITION AND SEEING STEADY GROWTH,
CCMGT ANNOUNCED 2023 INTERIM RESULTS

HEES - BEER - FREFR2023FPHFREHR M

CCMGT (09982.HK) held a press conference to announce its 2023 interim results on 25 August. In the face of the ever-
changing market, CCMGT continued to optimise its business strategies and actively expanded its service boundaries to

achieve steady growth in its core business.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KEAFL

11. WITH THREE MORE AWARDS, CCMGT LEADS THE DEVELOPMENT OF
THE PROJECT MANAGEMENT INDUSTRY!

BEZIERSR  PREFSESIEREBITRER !

The Press Conference for Research Results of 2023 China Real Estate Brand Value cum the 20th China
Real Estate Brand Development Summit, organised by China Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute
of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and Information Technology Research Institute of Beijing
China Index Academy, and co-organised by China Real Estate Top 10 Research Group, was
ceremoniously held in Beijing on 14 September. Relying on product strength, CCMGT continuously
promoted the research and development and launch of new products. The Company was honoured as one
of 2023 Leading Brand of China Real Estate Project Management Companies, 2023 Leading Brand of
China Real Estate Government Project Management Companies and 2023 Leading Brand of China Real
Estate Green Project Management Companies for its excellent products and services.
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MAJOR EVENTS
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12. CCMGT UNVEILED PROJECT MANAGEMENT-RELATED TRUST

SYSTEM
FREXNEGEHEEREM

A working meeting of the project management branch of the China Real Estate Association themed on
“Gathering in Central China and building the future together”, organised by China Real Estate Association
and co-organised by Central China Group, was rounded off at Unique Henan, Land of Dramas on 24
September. At the meeting, Mr. Wang Jun, CEO of CCMGT, shared his experience in project management
and released a brand-new upgraded project management trust system called CCMGT Project Management
C Platform. CCMGT Project Management C Platform is a revolutionary exploration and attempt of CCMGT
on the basis of its improved brand premium and management capability, which contains three major
connotations of confidence, connect and cooperation. It is a new model and new logic created by CCMGT
for the future market.

9H24B mFEFEHEXHE IR TREXFEARN [BREPRAZRK]ITEBRENETHES
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

13. BUILDING ABETTER FUTURE — CCMGT HELD THE CENTRALISED
CONTRACT SIGNING CEREMONY CUM THE PARTNER APPRECIATION
EVENT IN OCTOBER 2023

E;ﬁﬂ"_kgﬁﬁiﬂi —2023F 10 APEREEFENBRXESFBHTHEX
17

The centralised contract signing ceremony for CCMGT'’s 28 projects cum the partner appreciation event
was held at Holiday Inn Nanyang on 21 October 2023. Contracts on 28 projects were centrally signed, with
a total estimated capacity area of 3.8164 million sq.m.. Among them, 25 projects were about project
management, and strategic agreements on 3 projects concerning the project management C platform were
entered into. Of the 25 projects, 21 projects were in Henan, with a total estimated capacity area of 3.365
million sq.m., and the remaining 4 projects were located in other provinces, with a total estimated capacity
area of 330,000 sqg.m..
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

14. CCMGT ATTENDED THE PROJECT MANAGEMENT SUB-FORUM OF
THE 14TH CHINA REAL ESTATE SCIENTIFIC DEVELOPMENT FORUM

FREXLEFFEHE+NENZERBEXNED WIE

The project management sub-forum of the 14th China Real Estate Scientific Development Forum was
successfully held in Hangzhou on 23 November. CCMGT attended the project management sub-forum and
talked with government and association leaders, industry experts, and representatives of project
management companies about new models and new development. A ceremony was held to appoint the
chairman, executive chairman, vice chairman and deputy secretary of the project management branch of
the China Real Estate Association at the sub-forum, and CCMGT was appointed as the deputy secretary
unit.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KHAEE

15. CCMGT PROJECT MANAGEMENT C PLATFORM’S SUPPLY CHAIN
PLATFORM WAS OFFICIALLY LAUNCHED

PREEXEREZCTE —HEHBTFAEXLER

On 16 December, the supply chain empowerment platform, one of the five concrete platforms of CCMGT C
Platform, was officially launched. The platform provides a new channel for various suppliers to display their
products, probe into enterprises’ procurement announcements, and hold talks on product cooperation.

12168 FREFRECFEREXRALTFEaZ - —HEBHEFEEA LR T LRSS AHER
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AWARDS AND HONOURS

RIEFH
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2023 China Outstanding Project
Management Operation Real
Estate Companies

[2023 FEIEHHERBELES
o 3

The selection was organised by China
Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute
of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua
University and Information Technology
Research Institute of Beijing China Index
Academy, and co-organised by China Real
Estate TOP10 Research Group.
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2023 China’s Top 5 Project
Management Service Providers
with Comprehensive Strength
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It was organised by EH Consulting
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Management Enterprises
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It was jointly held by China Real Estate
Business and China Urban & Regional
Governance Research Institute
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AWARDS AND HONOURS
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Outstanding Commercial 2023 Leading Brand of China Real Estate Project Management
Project Management Companies, 2023 Leading Brand of China Real Estate Government
Enterprises in China’s Real Project Management Companies, 2023 Leading Brand of China
Estate Sector in H1 2023 Real Estate Green Project Management Companies.
[20235F ¥ FHEEHRERSE [2023F EIEHERBELME] [2023FEEHEBRFREZALR
BERELE] Bl -T2023HBEIE#ERERERLRME]
It was organised by CRIC Research It was organised by China Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute of Real
Center Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and Information Technology Research
Institute of Beijing China Index Academy, and co-organised by China Real
7 M I AR 7T AR 0 2 9 Estate TOP10 Research Group.

HPBECEFERE FEASEMERTR LR IEE SRATHITR £
16 R 15 B A T A FE B o B 55 3 S TOP1 O 55 4E A 3

23



K CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED - FFZ2EFRAT

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

EFHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company, | hereby present
the business overview of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the outlook for future development.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT AND INDUSTRY
BACKGROUND

The sluggishness of the global economic recovery has put pressure
on trade growth, and the complexity, severity and uncertainty of the
external environment have increased. On the domestic front, the
“scarring effect” after the pandemic was mainly manifested in the
lack of effective demand, weak social expectations and other
problems. Market confidence still needs to be restored. The
optimisation and upgrading of the industrial structure, the gradual
rebound of the consumer market, and the shift to loose policies, tax
cuts and fee reductions, financial support for the real economy and
so on have yet exerted effects on the land and market.
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In terms of industry, the recovery of the national economy is highly
consistent with the recovery of the real estate industry. In the first
quarter of 2023, as driven by the released pent-up demand after the
pandemic and promoted by loose policies, the economy stabilised
and rebounded and the real estate industry also experience a short
boom of growth. On the whole, however, the recovery of both the
economy and the real estate sector was not stable. As the recovery
trend failed to continue throughout the year and the growth
momentum declined, the residents’ expectations for home-
ownership weakened, and companies’ investment was in a downturn
and new construction continued to be under pressure. The cautious
attitude did not change.

More than 80 renowned real estate enterprises developed the
project management business. Some of them have specialised in
different fields to enhance their market competitiveness. On the
whole, the project management business will enter a period of high-
quality development featuring steady growth and stiff competition in
the next 5-10 years.

The project management branch of the China Real Estate
Association was formally established in November 2023, and the
Company was elected as the vice-chairman unit.

REVIEW OF 2023 ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2023, relying on the advantages of the City Partner Council, the
Company tapped into market opportunities, set up a broader
development platform, and realised three large-scale centralised
contract signings in January, April and October respectively, which
presented the Company’s good development trend to the market.

In 2023, the Company completed an overall contracted area of 7.16
million sq.m., a year-on-year increase of 113% compared with 2022.
It signed strategic cooperation agreements with 27 platform
companies and 8 state-owned enterprises in total. The Company
accumulated 22 government project management projects, with a
contracted area of 3.26 million sq.m.. In particular, a total of 12
projects were signed outside of Henan Province, with a total area of
1.42 million sq.m., a year-on-year surge of 1,233% compared with
2022. In addition, the Company actively promoted the joint venture
platform model, built the Project Management C Platform, deeply
integrating the resources of partners, bonding the tripartite
relationship between CCMGT, the government and partners. It
explored the betting mechanism to achieve a win-win situation for all
parties, satisfy the demands of partners and enhance their
confidence in cooperation.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

The contracted sales recorded by the Company from sales on behalf
of its partners grew 38% from 2022 to RMB29.5 billion in 2023, with
a contracted sales gross floor area (GFA) of 4.66 million sq.m.. The
Company led the industry in the two core figures, cementing its
leading position in project management. In 2023, the Company’s
sales of opening inventory amounted to RMB18.7 billion, and the
selling rate reached 64%, the best level in the past three years. With
the average selling rate of 41% in third- and fourth- tier cities, the
Company’s selling rate was 23 percentage points higher than that of
its peers.

The Company formally launched the “3.0 Project Management
Model — CCMGT Project Management C Platform” on 24
September, in order to enhance its comprehensive competitiveness
and adapt to the new trends and challenges of the market,
customers, industry and the times. It is a platform that connects
internal and external resources, vertically integrates the entire
industrial chain, innovates in the tendering and purchasing models,
and provides value-added services. It reshapes the future market
operation model and business logic. It set up consortium with the
general contractor, downstream suppliers, designers, surveyors,
consulting service providers and marketers via in-depth cooperation,
creating the new model of whole-process customisation.

When many real estate companies encountered difficulties in
delivery, the Company gave full play to its advantages in asset-light
model, responded to the government’s call to ensure the delivery of
buildings, ensure stability and protect people’s livelihood, and
actively pushed forward delivery work. The cumulative delivery of
66,000 houses totalling 8.38 million sq.m. in 2023 far exceeded the
total delivery volume in 2021 and 2022. It delivered 56 batches of
approximately 27,000 apartments totalling 3.58 million sq.m.. A total
of 26 batches of approximately 15,000 houses totalling 1.84 million
sqg.m. were delivered with property ownership certificates issued
simultaneously, far exceeded the average level of the industry.

The Company was awarded the AAA credit rating certificate for
tenders for its good corporate quality, economic strength, operation
capability, financial condition, contract fulfillment capability, credit
status and industry development prospect, which provides excellent
protection for bidding and fulfillment of related economic and social
responsibilities, which guarantees bidding and fulfillment of relevant
economic and social responsibilities.
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The Company continued to optimise its products and services to
enhance its competitive edge in 2023. It kept promoting product
system upgrading through product innovation research, and
conducted research on products adapted to new market demands.
The Company won many awards and honours, including
Outstanding Companies in China for Real Estate Project
Management Operations, Leading Brand of China Real Estate
Government Project Management Companies, Leading Brand of
China Real Estate Project Management Companies, and China’s
Top 5 Project Management Service Providers with Comprehensive
Strength, by virtue of its excellent operation and management ability
and ability to serve clients.

OUTLOOK FOR 2024

In 2024, China will seek progress amidst stability for the economy,
and make it continuously turn around. Under the proactive fiscal
policy and loose monetary policy, residents’ consumption ability and
willingness gradually will resume, the real estate relief and
assistance policies will pan out, and the trend of stabilisation and
recovery of the real estate sector will be strengthened. Under the
support of the construction of “three major projects”, fixed asset
investment will be further increased, which will give a further boost
to the economic growth.

At the industry level, the number of renowned real estate companies
developing project management business will see an explosive
growth, and the competition in the industry will further intensify,
which will be a challenge and an opportunity. The overall market
level will also rise. The future revenue from project management
regarding commercial real estate may move to a higher level of 50
billion yuan or 100 billion yuan. As city investment companies
continuously obtain land-use rights to stabilise the land market, the
demand for both government project management and capital
project management will further increase, which will bring greater
opportunities for professional project management companies.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE
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In 2024, the Group will be guided by the corporate value of “Joint
Development through Central China”, adhere to the cooperation
principle of “three insistence, four recognition and three assurance”,
aim to “make every project profitable and make every project a
benchmark”, integrate resources of all parties with credit
advantages, and build up a community of trust in the real estate
project management sector. Relying on the Project Management C
Platform, the Company will actively utilise its excellent resource
integration capability and industrial chain linking capability in the
field of project management, and truly create value for all parties
involved in project management, so as to gain the long-term trust of
the government, partners, capitalists, customers and industry peers.

The Group will further enhance its management capabilities,
capitalise on its platform advantages, continue to build its image as
a “trustworthy project management service provider”, consolidate its
development foundation in the Greater Central China region, and
create new value through new changes, new progress and new
development, leading the industry in achieving steady growth while
maintaining its standardised growth.

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of our
Shareholders and employees for their support and dedication, and
to customers for their trust, recognition and support. | believe that
with the joint efforts of the Company’s management and all
employees, CCMGT will be able to seize opportunities of the times,
expand its potential energy, lead the industry upward and create
value for partners and social development in a more standardised
management and more innovative model development.

Wu Po Sum
Chairman
9 January 2025
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MGEE

SUMMARY OF INCOME STATEMENT s R E
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022 Changes
2023%F 20224 k)
Increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease)
AR®T T AR¥FIT Em ORd)
Revenue WA 468,377 605,679 (22.7%)
Net profit F A E 201,237 303,900 (33.8%)
Net profit margin pEIpE S 43.0% 50.2% (7.2%)
Basic earnings per share BRERAT
(RMB cents) (AE®ES) 5.59 9.25 (39.5%)
Diluted earnings per share FREER N
(RMB cents) (AR®S) 5.59 9.25 (39.5%)
Total dividend per ordinary share FREBRERE
(HK cents) (A - 8.51 NA & F
SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL IR R E
POSITION
As at 31 December
M12B31H
2023 2022 Changes
2023%F 20224 o
Increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease)
AR®T AR¥FIT Em ORd)
Total cash and cash equivalents ReMReSEWAE 1,835,783 1,564,617 17.3%
Total assets WEE 3,125,571 2,693,436 16.0%
Total liabilities waE 706,356 515,644 37.0%
Total equity B 2,419,215 2,177,792 11.1%
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Macro Environment

China’s economy showed complexity and diversity during the
post-pandemic normalization in 2023. The rapid recovery of
the services sector gave a positive boost to consumption,
which in turn contributed to the gradual recovery of the
economy. However, the marked decline in real estate sales
and development investment, as well as the drop in demand
for exports, put pressure on residents’ employment and
incomes, leading to a prominent structural differentiation
among different fields, industries and subjects. Despite the
confirmed recovery, China is still under test in the momentum
and sustainability of the recovery.

As far as the real estate market is concerned, market players
moved forward under pressure in 2023. Nearly half of the top
100 property developers in terms of sales failed to acquire
land-use rights, and nearly 70% of the top 100 property
developers saw a decline in sales. Enterprises made weak
investment and remained cautious. In 2023, the relationship
between supply and demand in the real estate market
underwent significant changes. The central government first
adopted stable policies and then loose policies. It emphasised
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

at the July meeting of the Political Bureau that relationship
between supply and demand in the real estate industry has
undergone significant changes, marking that policies released
were to prop up the real estate sector. On the demand side,
the government supported residents in buying houses on
mortgage by lowering the down payment ratio, cutting the
interest rates for loans and implementing the policy of
“recognizing properties but not loans”. On the supply side, it
eased the capital pressure on real estate developers through
measures including “three no less-thans” and non-
discriminatory support for financing. According to the statistics
of the China Index Academy, the loosening of local policies
accelerated. Policies in 273 provinces and cities were eased
622 times. Such loosening occurred first in third- and fourth-
tier cities and then in first- and second-tier cities. Restrictive
administrative measures have almost been withdrawn, and the
policy environment was close to the most relaxed level in
2014. Constant efforts were made to strengthen the policy
support, ensure the stability of the market, and promote the
soft landing of the real estate industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Project Management Market

Amid the downturn of the real estate market, the project
management business became the “second growth curve” of
many real estate developers. As at the end of 2023, more than
80 renowned real estate enterprises developed the project
management business. Some of them have specialised in
different fields to enhance their market competitiveness. In
2023, the new contract size of top 5 project management
companies accounted for 47% of the total, and the figure for
the top 10 companies was 71%. The industry concentration
remained at a high level.

With the fast-growing size of project management, the project
management system saw gradual upgrading and
improvement. More provinces and municipalities have
released corresponding measures. The Administrative
Measures on Project Management System for Investment
Projects of Fujian Provincial Government (Trial) ( (12834 &
B EEEREHERERE(HTT)) ) was released in
Fujian in February 2023, in a bid to enhance the enthusiasm of
quality enterprises to participate in project management. In
July, Xiamen upgraded and perfected the original
administrative measures on project management system, and
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formulated the Administrative Measures on Project
Management System for Investment Projects of Xiamen
Government ( {EFIMRATIREIE B RESEEIE) ). In
September, the city of Cangzhou in Hebei Province issued the
Measures for Implementation of Project Management System
for Investment Projects of Cangzhou Government ( G& N ™ X
FHREEBRESEMEAI L) ). Similar systems were
released in Beijing, Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Guangdong, Shandong,
Shaanxi, Gansu, among others, stipulating that professional
project management units should be selected via tendering
and other means for governmental projects above a certain
investment amount, so as to better regulate government
investment management and increase investment efficiency.
On the whole, the project management business will enter a
period of high-quality development featuring steady growth
and stiff competition in the next 5-10 years.

In 2023, CCMGT cooperated with the China Real Estate
Association to organise the working meeting of the
association’s project management branch themed on
“Gathering in Central China and building the future together” at
Unique Henan, Land of Dramas and prepared for the
establishment of the project management branch. In
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November, CCMGT was invited to attend the 14th China Real
Estate Scientific Development Forum organised by the China
Real Estate Association, and was elected as the vice-chairman
unit. The project management industry entered a new stage of
common development. In addition, CCMGT formally launched
the “CCMGT 3.0 Project Management Model — CCMGT C
Platform” (confidence, connect, cooperation) in September, in
order to enhance its comprehensive competitiveness, create
an open enterprise digital platform, and adapt to the new
trends and challenges of the market, customers, industry and
the times.

In 2023, CCMGT won many awards and honours, including
2023 Outstanding Companies in China for Real Estate Project
Management Operations, 2023 Leading Brand of China Real
Estate Project Management Companies, 2023 Leading Brand
of China Real Estate Government Project Management
Companies, 2023 Leading Brand of China Real Estate Green
Project Management Companies and China’s 2023 Top 5
Project Management Service Providers with Comprehensive
Strength, for its good corporate quality, economic strength,
operation ability, financial condition, contract fulfillment ability,
and credit status. It won more than 10 provincial engineering
honours, including 2 provincial quality projects, 3 provincial
safe and civilised standardised sites, 5 provincial quality
standardised demonstration sites, and more than 20
prefecture-level engineering honours. It received two product
design awards in product innovation, which demonstrates its
craftsmanship spirit of paying tribute to life with products and
winning honour with quality, and is a strong proof that its
product capability in 31 years has been recognised by the
industry.

“Greater Central China” Strategy

Under the guidance of the “Greater Central China” Strategy,
CCMGT was dedicated to six core indicators and remains
committed to deriving benefits through refined management
practices. CCMGT accelerated the structural adjustment of the
business model and increased the expansion of the
government project management. In addition, CCMGT also
made steady improvements in product control capabilities,
refined the product control system, and fostered a mindset of
creating unique products. Furthermore, CCMGT made
continuous strides in enhancing the quality of project
operations and intensified its efforts in identifying and resolving
risks and challenges arising from projects. Moreover, CCMGT
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dedicated itself to reinforcing brand maintenance and
implementing a closed-loop management system for
addressing customer complaints. Besides, CCMGT
demonstrated a strong commitment to conducting innovative
research and enhancing the management system of our
partners, thereby fulfilling our role as a new growth catalyst for
them.

In 2023, Central China Group still led the provincial project
management market, enhanced the ability of “fine
management in the whole process of projects” to further
optimise business models, with a view to maintaining the
sound and healthy development of CCMGT’s business. In
2023, the tender work of CCMGT for the expansion of projects
inside and outside the province was professionalised,
standardised and institutionalised, which effectively enhanced
the competitiveness in participating external tenders in terms
of tender quality, personnel reserve, control system and
experience accumulation. In 2023, CCMGT was awarded the
AAA credit rating certificate for tenders, which demonstrates
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its excellent development, operation and credit status, and
guarantees bidding and fulfillment of relevant economic and
social responsibilities. It also actively participated in the
bidding and tendering of projects in Zhejiang and Jiangsu. It
has a competitive edge in this regard in the real estate project
management industry.

Project Development during the Year

The Company had 57 newly signed project management
projects during the Year, representing a year-on-year rise of
90%. The newly contracted gross floor area (GFA) soared
113% year on year to 7,155,300 sq.m. There were 45 new
contracts signed in Henan with a newly contracted GFA of
5,739,400 sq.m. Twelve new contracts were signed in
provinces other than Henan with a newly contracted GFA of
1,415,900 sg.m. The contracted sales for projects under the
Group’s management amounted to approximately RMB29.5
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 38%, and the
contracted sales area was 4,659,686 sq.m., representing a
year-on-year growth of 33%. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had 264 projects under management with an aggregate
GFA of 31,690,340 sg.m., 228 of which were in Henan with an
aggregate GFA of 27,764,198 sq.m., and there were 36
projects in provinces other than Henan with an aggregate GFA
of 3,926,142 sq.m. CCMGT focused on the third- and fourth-
tier markets in the Greater Central China region, with a
cumulative presence in 134 counties and cities in and beyond
Henan. In particular, CCMGT has established presence in 106
counties and cities in Henan, including 17 prefecture-level
cities, 1 prefectural county-level city, and 88 counties and
county-level cities, and 28 counties and cities beyond Henan,
including 6 prefecture-level cities and 22 county-level cities.
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Future Business Plan and Strategy

CCMGT firmly upholds the principle of “Good People and
Good Land” as its guiding philosophy for cooperation. It
operates primarily through commercial project management,
government project management, capital project management,
and specialised management consulting services. Meanwhile,
the Group will actively offer project management services to
small- and medium-sized developers in Henan. This initiative
aims to expand brand influence and share management
approaches. By engaging in deep collaboration with partners,
the Group seeks to address the lack of management
experience among small and medium-sized developers and
enhance overall project management standards, project
quality, and operational efficiency. This approach ensures
timely project delivery and mitigates the risk of delays. Through
establishing a community of common interests with synergistic
advantages, risk sharing, and a shared interest in success, we
can generate substantial value for partners and the community,
promoting urbanization construction and advancement in
China.

In 2024, CCMGT should focus on internal management
changes and innovative development models to carry out
work. CCMGT will emphasise “change” and “innovation”,
center on improving operation and management in an
innovative way, enhance the competitiveness of its products
through effective integration of resources, and give full play to
the advantages of the “CCMGT 3.0 Model — Project
Management C Platform” to empower its partners and create a
virtuous cycle of benign operation and development.
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Government project management gains full
momentum and breakthroughs will made in business
outside Henan

In order to sustain its business development and market
expansion, CCMGT will pay continuous attention to
government project management and out-of-province
markets, strengthen its cooperation with governments’
platform companies, and flexibly adjust its mode of
operation to cater to the needs of different partners.
Additionally, the Company will improve its management
mechanism, set up a strategic research department to
strengthen business research, and establish expansion
offices in out-of-province markets to improve the linkage
efficiency. In addition, CCMGT will leverage the supply
chain financing capability of its Project Management C
Platform and its strategic cooperation with financial
institutions to provide financial support for the
implementation of high-quality projects.

Enhancing product competitiveness and
transforming product power into marketing power

CCMGT has actively responded to the policy orientation of
new development models, explored the standardization of
market-adapted products, and promoted the enhancement
of its product power with the turnkey project plan of the
Project Management C Platform. Through innovative
R&D and upgrading of the product system, the Company
intends to sort out existing products, enrich and upgrade
them according to market and customer needs, and at
the same time clarify and deepen various product
standards to ensure good product design effects.
Moreover, CCMGT will strengthen the quality control
over construction works, foster an excellent supply chain,
improve the standardization system, and create iconic
projects to present high-quality demonstration areas by
taking measures such as site open day and all-weather
site opening, in order to satisfy customers’ needs and
promote the Company’s sustainable and steady
development.
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Carrying out risk prevention and control and
improving management capabilities

CCMGT has adopted a series of risk management
measures to address risk challenges. In terms of sales,
through the classification and management of projects, it
will make concerted efforts on marketing to set a
benchmark and get out of a dilemma within the time limit.
At the same time, efforts will be made to strengthen
payment collection to ensure the sustainability of cash
flows and the safety of project operation. From the
perspective of capital risks, the Company will focus on
monitoring cash-strapped and delayed projects, strictly
enforce the regulations on the use of funds, and
strengthen the management of U-shield to ensure the
safe operation of project funds. In addition, CCMGT will
also focus on project delivery risk management, utilise
policies to promote the use of project relief funds, and
strengthen brand risk management by strictly agreeing
on the legal risks and solutions in cooperative projects to
ensure the Company’s overall stable operation and
achieve sustainable development.

Building a digital intelligence management platform
to realise scientific and efficient control

CCMGT plans to build a digital intelligence service
platform to realise the functions of “comprehensive
visualization of operational data, expansion management
programming, refinement of operation and management,
informationization of marketing management, dynamic
cost management, and integration of business and
financial management”, transform to “how to manage
well”, practically remove the pain points in project
development and management, and provide effective
support for risk control and operational decision making.
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5. Taking city partners as a benchmark to seek a group
of partners

CCMGT is committed to raising the service standard for
city partners and strengthening all-round cooperation
with them. It will enhance the awareness of initiative,
efficiency and boundaries to ensure timely
communication, efficient services and professional
respect. It will periodically evaluate and adjust the
partnership to ensure the “recognition in three aspects”
and deep-rooted trust. CCMGT will select preferred
partners with city partners as a benchmark to optimise
the overall partnership structure and enhance confidence
in cooperation. Meanwhile, it will utilise the advantages
of city partners in resources to connect internal and
external cooperation resources, seek long-term and
stable cooperation, promote quality projects, share
benchmarking experience, and promote exchanges and
cooperation among partners to achieve win-win
development.

OUTLOOK

With the rapid development of the real estate project
management industry, the market size continues to expand
and the demand for project management services grows.
Through ongoing improvement in its business model and
innovative service management, CCMGT has optimised its
business process and enhanced its service quality and
efficiency to provide better project management services and
create value for its partners to meet the needs of different
partners. In the meantime, CCMGT offers high-quality project
management products and comfortable living environments to
provide customers with high-quality products and quality of life.
As one of the leaders in the industry, CCMGT will assume the
responsibility as the vice-chairman unit of China Real Estate
Association’s project management branch, pay close attention
to the market dynamics and policy changes, strengthen the
exchange of the project management industry, and promote
the innovation and development of the project management
industry with strategic partners through the innovative initiative
of CCMGT Project Management C Platform.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year”), the Group
achieved:

Revenue

The Group generated revenue and received management service
fees from the provision of project management services. Principal
factors affecting revenue include the business size, number of
projects under management and total contracted GFA, milestones
and progress of projects under management as well as the sale
strategies. During the Year, revenue amounted to RMB468.4 million,
representing a decrease of 22.7% from RMB605.7 million in 2022.
The decline in revenue was due to lower service fees charged by
the Company as a result of the continued downturn of the domestic
real estate market and the fact that the increase in new project
development was not as significant as the decrease in completed
projects. Below is the Group’s revenue divided by whether projects
under management are based in Henan Province:
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For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022 Changes

2023F 20224 2E

% of % of Increase/

RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue (decrease)

ARETR HhABESE ARETT BRABSL &/ (ED)
Projects in Henan province AFEAEE 435,116 92.9% 554,225 91.5% (21.5%)
Projects outside Henan province [&/A B & /MIIE B 33,261 7.1% 51,454 8.5% (35.6%)
Total B 468,377 100.0% 605,679 100.0% (22.7%)

Other Income Hibw A

Other income is primarily interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost and government grants. During the
Year, other income amounted to RMB73.9 million, an increase of
RMB38.3 million or 107.8% as compared with that of RMB35.6
million in 2022. This was mainly due to an increase in interest
income on advances to third parties during the Year.
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Personnel Cost

Personnel cost is the Group’s largest cost item, which primarily
comprises base salary and bonus, social insurance and other
benefits as well as equity-settled share-based payments by Central
China Real Estate Limited (previously the holding company of the
Group) and the Company paid to the Group’s employees. Such cost
does not include salary, bonus, social insurance and housing funds,
and other benefits and fees paid to the Group’s employees who are
seconded to relevant project companies in connection with real
property development projects managed by us, which are borne by
respective project owners and paid by the project owners to the
seconded personnel directly. During the Year, personnel cost
amounted to RMB112.2 million, representing a decrease of 8.8%
from RMB123.1 million in 2022. The decrease was primarily due to
the decrease in personnel cost resulting from our strict control over
personnel cost and expenses during the Year.

Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses mainly comprise corporate
overhead and business entertainment, office and travelling
expenses. During the Year, other operating expenses amounted to
RMB58.6 million, which was roughly flat as last year.

Income Tax

During the year, income tax amounted to RMB46.0 million, a
decrease of 53.9% from RMB99.7 million in 2022. The effective
income tax rate was 18.6%, 6.1 percentage points lower than the
effective tax rate of 24.7% for 2022, largely due to the fact that, in
2022, a withholding tax of RMB28.0 million was levied at 5% by the
Company’s subsidiary in Hong Kong on dividend distributions arising
from profit of PRC subsidiaries earned after 1 January 2008.

Profit for the Year
During the Year, net profit amounted to RMB201.2 million,
representing an decrease of 33.8% from RMB303.9 million in 2022,

which was mainly due to the decrease in revenue and the increase
in provision for impairment loss for the Year.
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Trade and Other Receivables

As of 31 December 2023, trade and other receivables amounted to
RMB1,121.5 million, representing an increase of 69.6% from
RMB661.1 million as of 31 December 2022. This was mainly
attributable to advances increased paid by a third party.

Contract Assets

Contract assets amounted to RMB125.3 million as of 31 December
2023, representing a decrease of 70.5% from RMB425.0 million as
of 31 December 2022, mainly due to lower revenue recognised.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables amounted to RMB300.4 million as of 31
December 2023, representing an increase of 158.5% from
RMB116.2 million as of 31 December 2022. It was primarily because
the 2023 interim dividend of RMB124.9 million has not been paid
during the Year.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities amounted to RMB309.9 million as of 31
December 2023, representing an increase of 6.2% from RMB292.0
million as of 31 December 2022. Contract liabilities represent the
payments received before the related project management service
is provided. The increase during the Year was primarily due to an
increase in payments received.
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Proceeds from the Listing

The ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Listing”) on
31 May 2021, with a total of 328,172,000 Shares issued pursuant to
the Global Offering. After deducting the underwriting fees and
relevant expenses, net proceeds from the Listing amounted to
approximately HK$915.8 million (equivalent to RMB751.4 million).
The following table sets out the intended use and actual use of the
net proceeds as of 31 December 2023:

Allocation Percentage
of use of the of total net
Use of proceeds net proceeds proceeds

FrEmE HARFRE
FEN  REREN

LW ARERE

KRaElEB ([BRH])M2021F5H31H K
EEABZHAERLEM(TEH]) - RIBERIX
BED ITA 328,172,000/ B 17 0 FI K £ 8
EREMEBAAS®B ETABREBEFELE
915.8E BB L (HERARBIS148EIL) o
RIIRE £2023F12 A31H A3 B 578
TERRMERRAR:

Unutilised

Actual use  net proceeds

Net proceeds as of as at

used during 31 December 31 December
the Year 2023 2023 Timetable

R2023E

B22023% 12R31H
FER 1283181 REAH
BENASE ERfER FieaE

FERERE 2ERAR BOl REFR (P BE  BEX
RMB million % RMB million RMB million RMB million
AREBET % AR¥BET AR¥BET AR¥RER
1. Expanding into new markets in the “Greater 300.5 40.0% 244 51.3 249.2
Central China” region and new service offerings
REAFR]HENF T HENTRE
1.1 Setting up of new regional branch offices 75.1 10.0% 1.7 50 701 Onetofive years
B[R NG after Listing
thk-Z2n%
1.2 Recruitment of new staffs to new branches 180.4 24.0% 95 25.1 155.3  One to five years
REPNHAIRARENER after Listing
thR-En%
1.3 Brand promotion 22,5 3.0% 125 18.0 45 One tofive years
IR E after Listing
thk-Z2n%
1.4 Recruitment of new staffs and efforts in 22.5 3.0% 0.7 3.2 19.3  One tofive years
developing new service offerings (including both after Listing
government projects and capital projects) L% -EnE

RENERY S NHENRERE (RERA

BEARERER)
2. Pursuing strategic investments and acquisitions 270.6 36.0% - - 2706 Onetofive years
ETERRENYE after Listing
thk-En%
3. Enhancing the information technology system 105.2 14.0% 1.7 "7 93.5  One tofive years
MEEERE RS after Listing
thR-E0%
4. General working capital 75. 10.0% - 75. - One to two years
-REEES after Listing
thk-E2F
Total &3t 7514 100.0% 26.1 138.1 6133
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Subscription of New Shares

On 18 November 2022 (after trading hours), the Company (as
issuer) entered into twelve subscription agreements with twelve high
net worth independent subscribers in respect of the subscription of
an aggregate of 343,140,000 Subscription Shares at the subscription
price and net subscription price of HK$0.80 per Subscription Share
(the “Subscriptions”). On the date of the subscription agreements,
the closing price per Share was HK$0.62. The aggregate nominal
value of the subscription Shares under the Subscriptions was
HK$3,431,400. The Subscriptions have been completed on 3 May
2023.

The Directors are of the view that the Subscriptions will benefit the
Group’s long term development by providing a good opportunity to
raise additional funds to strengthen the financial position and to
broaden the Company’s shareholder base and capital base to
facilitate the future growth and development of its business as well
as to increase the trading liquidity of the Shares. In particular, the
Directors believe the Subscriptions represent a desirable opportunity
for the Company to scale up the Group’s government project
management business and capital project management business,
while allowing the Group to preserve its existing internal cash
resources.

THBFWRER S

REBEHR G

M20226F11A188 (X 5K E&) - ARnal (1EA
BITANE+ -2 RFEBIRBAG Y+ 0
REWE NABBRERBEERFRBESRRA
BE A% 170.807%8 7T R B8 & $£343,140,0000% 52 B8 A%
B (IRBEHE]) -NREWRROE SRKHE
B0GQBETL-RBEHEE " RBROHZELEESR
3,431,400/ 7T ° i R 58 FIH 2 70202365431
FERK

EERA BBEESANNAKENRNEE -
RUERBUEEHEINES  MARMBARLIET
ARA IR ERE R B AR (e M2 H X
MRFIE R R BERARIBMBROO RS L -EF
LERERBEEDARREARNEERFR
EREAREZEBRENAERES R LFFA
SEERREANNRTER
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The net proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deducting all REZEFRESHIBFE (KNBRBESEREE
applicable costs and expenses of the Subscriptions) were A REEXE) N E2741AEETT FRH I
approximately HK$274.1 million. The following table sets out the & £2023F 128318 RBFEABFIEFEN
intended use and actual use of the net proceeds from the #TFERABRNERRE:

Subscriptions as of 31 December 2023:

Net Unutilised

Percentage ~ proceeds  Actual use net proceeds

Allocation of use of of proceeds utilised as of as at

proceeds from from the during 31 December 31 December
the Subscriptions Subscriptions  the Period 2023 2023 Timetable

120235

HRESE HRCHE HZ202%  12A3A
RESEMERE frEsER  FEBRE NANEN XBAFE

Use of proceeds FERERR BENAE Aotk BE ERBZR  JERE  EEX
(HK$ million) - (RMB million) (%) RMBmilion RMB million ~ RMB million
(AE% AE% AE% AE%
(BEET) BET) (%) BETL BET BET
Development of government BB £754) 137.0 1235 50.0% - - 1235 Within 3 years after
project management S completion of
business the Subscriptions
RABFETAE
3ER
Development of capital project  ZRREZHH 123.4 111 45.0% - - 1111 Within 3 years after
management business BE completion of
the Subscriptions
RABFATAE
3ER
General working capital —HReEEe 137 124 5.0% 52 52 7.2 Within 2 years after
completion of
the Subscriptions
RABSETRE
2Em
Total @it 2741 2470 100.0% 52 52 2418

For details of the Subscriptions, please refer to the announcements A B M FIEN 15 - F2H A 2A A A 8172022
of the Company dated 18 November 2022 and 16 December 2022. F11H18H &2022F12 A16 H A A ©
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Financial Resources Management and Capital Structure

The Group has adopted comprehensive treasury policies and
internal control measures to review and monitor its financial
resources.

As of 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB1,835.8 million (31 December 2022: RMB1,564.6 million). The
Group maintained at net cash position as of 31 December 2023
without any borrowings. The Company paid dividend of RMB88.6
million in total during the Year.

The gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
equity, i.e. the sum of long-term and short-term interest bearing bank
loans and other loans as of the corresponding date divided by the
total equity as of the same date. As of 31 December 2023, the
gearing ratio was nil (31 December 2022: Nil).

Material lending transactions

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had other debtors amounting to
RMB840.4 million, mainly consisting of advances to third parties of
RMB747.95 million. Such advances to third parties mainly included
loans provided to four strategic customers (being independent third
parties) in the principal amounts of RMB100 million, RMB100
million, RMB120 million and RMB108.53 million respectively on 1
December 2022, for a term of one year. On 27 December 2023, the
Group entered into loan extension agreements with borrowers
aforesaid whereby the maturity were extended to on or before 30
November 2024 with principals of RMB100 million, RMB100 million,
RMB120 million and RMB102.6 million to be repaid. The loan
receivables are unguaranteed and unsecured.

The background and reasons for each of the loans are similar. All of
the counterparty borrowers are the Group’s existing customers who
have also in the past cooperated with the Company on multiple
projects, with a focus on developing land parcels in the Central
China region. The Company’s continued cooperation with such
customers is consistent with the Company’s “Greater Central China”
strategy. Therefore, the Company considers such customers to be

of a strategic nature.

THBFWRER S

BHREREERELER

7K 52 B 2 BR A4 2 TED A B IRBK B AL 1 D4 I 45 e
KREEMEERMOSBEER -

R2023F12A31H - RBe kR EEMAARKE
1,835.8@ & 7T (2022512 A31H : AR %1,564.6
AET) °712023F12A31H » A& BB E T
B HEFERFREMRE-RAFERN AQF]
BIREREALEARKEE6EE T

BABELLRAERBERAERS A NIRE
ZREABMORBME T ARITERE LM
BERMERNGRAEEZRR B AN RS EETE -
H E2023F12A318  EAREBEL X AT (2022
F12A310 :F) -

EXRBERS

M2023F 124310 - RE B E M ELRIB LA
R¥BA04F B L TERVEF-HFERARK
TATO5EH BT ZHEF = H R T BB FE2022F
NRAEMUEESEES (BB FE=H)RHE
KEn R ABAREI0EE T ARKE1005 8
T AR®1208 8L kA R108.538 &£ L)
B HR A — 0 2023F12 4270 N E B H
LB RART L ERIE % - I HA E2024F 11
A30H= zAIEE A& D5l AARKI00E &
T ARBI00EET  ARBI120BETREAR
#102.6 5 & 7T o EWE A EER RIKH -

EEFNESRRERU FAEXSHFERA
BRASENRAER REBENEEARF
BEZEEE EHRRBERHRMNMBIRE A
RAEZEREPHIHBESIERTEARRN K
RIS -At "R BRASZERTP AB R
1 o
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The main purpose of each loan has been to assist such customers
to successfully acquire and develop the relevant land parcel(s),
which will result in a win-win situation for both the Company and the
customer, as the Company will be engaged as the project
management service provider for the relevant land parcel(s).

Further, the Company operates an asset-light business model.
Granting such loans also allowed the Company to make better use
of its idle cash, given that such cash would increase the Company’s
ability to acquire more project management contracts (as mentioned
above), as well as provide an additional source of income by way of
the interest. Such loans were also relatively short term (being one
year).

Prior to entering into each of the loans, the Company conducted a
credit risk assessment in line with its internal policy, which included
assessing and monitoring historical settlement records and past
business cooperation experience with such strategic customers,
conducting analysis and projections for the relevant project, as well
as current market conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. In addition, the Company considered: (i) its good and
mutually beneficial relationship with such customers, given the
Company has provided such customers with project management
services for several other projects in the past, and such customers
rely on the Company to develop their projects and ultimately sustain
their businesses (given their lack of property development
experience and/or capabilities); (ii) as discussed above, the main
purpose of the loans is to assist customers to successfully acquire
and develop the relevant land parcel(s), which will result in a win-win
situation for both the Company and the customers, as the Company
will be engaged as the project management service provider for the
relevant land parcel(s); and (iii) such existing customers have paid
all fees/expenses payable to the Company in relation to their
projects on time, and where applicable, repaid their loans owed to
the Company on time.

Having considered the above, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) consider that each of the
loans had been entered into on terms that are fair and reasonable
which was in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
(“Shareholders”) as a whole.

48

BEFRNTIZENRBBZETPKIWE X
RN AR ARAHEZRRE RARINR
MIEE BERBEEE ZFEFER/ARRE R
BEFWRERBE-

BEAN RRBINEEEXRBEEL ERZE
ReBEMARREGSELHEEERAMNMNEE
73 (a0 £ Frat) - 3 38 38 W ER ) SRR 73 BB S R
ARR BT IR E SRR AR RS E 4710 5
RERERS REERTRBEEEH (—F) -

RETSLEERA AR FIRBEENBEEEITE
BERRBRFE BETAMERBILEECLHERB
FTHZEEBEPNEBASESR HHEEES
T RTBR - LA R ET R & BT i Mok AR A
AR FE B o e N R R BEE : () ER AR F B
AT AZSEEPRESEEMEENEEEE
BR7S - MZSEBFRBARRMEEEE WHEK
MRHHER (ENFEERZMERBLEH
BN MARNREZERPFERTERNREER:
(i EXFTalsm ERNMEZENABDE
PRI MBIt AR AR A SES
EAMRBRNEE EEREBREER ZFEX
BAERNRAAREFEREFTHE: K (i)ZEFR
ERFEENRAARINEEEE EENAT
EERNBA /A T (WER)EREERA
NEIMEK -

EEE XL EE(REBTENTES)
RARERRATAR Y BRI HAEA
TR AR (TR ) 2 BRI -



2023 ANNUAL REPORT « ZZ2 == F J

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the full principal loan amounts remained
outstanding as they have not yet become due. The Group monitors
the exposures and manages the loans based on historical
settlement records and past experience, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Pursuant to HKFRS 9’s
expected credit losses model, the credit risk on the loans has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, and the Group
measures the loss allowance for them at an amount equal to
12-month expected credit loss. The Group recorded impairment
losses on loan receivables in relation to the loans in the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB10.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which the Directors consider to be immaterial. As
at the date of this report, the four borrowers have repaid all principal
loan amounts.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 April 2023 and 27 December 2023 respectively.

Debt

During the Year, the Group had no significant borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts substantially all of its business in China and in
RMB. Therefore, the Group is exposed to minimum foreign
exchange risks. However, the depreciation or appreciation of RMB
and HK$ against foreign currencies may have impact on the Group’s
results. Currently, the Group does not hedge foreign exchange risks,
but will continue to closely monitor its exposure to foreign exchange
risks. The management will consider hedging foreign exchange risks
when the Group becomes materially affected by such risks.

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities and capital commitment.

Pledge of Assets

During the Year, the Group did not have any pledged assets.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Major Investment

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

Events After The Reporting Period

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, no important event affecting the Group has occurred.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 877 full-time
employees, including 499 employees assigned to relevant project
companies to carry out property development projects under the
Group’s management.

The Company’s sustainable growth depends on the ability and
loyalty of employees. The management of the Company, who
understands the importance of realising the personal value of
employees, has established a transparent evaluation system for all
employees seeking career development in various business units. A
performance-based compensation structure was set up to reward
employees for their performance. The Company also adjusted
compensation from time to time in accordance with its development
strategies and market standards. Efforts have been made to
promote the healthy competition within the Company, maximise the
potential of employees, continuously optimise the current
compensation incentive system to retain and attract excellent
talents.

In addition, the Company recognises the importance of providing
employees with comprehensive and sustainable training
programmes to improve their business skills, enhance their risk
management capabilities and help them demonstrate high standards
of diligence and dedication. It provided employees with various
training programmes with different emphasis based on their tenure.
In addition to internal trainings, third-party training institutions were
also invited to provide online and offline trainings for the Group’s
employees. Through these measures, team members can get
access to the latest information on industry trends and market
development. so a stable talent pool full of cohesion and vitality will
support the Company’s long-term and sustainable development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards to safeguard the interests of its stakeholders. The
Company has applied the principles in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules by
conducting its business by reference to the principles of the CG
Code and emphasising such principles in the Company’s
governance framework. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions under the
CG Code during the Year.

CULTURE AND VALUE

The Company takes win-win cooperation as its guiding ideology and
“‘jointly builds industry and develops together” as its vision and
goal.

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across the Company. The Group has a
whistleblowing policy in place to support employees and other
contacts, such as customers or suppliers, to anonymously raise their
concerns with the Audit Committee about any possible irregularities.
At the same time, the Group formulated a clear anti-corruption policy
to support anti-corruption laws and regulations, and promoted a
culture of integrity internally.

In order to create long-term sustainable growth for shareholders and
deliver long-term values to all stakeholders, the board will continue
to monitor and evaluate the culture of the Company by:

. Reviewing the company’s decisions and actions to assess
whether they are consistent with the desired culture;

. Undertaking staff and stakeholders engagements; and

. Making reference to complaints received, disclosures by
whistleblowers, staff turnover rate and code of conduct/
regulatory breaches for potential areas of concerns.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for the
Directors in their dealings in the Company’s securities. Having made
specific enquires with each Director, the Company confirmed that
the Directors had complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code for the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board, which is chaired by Mr. Wu Po Sum, consists of three
executive Directors and five non-executive Directors, three of whom
are independent. The composition of the Board ensures a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of Group and the exercising of independent opinion.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this report include:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Wu Po Sum*
Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing

Mr. Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on 9 January 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua)* (resigned on 14 June 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

Mr. Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

* Mr. Wu Po Sum is the father of Ms. Wu Wallis.

All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered
into service contracts or letters of appointment with the Company for
a specific term of 3 years. Under the articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”) of the Company, the Board is empowered
to appoint any person as a Director to fill the casual vacancy on or
as an additional Director.
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Dring the Year, in compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors (representing one-third of the Board), one of
whom possesses the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting and financial management. Each of the three
independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence of the Company and the Company considers each of
them to be independent in accordance with the guidelines of
assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Each of the three independent non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term of three
years.

Following the resignation of Mr. Zhu Baoguo, an independent non-
executive Director, with effect from 10 October 2024, the Company
had two independent Directors only, and was therefore not in
compliance with, among others, the requirements of Rule 3.10(1) of
the Listing Rules. Following the appointment of Ms. Yan Yingchun
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 27
December 2024, the Company has recompiled with Rule 3.10(1) of
the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 10 October 2024 and 27 December 2024
respectively.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to
Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to
retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to
retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so
to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment. In accordance with Articles 83(3) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Liu Dianchen retired from office and offered himself
for re-election at the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company
("2024 AGM"). In accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Articles of Association, Mr. Zhu Baoguo and Mr. Hu Bing retired from
their offices, and being eligible, offered themselves for re-election at
the 2024 AGM.
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All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group and in particular, the independent non-executive Directors
have provided the Board with their diversified expertise and
professional advices. The Board is of the view that there is a
balanced composition of executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors in the Board and the independent non-
executive Directors are able to provide sufficient checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. The participation of the independent non-executive
Directors in the Board and committee meetings also provides
independent judgment on the issues relating to strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, conflict of interest and standards of
conduct.

The Board members have access to timely information relating to
the Group’s business and will be provided with further documents
and information upon request to enable them to make informed
decisions. Independent professional advice can be sought to
discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their request. No
such advice was sought during 2023. The Company has subscribed
appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities
in respect of legal actions taken against Directors arising out of
corporate activities.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The Board is in charge of leadership and control of the Group and is
responsible for maximising the Group’s financial performance and
making decisions in the best interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. Under the leadership of Mr. Wu Po Sum, the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), the Board is also
responsible for formulating and overseeing the business strategies
and policies of the Group, approving and monitoring annual budgets
and business plans, reviewing operational and financial
performance, and reviewing and monitoring the Group’s financial
control and risk management systems. The Board has delegated the
daily operation and day-to-day management of the Group as well as
the implementation of the Board’s policies and strategies to the
executive Directors and management of the Group.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

There is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

54

MEEFEHENEEANKREMBHIREASE
BER FHRBUIFNTEFCREFTSRM
TEREBXANBREXER -EFZERR EF
ENMITES FRTEZRBIFRTESEDN
L5 % BUIFRITE R EE R AN GIEE
A DA AN R E R E R R A M o B IEAT
EF2HEZGLBETZRENEH  MYRE.
B %8 ME NMNa@RXEkiTAENETE
YRt T B L H -

EEENBAMBESEBASEEBNER:
AEET G EEZRIEHE - FOXENER
EREEEMELANBERE - BN A BREFRBL
BEXER UNFRTRE ERAAKEEAE-
R2023F EFEKREYESRKABRBER AR
FICBEEANERRE UWBEEZEEMEEE
PHRELBEEMBHARFRNEE-

EEENRME

EERRAENRBIAEE YERERAEK
BEEMBRAMIMTAARERBRRRE
MEMRE-EESEIR ((ERDPRERSL
ERMRET EFCEARFFI RIEEAKEN
KRS MR - R EEFEREE M EHE
B BREEBEMBRE R REBAKEN
MR ERREERR - EEECRRAKHE
WTEEMEEBARASEARELNERE
WHITE E S 0 BUR A

IR}

FHRESENENEE

98 AR T B2 13.51B(1) B fE B R
BHte



2023 ANNUAL REPORT « ZZ2 == F J

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRE

ESTEERKRRAE

The Board holds meetings regularly and meets at other times as EZETHERUENHEMERBITEE  UR

and when required to review financial, internal and compliance
controls, risk management, company strategy and operating
performance of the Group. In addition, the Board holds general

AASENBE ABREREE RREE.
NAIREREERGE I EFERITRERK
SR ECR AL

meeting to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders.

For the Year, the Board held 4 regular meetings, 1 remuneration
committee meeting, 1 nomination committee meeting and 2 audit
committee meetings and 2 general meetings.

The number of Board meetings, committee meetings and general
meeting attended by each Director for the Year is set out in the

following table:

RAFEE EFGRTTAREREH  1RH M
ZEEER 1XNRRZ BB R2RESREE
EEBN2RBERAE -

BEFRNAFREIRFNEFTEER B LR
EEVOEVN-PN SN

i3

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EE ESZ2g8E FNZESSE FHEESER REZEEER BRRAE
Number of meetings held E{T&# &
Wu Po Sum TR 4/4 N/ATE A 111 11 112
Hu Bing Bk 4/4 N/ATiE A N/A T3 F N/A T3 F 212
Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on R (20234 N/A 7 F N/A T3 F N/A i N/A i N/A i
9 January 2023) 1H9A & (F)
Chen Aiguo (appointed on ~ TRE Bl (2023F 4/4 N/A 7 F N/A i N/A R 1/2
9 January 2023) 1H9AEZ(F)
Duan Juwei (appointed on ~ B/E1E (K2023%F 4/4 N/ATE R N/ATE A N/ATE A 2/2
9 January 2023) 1H9HEZF)
Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) T (R2024%F 4/4 N/A T E A N/A T3 A N/A T & A 2/2
(resigned on 14 June 6H14HEHT)
2024)
Zhu Baoguo (resignedon  KIRE (120244 4/4 212 11 111 0/2
10 October 2024) 10510 8 (L)
Xu Ying "E 4/4 22 111 111 212
Siu Chi Hung (retired on BT (R2024F 4/4 11 N/A i N/A i 212
30 May 2024) 5H30A&(T)

Sulfficient notice for regular Board meetings and notice of reasonable
days for ad hoc Board meetings were given to all Directors so as to
ensure that each of them had an opportunity to attend the meetings,

ARBEAZRETHHEHNEEERENT
NRERBEREZTESZNAEREMNEE  HE
RESHEREHEGALCN2RBEERE
REFELEMNNEFENF -KEFERER

and agenda and accompanying Board papers were given to all
Directors in a timely manner. As agreed by the Board, the Directors
may also seek independent professional advice at the Company’s

EZNASKBEVERER  ERBARBEE-
R2023F EFE@XNEBEYESKARER HE
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expense. No such advice was sought during 2023. During the
intervals between Board meetings, the senior management of the
Company provides the Directors with information on a timely basis
regarding all major developments or changes in the Group’s
businesses.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he or she will abstain from
voting in respect of the relevant resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings to deal with such issues. The Company has adopted the
practice of holding Board meetings regularly. Notice of not less than
14 days is given of all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with the opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or committee members at least three
days before meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review these documents and be adequately prepared. When the
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they are advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman prior to the
meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with
adequate information and explanations so as to enable them to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board and its committees for approval. Management
is also invited to join the Board or committee meetings where
appropriate.

All the Directors are also entitled to have access to timely
information such as monthly updates in relation to the Group’s
businesses and have separate and independent access to senior
management.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code requires all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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During the Year, the Company Secretary regularly circulated reading
materials on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws,
rules and regulations to all Directors as part of their training
materials in the continuous professional development plan of the
Company and the Company confirmed that all Directors read the
training materials and are in compliance with Code C.1.4 of the CG
Code.

During the Year, apart from Mr. Ma Xiaoteng who resigned on
9 January 2023, all Directors have received the following trainings:

EREIWE

RAFE RANEETHNERESTREFHE
2 RAURROZEFTXZHHEEER EHA
RAFBEEERRF B ZIFITH - BARRRE
RAEERCHEZSTHIM B RE T (B
EORSTAI) FRIMEIEE C1.4f5-

RAEE B BB L4 (R1X20235F1 H9H B
)5 2REFCEZIATEII:

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

Directors relevant topics
EHCEER EERER

E=x Hit R EN
Wu Po Sum AR v
Hu Bing iR v
Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023) PRE B (R2023F 1 H9AEZ(T) v
Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023) BEE (R2023F1H9HEZ(T) v
Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) THE (R2024F6H 14 H FHT) v

(resigned on 14 June 2024)

Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024) KIRE (R2024F 107106 B E) v
Xu Ying 3= v
WL (R20245F5H30H R F) v

Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an induction
on the first occasion of his or her appointment, so as to ensure that
he or she has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Company, and his or her responsibilities under laws,
regulations and especially the governance policies of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. As at 31 December 2023 and up
to the date of this Report, the position of chairman is held by Mr. Wu
Po Sum and the position of chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) is
held by Mr. Wang Jun. During the Year, Mr. Wang Jun was appointed
as the CEO in place of Mr. Ma Xiaoteng with effect from 9 January
2023. The CEO is mainly responsible for the overall daily operation
and management of the Group as well as its strategic development.

N BRHM BRI ESTHERERBER IR
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FRERHITE
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The roles of the chairman and the CEO are clearly defined and
segregated to ensure independence and proper checks and
balances. The chairman focuses on formulating the overall
development and strategic planning of the Group. The CEO are
mainly responsible for the overall daily operation and management
of the Group as well as its strategic development.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in the consolidated financial
statements of the annual and interim reports in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
Pursuant to code provision D.1.1 of the CG Code, management
should provide sufficient explanation and information to the Board to
enable the Board to make an informal assessment of the financial
and other information put before the Board for approval. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness to protect the assets of the Group and the interests of
shareholders. The Group is aware of the responsibilities of the
Board and the management in risk management and internal control
systems:

. The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the
nature and extent of risks which the Group is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives and ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems; overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
risk management and internal control systems, and conducting
a review annually.
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. The management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems, and should provide a confirmation to the Board on
the effectiveness of these systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

RISK MANAGEMENT

In previous years, the Group has established a risk management
framework at the group level, clarified risk management process,
promoted the internal risk management culture, which has been
increasing year by year in accordance with the Group’s strategy.
Based on the work done in previous years, the Group continued to
improve the risk management system structure through the following
efforts and has guided the implementation of risk assessment and
continuous risk monitoring activities:

. Restatement and continued implementation of risk
management organizational structure: The Group has
restated a risk management organizational structure covering
the decision-making level (the Board and the Audit
Committee), the executive level (Group headquarters and
subsidiaries at all levels) and the supervisory level (the
Group’s Audit and Supervision Department) (see Figure 1: risk
management organizational structure), and split risk
management responsibilities to clarify risk management
responsibilities and risk information reporting routes at all
levels;
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Decision-making body

SRR

Board and Audit Committee
EEEREZZEY

Executive body Supervisory body

HITHE EE#E

Group headquarters

. . . ) The Group’s Audit and
(including various functional departments) .
e Supervision Department
o R R
(15 S BELEFT) T

The Group’s subsidiaries at all levels
(including city companies)
SETEERAT
(BREETRARZE)

Figure 1: Risk management organizational structure
B —: EfeE IR AR R

. Renewal of risk assessment standards: During the Year, - EHEMIGEE: AFEERANINEIE

based on changes of internal and external environments, and HHEE REASENEBEBEMELE
according to its business nature and operating characteristics, BE O BRER UREEERRET £
strategic objectives, and management’s risk appetite, the FEARAEBN R R GRS BREE
Group renewed applicable risk assessment standards covering BB EE AB 68 %2 HES
strategic, financial, operational, people, compliance, security, #E B A HERERAF G T E R
reputation and other dimensions, and used jointly confirmed BE HRBRETECEERERNE
assessment methods and assessment standards to assess S AEIT R ©

the risks that were most likely to affect the achievement of
corporate objectives.
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Clarification and standardization of risk management
process: The Group established a risk management process
involving risk identification, risk assessment, risk response,
risk monitoring, reporting and improvement (see Figure 2: risk
management process), and formed a closed loop to
continuously monitor and manage risks. Specifically, driven by
its business objectives, the Group identified the risk factors
that affected its achievement of the business objectives, and
evaluated the possibility and potential impact of each specific
risk; sorted out and recorded the existing specific risk response
measures; and continuously oversaw and assessed changes
in risks and adjusted responses in a timely manner.
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Risk identification Risk assessment Risk response
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Reporting and
improvement

BE #R SR B

Risk monitoring

Nl

Figure 2: Risk management process
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The main features of the Group’s risk management system are as ZAEBEREKRERE XN T ERFZHNT:
follows:

Closed-loop risk management process: The risk
management process adopts a combination of top-down and
bottom-up approaches. Through a series of work processes
including risk identification, risk assessment, risk response,
risk monitoring, reporting and improvement, the Group aims to
understands the major risks faced by the Group and
continuously monitors and manages the risks through a
closed-loop risk management process.

Risk database with a clear hierarchy and focuses: Based
on five risk categories, namely strategy, market, operation,
finance and law, and taking into account the principles of
comprehensiveness, importance, synergy and standardization,
the Group has established a risk database at different levels.
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. Risk assessment criteria that fit for the Group: The Group
has established appropriate risk assessment criteria based on
the nature of its industry and business objectives, and the
management’s risk appetite.

. Continuous improvement and optimization mechanism:
The Group clarified the frequency of risk assessment (at least
once a year) and requirements for reporting and
communication, and continuously improved risk management
process and optimized risk management and control measures
through regular assessment, implementation and follow-up of
risk response measures, communication and reporting.

On the basis of the establishment of the above risk management
system, the management, with the assistance of an external
advisory body, conducted the identification, assessment and
analysis of material risks in the principal businesses of the Group
(including the consideration of risks related to the environmental,
social and governance). A comprehensive review of the risk
management system was completed. The top ten risks facing the
Group in 2023 were newly assessed and the corresponding
measures were sorted out. It also clarified the main responsible
department for risks, next-step countermeasures and improvement
directions, and reported the assessment results to the Audit
Committee.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established its applicable internal control system with
reference to the internal control framework of the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
The control system includes a mature organizational structure that
clearly defines the rights and responsibilities of various departments
to protect the assets of the Group and the interests of shareholders.

As an important part of risk management, the internal control system
of the Group was formed on the basis of various risks facing the
Group. As the first line of defense, the management of the Group
headquarters, the management of its subsidiaries and the
management of its various departments designed and implemented
a series of policies and procedures for the processes related to
finance, operation and compliance, and monitored the
implementation and effect of relevant policies and procedures.
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The Group has constantly improved the Anti-Fraud and
Whistleblowing System and supports rational whistleblowing. The
office of the Board is responsible for managing the hotline and e-mail
for reporting fraud cases, and receiving real-name or anonymous
reports from employees and external third parties (e.g. customers or
suppliers). The Group will protect complainants and whistleblowers
in the process of cooperating with investigations, in a bid to prohibit
any illegal discrimination or retaliation. In the meantime, the Group
attaches importance to employees’ integrity, requiring all employees
to declare conflicts of interest and sign the Integrity Initiative when
they join the Group, in a bid to strengthen employees’ anti-corruption
awareness from the beginning of their job. In addition, it set up a
column of integrity on the official website of the Company, and
continuously promoted the culture of integrity internally through
various channels, such as the WeChat official accounts and the
internal office platform.

The Company has established an internal audit function. The Group
has established the Audit and Supervision Department as the third
line of defense. Through internal audit and follow-up review of the
improvement of internal control defects found in the audit process, it
communicates with the relevant management to supervise the timely
implementation of internal control improvement measures, and
provides independent and objective advice to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit and Supervision Department has unrestricted
access to the documents and records, information systems and staff
required to perform audit procedures, and reports the audit results
to the Audit Committee.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is aware of its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In terms of procedures for
handling and disseminating inside information and internal controls,
the Group has formulated the Guidelines on the Management and
Disclosure of Inside Information and has publicized its disclosure
policy to directors, senior management and relevant employees who
may have access to sensitive information, requiring them to follow
relevant procedures for handling confidential resources and/or inside
information, regulatory information disclosure and inquiry reply in
accordance with the guidelines.
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REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

During the Year, the Board conducted a comprehensive review of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems through
the Audit Committee, including the risk assessment and the review
of internal control over key business processes in 2023. The review
covers the fiscal year 2023 and the Group’s principal businesses.
The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and takes into account
changes in the nature and severity of material risks and the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its businesses and external
environment. The Board considers that the Group has complied with
the risk management and internal control provisions set out in the
CG Code and that the risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions and those relating to environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting, as well as the training courses received
by the staff and the associated budgets, and considered them to be
adequate.

There was a delay in publication of the Company’s annual results of
the Year due to the changes of auditors and the trading of Shares
on the Stock Exchange has been suspended since 9:00 a.m. on 2
April 2024. The reasons for the changes of auditors were set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 26 March 2024, 28
March 2024 and 27 September 2024. It was noted that the delay in
providing information to the auditors (some of which was beyond the
Company’s control and required co-operation of external parties and
some of which was caused by the excessive turnover in personnel
of the Company and its business partners) had indirectly caused the
changes in auditors. Whilst the Company is of the view that the
foundational elements for effective risk management and internal
control are in place, it is believed that improvements can be made.

As a general measure, the management of the Company will
continue to maintain close communication with its auditors and the
Audit Committee, by conducting periodic assessments and providing
timely responses at important stages to identify and resolve any
issues that may potentially affect timely publication of future financial
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results. The Company has also adopted the following internal control
measures and improvements to prevent re-occurrence of a delay in
results publication:

1. throughout the entire audit/review process of future financial
years or periods, the management of the Company and the
Audit Committee will discuss and agree beforehand with the
relevant auditors as to the proposed audit plan in relation to
any advances made by the Company, in particular, in relation
to any items that may require cooperation of independent third
parties (such as audit interviews and confirmations);

2. as soon as the audit plan requiring cooperation of independent
third parties has been confirmed, the Company and the
relevant auditors will immediately commence liaising with the
relevant independent third parties, with an aim to conduct such
audit interviews and obtain such confirmations as early as
possible;

3. the Company will endeavour to obtain written confirmations
from each of the existing independent third party borrowers
that they will to the extent reasonable cooperate with all
requests from the Company’s auditors, in particular, audit
interviews and confirmations; and

4.  for any future advances that may be made by the Company,
the relevant loan agreements will include a legally binding
provision requiring the reasonable cooperation of the third
party borrower with all requests from the Company’s auditors,
in particular, audit interviews and confirmations.

Moving forward, the Board and the Audit Committee are committed
to enhancing internal controls and ensuring that all relevant
information is promptly communicated to auditors, and reinforcing
the Company's risk management and internal control systems.

EREIWE

BRERA TS A BB BR i 1 e S B E= 4R 4 AR IE R
BAERTEEENIFR

1. RARFERFEIHENBERR EH
BEF - ARREEEREZZEEHRSE
ST ELARRA X BEN & i M E B A R BIME
HEERRRNEREZE LERA
BRI EEB Y E=FRANEIMAIEAR (M
B E kN HER)

2. —EWRFTEFUE=HRENEZTE
AR IX A Ko A8 A A% B 5 32 B 7 4k B AE R OB
MEZHE ABMEFRETZEEZA
R IEFZFHER

3. ARAEBBNDBERABILE=TER
ANEHBER BERREFSESELBENRN
FEAARARARGZBENMAAEZR LEEE
2T R S FERR

4. FARFBRAEIELNERMBRDE -
HEERGRRBBRRE -—BABERORN
MG BRE=ZTBERAREEALR
ARBEMEMAEZR  FHREXE# K
R -

AR EFERBERZESHNNBAEE

FEGR I B MAZ BB = PR A AR A AL I s AR
NENEREERABEZERR -

65



K CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED - FFZ2EFRAT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRS

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company ("Dividend Policy"),
the Company intends to declare and distribute approximately 50%
of the Group’s net profit for a given year as dividends to the
Shareholders. Any future determination to declare and pay any
dividends would require the approval of the Board and will be at
their discretion. In addition, any final dividend for a financial year will
be subject to shareholders’ approval and the relevant laws. The
Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared
and paid:

. result of operations;

. cash flows;

. financial condition;

. Shareholders’ interests;

. general business conditions and strategies;
. capital requirements and surplus;

. the payment by the Group’s subsidiaries of cash dividends to
the Group; and

. other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles of Association of the Company.

Any final dividend declared by the Company must be approved by
an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general
meeting of the Company and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Dividend Policy will continue to be
reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific period. The
Dividend Policy is available on the Company's website.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views are available to the Board. The summary of the mechanisms
is set out below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third of
its members being Independent Non-executive Directors (or
such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules
from time to time), with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. Further,
Independent non-executive Directors will be appointed to
Board committees as required under the Listing Rules and as
far as practicable to ensure independent views are available.

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the nomination
policy of the Company ("Nomination Policy") with regard to
the nomination and appointment of independent non-executive
Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive Directors to
ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.

Board Decision Making

Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information from the management on
the matters to be discussed at Board meetings and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense. A Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) who has a material
interest in a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote
or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same.

EREIWE

EETEIM

EERCRU RN A RREEETREETE
B MAEERIIMT -

U

(ii)

(iii)

X

EFEgMREAESI=ZEBIINTESF
REV=Z0D2—KERBILIFATES (X
EHRANAETERENRSRE) - BE
PBBIUFRTESTERABEEERE
RSB T SE IR - I
BIUFMTESHRELMRNREE
ZREMAEZZES YHEUVEATNG
AT HERAESELER -

B R

RAZEBEBMETERARARARE
EBIUATEFTNREZER([REBK
R UEEXEEBFILEILFATES
BB ARER R S R FR B 1T (£ 98 S #)
B o

EEERE

B (BREBUIFATES) ARABERNE

CERLAWNERNEEES KE—
SER TRBERRIISEXERSK
BYUBR BRAAXARRAE -RAH X
FEALHTREEEARGZNEST (BB
VHERTER)TERMEZFTAN R
HLEPFNERNETERBRREL AL
EAE-

67



K CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED - FFZ2EFRAT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRS

BOARD COMMITTEES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) to oversee the relevant aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The three Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

During the Year, as part of its corporate governance function, the
Board has performed the corporate governance duties including:

a) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

b) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

c) reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d) reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

e) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee was established on 12 May 2021. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Siu
Chi Hung (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Ying and
Mr. Zhu Baoguo during the Year. None of them is a member of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Board is of the view
that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise and experience to discharge
their duties. However, the Audit Committee is also authorised to
obtain external legal or other independent professional advice if it
considers necessary. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
being Mr. Liu Dianchen (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr.
Xu Ying and Ms. Yan Yingchun.
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The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference in
accordance with the CG Code, which are available at both the
Company’s website and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website.
The principal functions of the Audit Committee include:

To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external independent auditors
and to approve the remuneration and terms of such
appointments;

To review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external independent auditors and effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards;

To review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems and other major financial matters;

To review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices, and to monitor the Company’s financial operation
and core business status;

To ensure that the management has fulfilled its duties and the
Group’s strategic objectives to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system;

To ensure compliance with applicable statutory accounting and
reporting requirements, legal and regulatory requirements,
internal rules and procedures approved by the Board from time
to time; and

To review and monitor the integrity of the consolidated financial
statements, annual and interim reports and the auditor’s report
to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during 2023 and conducted
the following responsibilities:

1)

reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
December 2022;

reviewed the Group’s interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2023;

assessed the independence of the independent auditors and
the scope of their audit;
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4)  reviewed the risk management and internal control system of
the Group, the effectiveness of the internal audit and risk
control management function of the Company;

5) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external auditor;
and

6) made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of
the external auditor.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group as well as considered and
identified risks of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2023 and
will continuously monitor the systems on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee also met with the external auditor annually in
the absence of management to discuss matters relating to any
issues arising from audit and any other matters the external auditor
may wish to raise.

For the Year, the external independent auditors’ remuneration to the
Group’s auditor in respect of annual audit and interim review
services provided to the Group amounted to approximately
RMB4,180,000 and RMB600,000.

The Company’s annual results announcement dated 9 January 2025
for the Year has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 12 May 2021 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the CG Code. During
the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the chairman of the Nomination
Committee), and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Zhu Baoguo and Mr. Xu Ying. As at the date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the chairman of the Nomination
Committee), and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Xu Ying and Ms. Yan Yingchun.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which are available at both the Company’s website and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s website. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee include: (i) reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
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Board at least once a year, and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to the Board for conforming
to the strategy of the Company; (ii) identifying and nominating
qualified individuals to act as Directors and making
recommendations to the Board regarding such matters; (iii)
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (iv) making recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Executive Officers;
and (v) reviewing the board diversity policy of the Company ("Board
Diversity Policy"), and the implementation of the progress targets
set by such policy.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy
matters.

The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the
following procedures for nomination of Directors:

1. The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form by the
Nomination Committee.

2.  The Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting upon
request by any member of the Nomination Committee, and
invite nominations of candidates from Board members (if any),
for consideration by the Committee. The Committee may also
nominate candidates for its consideration.

3.  For the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board,
the Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due
diligence in respect of such individual and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

4.  For the re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the
Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

5.  If a shareholder wants to propose a candidate to the Board for
consideration, he/she shall refer to the “Procedures for a
Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director of
the Company”, which is available on the Company’s website.
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6. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

The Nomination Policy also provides the following criteria (which are
not exhaustive) for nomination of Directors:

—_

reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business
and industry;

3. commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention
to the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries;

4.  diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural/educational and professional background, skills,
knowledge and experience;

5.  compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

6. any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time as
appropriate.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with effect on
12 May 2021 which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain
diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board. With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company is committed to increasing diversity in
the Board in order to bring in innovation, fresh and broad business
perspectives and enhance the decision-making process of the
Board. The Board is of the view that having diversity will help the
Company better understand and meet the needs of the customers
and maintain its competitive advantages in the project management
service industry. The Board Diversity Policy is available on the
Company's website.
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The Company recognizes the benefits of Board diversity and
endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate and
balanced skill levels, experience and perspectives to support the
execution of its business strategies. The Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including professional qualifications and experience, cultural and
educational background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length
of service. The Company will also take into consideration factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises eight members,
including one female Director and seven male Directors with a
balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including various aspects of
the real estate industry (such as project management and property
development), as well as overall business management, investment
and accounting. They obtained degrees in various majors, including
real estate management, architecture, applied finance, international
economics and trade, and business administration. The Company
has three independent non-executive Directors who have different
industry backgrounds, including accounting, property development
and investment, pharmaceuticals and academia. Furthermore, the
Board has a relatively wide range of ages, ranging from 40 to 73
years old.

With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Group recognizes
the particular importance of gender diversity. As at 31 December
2023, the Board comprised eight Directors, including one female
Director. The senior management also comprised two male
members. The Group has taken and will continue to take steps to
promote and enhance gender diversity at all levels of the Company.
The Board shall take opportunities when selecting and making
recommendations on suitable candidates for Board appointments
with the aim to increase the proportion of female members over
time. The Group will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid to senior level so that it will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the Board
going forward. It is the Group’s objective to maintain an appropriate
balance of gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best
practices.
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As recommended by the Nomination Committee, the Board has set
measurable objectives (in terms of gender, skills and experience) to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Nomination
Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

In accordance with the requirements under the CG Code, the
Company has set an initial target of appointing at least one director
of a different gender in the Board and has achieved such target.
Taking into account the Group’s business model and specific needs
and also the above (including the presence of one female Director),
the Group considers that the composition of the Board satisfies the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the Year. The
work performed by the Nomination Committee for the Year included:

1. considering the nomination of Mr. Chen Aiguo and Mr. Duan
Juwei as executive Directors in accordance with the
Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy;

2. reviewing the current structure, diversity and composition of
the Board (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
taking into account the change in Directors during the Year;

3. reviewing the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy;
4. reviewing the contribution required from a Director to perform
his responsibilities and whether he/she has spent sufficient

time performing them;

5. assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

6. considering the nomination of Directors to be re-elected as
Directors at the annual general meeting in accordance with the

Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy; and

7.  discussing and considering the Board composition during the
Year and Board succession plan.
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As at 31 December 2023, the full-time employees of the Group
(including senior management) comprise about 70.0% male and
30.0% female. Whilst it is relatively more challenging for the Group
to achieve equal gender ratio across all business units of the Group
due to the characteristics and job nature of different business units,
it is the Group’s goal to achieve a balanced gender ratio in the
overall workforce (including senior management).

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 12 May 2021 and
revised on 30 December 2022 with written terms of reference as
suggested under the CG Code. As at 31 December 2023, the
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Baoguo (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Xu Ying and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the Chairman of
the Company). As at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Yan Yingchun (the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Xu Ying and one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the chairman of the Company).

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which are available at both the Company’s website and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s website. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include (but not limited to) (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and
structures for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing
and approving remuneration proposal by reference to corporate
objectives set by the Directors from time to time; (iii) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management; (iv) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors; and (v) to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The amount of the Directors’ remuneration is determined on the
basis of the relevant executive Directors’ experience, responsibility,
workload and the time devoted to the Group. The entire Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time
to time.
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The Remuneration Committee may also consult the Chairman on
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors
and has access to professional advice if necessary.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the Year. The
work performed by the Remuneration Committee for the Year
included:

1. review of the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management and to assess their performance;

2. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the newly appointed executive Directors; and
3. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

There are no material matters relating to the share award scheme of
the Company which are required to be reviewed and/or approved by
the Remuneration Committee during the Year.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for

the Year is set out below:

Remuneration

P

FTHZEeMEREMRTESNFHIRE
ITRHE ARV ERHATEER -

FNEZEENAFERTIREZ -FTHEZES
RAFEETH TR

1. BIUEREFNSAEEENFHERL
g WAHERFHIRIR

2. BHERTEZNFHSFERNESTSRD
2R
3. BIUEFLSAEERENFMINES=S

RS-

RAEE - BEA AR R B BRI SIMEKX
FHARFTHEESEM R SHtE-

RIE (EEERTRD WTREXEEASR &
FE SREBABNFEFMZEREIDWT

Number of individuals

A A
Nil to HK$4,000,000 £ 24,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$8,000,000 4,000,001;% 7T 8,000,000/ 7T 0

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the total remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s predecessor auditors, KPMG, for audit and non-audit
services totally amounted to RMB1,900,000.

For the Year, the total remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s predecessor auditors, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
for audit services amounted to RMB1,280,000.

For the Year, the total remuneration paid or payable to the

Company’s auditors, Prism Hong Kong Limited, for audit services
amounted to RMB1,600,000.
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An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to KPMG,
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and Prism Hong Kong Limited is set
out below:

EREIWE

ENRENESHEMEBMBR AR EX
FM(ER) B EBAERARRAZES
B EBAERARZ M DATESZI T -

Description of services performed Amount

i 42 14 R % Y 4 ot &8

RMB

AR

Audit services Bt R 4,180,000

Non-Audit services (report on review of interim  JEE &t AR (P EARSAR4R A& B 7% 600,000

condensed consolidated financial statements) WMEREFHNWE)

Total et 4,780,000

COMPANY SECRETARY YNGIE =

The Company engages an external service provider to provide
secretarial services and has appointed Ms. Ho Wing Nga as its
Company Secretary. The primary corporate contact person in the
Company is Mr. Hu Bing, the executive Director.

For the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed that she has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held each year at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Put Forward Proposals thereat

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are prepared in accordance with
Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

1)  One or more member(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, on a one vote per share basis, shall have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
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Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition.

2)  The requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those Shareholders.

3) The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 1602-1605, 16/F, Tower 2,
The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

4)  The extraordinary general meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

5) If the Board fails to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of
such requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself or themselves
may convene a physical meeting at only one location which
will be the Principal Meeting Place, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by him/her/them as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to him/her/them by the
Company.

Proposals for Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as amended from time to time, the Company may from
time to time in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director.

A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for election as
a Director by lodging the following documents at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1602-1605,
16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong:

1)  anotice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned of his/
her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director with full
particulars of the Person including his/her full name and
biographical details as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and
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2)  a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her willingness
to be elected as a Director. Such notices shall be lodged at
least seven (7) days prior to the date of the general meeting
and the period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at
least seven (7) days in length.

Procedures for Raising Enquiries

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the
Shareholders, the Company has established communication
channels in accordance with the Shareholders communication policy
of the Company ("Shareholders Communication Policy"):

1)  Shareholders may direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited.

2) Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer whose contact details
are as follows: CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY
LIMITED, Room 1602-1605, 16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway,
Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

3) Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company amended
the Articles of Association for the purpose of, among other things: (i)
update the existing articles of association and bring it in line with the
latest regulatory requirements, including the core shareholder
protection standards set out in Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules; (ii)
provide for flexibility for the Company to convene and hold electronic
and hybrid shareholders’ meetings; (iii) allow the Board to pay the
Shareholders interim dividends out of the distributable funds of the
Company (including share premium account) as appear to the Board
to be justified by the Company’s financial conditions; and (iv)
incorporate certain housekeeping amendments. Such amendments
were set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2023. The
amendments to the Articles and the adoption the new articles of
association of the Company were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 31 May 2023.
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The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association are available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed above, there had been no
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company for the
Year.

Corporate Communication and Investor Relations

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy,
which is available on the Company's website. The Company is
committed to enhancing long-term shareholder value through
communications with the Shareholders, both individual and
institutional, as well as potential investors. The Board shall maintain
an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and potential investors.
Effective and timely dissemination of the Company’s information to
the Shareholders and potential investors shall be ensured at all
times.

The major task and objective of the Group’s investor relations are to
clearly introduce the Group, including the business positioning,
existing operations and future development of the Group, to the
media, Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks
through different communication channels. In future, the Group shall
further enhance communication with the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks on various aspects such
as development strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings, senior
management’s participation in investor forums, conferences and
roadshows. The Group is confident in establishing and maintaining
a good relationship with the international capital institutions through
the continued enhancement of information transparency.

The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining good
communication with the Shareholders, so as to increase the
Company’s transparency and understanding by the Shareholders.
To enable that the Shareholders are effectively informed of the
Group ’'s status and developments, the Group issues
announcements, circulars, notices, interim and annual reports in a
timely manner. To enhance the Company’s transparency, other
information about the Company is published on the Company’s
website.
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The Company’s annual general meetings allow the Directors to meet
and communicate with the Shareholders and to answer any queries
that the Shareholders may have. An external independent auditor is
also present at the annual general meetings. The Chairman will
propose separate resolutions for each issue to be considered at the
annual general meetings. A notice of annual general meeting is
delivered to all Shareholders not less than 21 clear days prior to the
date of the meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolution
and other information. Voting results are posted on the websites of
the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy and believes that, in light of the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place as stated
herein, the current shareholders Communication Policy has been
properly implemented during the Year and is effective.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is the primary decision-making body of the
Company, setting fundamental business strategies and policies for
the management and operation of the Group’s business and
monitoring their implementation. As at 31 December 2023, the
Board of Directors comprises eight Directors, consisting of three
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors are elected to
serve terms of three years, which are renewable upon re-election
and/or re-appointment.

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wu Po Sum (#7& & & &) (formerly known as Hua Jianming /&
##£PH), aged 73, is the Chairman of the Board, a non-executive
Director and Controlling Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wu is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director on October 22, 2020 and was redesignated as a non-
executive Director and appointed as the Chairman of the Board on
November 6, 2020. Mr. Wu is responsible for formulating the overall
development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Wu is one of
the Group’s controlling shareholders. Mr. Wu is the father of Ms. Wu
Wallis, a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu is also a
director of various of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Start Ahead
Investment Limited, Central China Management (Hong Kong)
Limited and Henan Start Ahead Commercial Management Co., Ltd.*
CUFE AR EE EEMR A A) (‘Henan Head Start”).

Mr. Wu is the founder of Central China Real Estate Limited (231
E % 15 B BR A 8] *) (stock code: 832) (‘CCRE”) and its subsidiaries
(the “CCRE Group”) and has nearly 31 years of experience in real
estate development and investment. He entered the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) real estate market in May 1992, when
he laid the foundation for the CCRE Group and established the
“Jianye (#£2)” brand name. He has always been the chairman and
an executive director of CCRE and a director of CCRE and various
subsidiaries of the CCRE Group, and is responsible for formulating
development strategies, making decisions on investment projects
and determining development directions of the CCRE Group
(including the Group).
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In 2017, Mr. Wu was invited to the selection of Golden Sunlight
Public Welfare Awards of Henan Daily (/7 Fg H 4t €[5 ¢ 2 55 8%)
and was awarded the “Meritorious Person of the First (2017) Central
China Social Responsibility (& [ (2017) R Rt S E(E - HEVA DY
prize. Besides, the Benyuan Humanity Education Foundation in
Henan (37 /& AN R A X E % € ) sponsored by him was awarded
the “Outstanding Nonprofit Organization of First (2017) Central
China Social Responsibility ( & fE (2017) R Rt G HBE - BEF Q=
5.

Mr. Wu received various awards in 2018. He was appointed as the
“Deputy Director of the Advisory Committee of Industry and
Commerce Association of Henan Province (JilE & L #AZ 8
Z8|EE)", received the “Outstanding Contribution Entrepreneur of
Henan ()7 /9 & 8 & Ef {3 %X )" award at the “40 Years of Reform
and Opening up of Henan ()7 8 & 42 & 24 3 i 18404 )" event
organized by Henan Daily, and was awarded the highest accolade
of a leading entrepreneur in the real estate industry in Henan at the
“40 Years of Reform and Opening up, Development of Central China
(R E R U+ /B R T A% & )" by Henan Province Real Estate
Business Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Wu also received the “Golden
Camel Award” granted by the Society of Entrepreneurs and Ecology
Foundation for his significant contribution in promoting projects
concerning environmental protection.

Mr. Wu was an executive director and the chairman of the board of
DIT Group Limited (52 & B ERHLEEHFR 2 7)) (@ company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 726) from November 2019 to
August 2020. The principal business of DIT Group Limited includes
research and development, design, manufacture and sales of
assembled building prefabricated units. Mr. Wu has also been a
director of CURA Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ( &
BB BEREEERMDBR A F) (a company previously listed
on National Equities Exchange and Quotations of the PRC, stock
code: 833880, and subsequently delisted on December 5, 2019)
since January 2013. CURA Investment Management (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. is principally engaged in the provision of professional asset
management services with a focus in private equity real estate and
real estate investment trusts.

Mr. Wu is a director of Joy Bright Investments Limited, wholly-owned
by him, which directly holds 55.96% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Mr. Wu graduated from Zhengzhou University ( Z5 /1l X 2) in the
PRC in 1979, majoring in English.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hu Bing (#87k % %), aged 47, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director of the Group
on November 6, 2020. Mr. Hu is mainly responsible for overall daily
operation and management of the Group as well as its strategic
development. Mr. Hu is also a director of various of the Group’s
subsidiaries, namely Zhongyuan Jianye, Henan Start Ahead and
Zhongyuan Jianye (Hainan).

Mr. Hu joined the CCRE Group in January 2004 and had held
various positions in the CCRE Group. These positions include
assistant to general manager, deputy general manager and general
manager of the financial center, deputy director and director of the
financial management center as well as the general manager of the
budget planning department, the executive vice president as well as
general manager of the financial management center, vice president,
chief financial officer and chief operating officer. Through these
senior management positions, he has overseen the Group’s project
management business and its financial affairs since its launch, and
has participated in the Group’s key management and decision
making. In July 2020, he was formally appointed as a director of
Zhongyuan Jianye. Since November 2020, he formally resigned
from all positions within the CCRE Group in order to continue to
focus on the Group’s business.

Mr. Hu is a Certified Public Valuer in the PRC, where he obtained
his license issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in
September 2001. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in state-owned
assets management and evaluation from School of Business
Administration of Zhongnan University of Economics ( 77 & 81 &< A 22
TEEEER) (currently known as Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law) (4 B 1 & BUE K2 ) in the PRC in July 1997,
and his master’s degree in business administration from Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University (1t R AZ ¢ EEEIEE
B% ) in the PRC in June 2004.
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Mr. Chen Aiguo (PR E Bl 5t 4 ), aged 44, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 9 January 2023.

Mr. Chen had over 16 years of experience in real estate enterprises
management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen served as the
general manager of Anyang Zengtai Materials Co., Ltd.* (%[5 14
ZYE BB A F) from March 2005 to December 2007. From
January 2008 to November 2010, Mr. Chen served as the chairman
of the board of directors of Anyang Duolun Mining Co., Ltd.* (&% T
Z @IEE B R 2 F)). Mr. Chen has been working as the chairman of
the board of directors of Henan Duolun Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.* (% % w5 & 5 3 A R A A1) since December 2010,
and a director of Anyang Jianye City Development Co., Ltd.* (%[5
EEHMEREAR A ) since April 2013.

Mr. Chen graduated from the School of Economics and Management
of Henan University in June 1999, majoring in economic
management.

Mr. Duan Juwei (ER /B2 % &), aged 40, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 9 January 2023.

Mr. Duan had over 13 years of experience in real estate enterprises
management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Duan served as the
chairman of Dancheng Yinghe Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (88 & 5%
EE BB A7) since May 2010. In 2014, Mr. Duan founded Henan
Jujia Weiye Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* A /B KRB ¥ 5 ¥ 2%
B AR A F]), in which he served as the general manager since
September 2014. In 2015, he founded the four-star Dancheng
Vienna International Hotel* ( #B%% 4 2, 4% B BX B JE ), in which he
served as the chairman since July 2015. Since July 2016, Mr. Duan
served as the general manager of Fugou Jianyecheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd.* (FK)BHZE XM E X B MR Q7). Mr. Duan served as the
general manager of Huaiyang Junyang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (JF5
&5 E ¥ B M A)) since December 2018. In 2019, Mr. Duan
founded Henan Jinhong Construction Co., Ltd.* (;i] & 85543 R A IR
72 A]), where he served as the chairman since July 2019. Since July
2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of Henan Hanrun
Real Estate Co., Ltd.* ()7 FE % EH E % B R 2 7). Since September
2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of Xinxiang
Shengtang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (T AT EEEEXEGR A A)).
Since December 2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of
Qixian Guiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (12 & EE B £ BR A F)).
Since September 2020, Mr. Duan served as the chairman of Jude
Holding Group (Henan) Co., Ltd.* (JEZE#E B O E ) B R A A).
Mr. Duan founded Fugou Yingbinfu Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (/& &8
ENFE XA AF)in 2021 and served as its general manager
since February 2021.
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Mr. Duan graduated from the Correspondence Institute of the Party
School of the Central Committee of CPC (R £ sk B 4% [ 15 £ Pr )
in the PRC in December 2008, majoring in economic management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wu Wallis ( Z# 2z ) (alias: Li Hua), aged 42, is a non-
executive Director of the Company. She was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Group on November 6, 2020. Ms. Wu is
mainly responsible for supervising and reviewing the overall
business development and strategic planning of the Group. Ms. Wu
is the daughter of Mr. Wu Po Sum (the Chairman, a non-executive
Director and controlling shareholder).

Ms. Wu has been a non-executive director of CCRE and a director
of various subsidiaries of the CCRE Group since November 2007.
Ms. Wu has also been a non-executive director of DIT Group Limited
(BREEBHEBARZAF) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 726) since September 2019.

Ms. Wu obtained her bachelor’s degree in architecture from The
University of New South Wales in Australia in September 2006, and
her master’s degree in applied finance from Macquarie University in
Australia in August 2007.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (&R B % 4 ), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021.
Mr. Zhu is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of both the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhu is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment on the Group’s strategies, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standard of conduct.
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Mr. Zhu founded Joincare Pharmaceutical Group Industry Co., Ltd.
(2R T EEEBR M AR ADF) (previously known as Shenzhen
Aimier Food Co., Ltd.* (RIIE KB R MBR A F])) (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600380) in
1992, and has been serving as its chairman ever since. Mr. Zhu has
also served as the chairman and a non-executive director of Livzon
Pharmaceutical Group Inc.* (BHEHEERHER R AF) (a
company dually listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock codes: 1513 and 000513, respectively) since
2002.

Mr. Zhu was appointed as a member of the Shenzhen Committee of
the third, fourth and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (CPPCC) in May 2000, May 2005 and May 2010,
respectively. Since August 2000, Mr. Zhu has served various roles,
including the vice president of the Shenzhen General Chamber of
Commerce (#3427 &), the vice chairman and honorable vice
president of the Shenzhen Federation of Industry and Commerce
(OFRYIT I EH A 2), the executive vice president of the
Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce (FYITHRI£E A €) as

well as the director of Shenzhen Business Elites Union (& 31T % &
AN
GEE).

Mr. Zhu obtained his bachelor’s degree in chemistry from Henan
Normal University (7 5 Bl & X 2 ) in the PRC in July 1985.
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Mr. Xu Ying (%54 ), aged 41, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021. Mr. Xu is a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Xu is primarily
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategies, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standard of conduct.

From August 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Xu served as implementation
consultant and technical supervisor at Wandabao Software
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (BEZE &4 OFII) B A 7). Since April
2010, Mr. Xu served successively at Shenzhen Mingyuan Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* (ORI TR ERFE AR A A) (formerly
known as Shenzhen Mingyuan Software Holding Co., Ltd.* (&I
BRIREX (B 15 B BR 2 7])) as an implementation consultant, manager
of the consulting department of the Shenzhen branch, director of
corporate services, as well as the chief specialist on cost, head of
solution center and dean of Mingyuan Real Estate Research
Institute (BF)REHE TP ). Mr. Xu has over 11 years of experience
in the real estate industry and has been invited to speak at events
held by China Urban Realty Association, Shougang Fund and
Colony Capital as a special speaker. Since August 2019, Mr. Xu has
been a visiting professor at Changjian Business School ( & & & £
Bt ). Mr. Xu has contributed to the publication of a number of
literature and industry reports, including “Best practice of Real
Estate Project Operation” ( (FH#EIE BB & &EEE) ), “Road to
A Hundred Billions” ( {(F1{& 2 #&) ), “Annual Operation Analysis
Report of Listed Real Estate Companies” series ( { T B F R4
Lok E) K75) and “New Challenges of the Epidemic, New
Opportunities for Real Estate Enterprises” ( (& 15 #1 Pk & = 1 # #
B)).

Mr. Xu obtained his bachelor’s degree in international economics

and trade from Zhongnan University (1 F A28 ) in the PRC in June
2004.
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Mr. Siu Chi Hung (& & i %t &), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021.
Mr. Siu is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Siu is primarily responsible for providing independent judgment on
the Group’s strategies, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standard of conduct.

Mr. Siu has more than 25 years of accounting experience. Mr. Siu
joined KPMG (Hong Kong) in August 1994 as an accountant and
became a partner in July 2008. He was the head of Real Estate of
KPMG (China) and the head of Capital Markets Development,
Southern China of KPMG (China) before his retirement from KPMG
(China) in June 2018. As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Siu was an
independent non-executive director of Dongjiang Environmental
Company Limited* (3 TiRR X% B R 2 R]) (@ company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0895), an independent non-
executive director of China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co.
Ltd. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1940),
an independent non-executive director of China Aluminum
International Engineering Corporation Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2068), and an independent non-
executive director of MicroPort NeuroTech Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2172). Mr. Siu was an executive
director of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited
(%= (hBEDMEREBR AR (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0095) from 20 September 2019 to 20
September 2021 and an independent non-executive director of
Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. (2B REEREKMH ER A A])
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2146) from 6
April 2020 to 20 July 2022. Mr. Siu is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and a
member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association (HKINEDA). He obtained the qualification certificate of
independent directors for listed companies (=2 B & F &%
&) from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in February 2021.

Mr. Siu obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1994.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Jun ( £ E % %), aged 37, was appointed as the vice
president of the Group on 6 November 2020 and appointed as chief
executive officer of the Company on January 9, 2023. He is primarily
responsible for overall operation and management of the Group in
its project management business outside of Henan Province.

Mr. Wang joined CCRE in September 2010 and had held various
positions in the CCRE Group. Between September 2010 and
December 2015, he served successively as a marketing planning
specialist, deputy manager and manager in the sales and marketing
department of Zhoukou City division, and was mainly responsible for
the marketing in such region. Between December 2015 and March
2019, he served successively as a manager in the marketing
management department of Zhoukou regional head office as well as
assistant general manager of Luyi Project, assistant general
manager of Zhoukou regional head office, and general manager of
Zhoukou division, and was responsible for the management of real
estate projects and asset-light projects in such region. Since March
2019, he has been the vice president of Henan Zhongyuan Central
China City Development Co., Ltd.* (U@ H REZEMTEEFR A
A]), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, and is mainly
responsible for the management of its asset-light business outside
of Henan Province.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in graphic design from
Jiujiang University ( 71,2z ) in the PRC in July 2010.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board presents the annual report with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of project management
services in Henan and other provinces in the PRC. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue for the Year by principal activities is set out in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages from 30 to 50 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group
operates its business in compliance with applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations and has implemented relevant
environmental protection measures in compliance with the required
standards under applicable PRC laws and regulations. Further
details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will
be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of
the Company for the Year has been published in accordance with
the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. As set out in “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Analysis — Material lending transactions”, the
Group provided various loans to its independent strategic customers
on 1 December 2022. These loans constituted discloseable
transactions under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, for which the
Company published the relevant announcement on 13 April 2023.
Save as above, during the Year, there was no material breach of, or
non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
suppliers are the key to its sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its
employees, enhancing cooperation with its suppliers and providing
high-quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
the Group’s sustainable development.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management considers there to be one operating segment under
the requirements of HKFRS 8.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s profit for the Year and the state of the Group’s affairs as
at the date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 125 to 128 of this annual report.
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RESULT AND DIVIDENDS

Profit attributable to equity shareholders, before dividends, of
RMB198.6 million (2022: RMB303.9 million) have been transferred
to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: HK$2.70 cents per ordinary share). HK$3.74 cents
per ordinary share (for the six months ended 30 June 2022:
HK$5.81 cents per ordinary share) was distributed as interim
dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2023.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 AGM was held on Friday, 28 June 2024. Notice of the
2024 AGM has been published and issued to shareholders on 5
June 2024.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company
was closed from Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to Friday, 28 June 2024
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares
would be registered. All properly completed share transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 June 2024, for
registration.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 236 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share award scheme adopted by the Company, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 21(a) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in note 21(d) to the financial
statements and in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's distributable reserves
were RMB537.5 million (31 December 2022: RMB527.8 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 53.1% of the Group’s total purchases
and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately
25.6% of the Group’s total purchases.

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 15.8% of the Group’s total turnover and sales to the
largest customer amounted to approximately 4.4% of the Group’s
total turnover.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates, or any Shareholder owning more than
5% of the Company'’s share capital (excluding treasury shares), had
any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Po Sum
Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing

Mr. Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on 9 January 2023)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) (resigned on 14 June 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to
Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number
of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to
retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election
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or appointment. In accordance with Articles 83(3) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Liu Dianchen retired from office and offered himself
for re-election at the 2024 AGM. In accordance with Articles 84(1)
and 84(2) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhu Baoguo and Mr. Hu
Bing retired from their offices, and being eligible, offered themselves
for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual written confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
such information, the Company still considers the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 82 to 90 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than thirty (30) days’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has any existing or proposed service contracts
with any member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the relevant transactions as disclosed in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements or the connected transactions
described in this report, none of the Directors or an entity connected
with the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, nor any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries, subsisting during the Year or as at 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was considered to be
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

All Directors are entitled to a fee as approved by the Board with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors
are entitled to fees, salaries, housing allowances, other allowances,
benefits in kind (including contribution to the pension scheme on
behalf of the Directors) or discretionary bonuses, which are
determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s performance
and the prevailing market conditions and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company. Details of Directors’
emoluments and emoluments of five highest paid individuals of the
Company are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERRSTBRAENRKS - 1HEE
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN AP EREEPAES R KR
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the  2023F 12831 ARQR AR EE ([EE|) M &x
directors (the “Directors”) and chief executives of the Company in ST ABHEARA TR EREEE (EHEREHF
the shares (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures (the NMEFE 6] ([FHFRBEKH ) E XV ID) B
“Debentures”) of the Company or its associated corporations (within 7 ([B 4 ]) ~ BN HD R EEZE ([E#EE]) D
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the ¥ B ARIEFESH KBS EF FE352(5BFE W
“SFO”)) required to be recorded in the register required to be kept & AR5 & & M B E 150 XV B ETREH
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified ~ #F k1R #& R AR C3prEIZ TR B A S
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 AR R RE R THERS AT

and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code in

Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of (a) RAQXFTRGRAEROTHNEE
the Company

Approximate
percentage of the
interest in the

Name of Director or Capacity and nature Number of Other Company'’s issued
chief executive of interest Shares held Interests @ Total share capital
BARDAB BT
FR A 9 R 22 L 40
EZYRETHRAEHE SORESNE FEROEE HitfEz? et ERa 4t
Mr. Wu Po Sum Interest in a controlled 2,065,631,867 - 2,065,631,867 55.96%
corporation @
RAEREAE REEEER Y
Mr. Hu Bing Beneficial owner 11,220,000 10,000,000 21,220,000 0.57%
BKEAE BEREAA
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) Interest of a spouse 10,200,000 -
EX o [ £
Beneficial owner - 6,000,000 16,200,000 0.44%
BERBEAA
Mr. Wang Jun Beneficial owner 1,020,000 13,000,000 14,020,000 0.38%
ITERE ERBERA
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Notes:

The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s
issued share capital is based on a total of 3,691,302,120 Shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023.

These interests are awarded Shares that have been granted to
the relevant Directors and/or chief executive under the share
award scheme of the Company and were not vested as at 31
December 2023.

Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po
Sum. Therefore, Joy Bright Investments Limited is a controlled
corporation of Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed
to be interested in the 2,065,631,867 Shares that Joy Bright
Investments Limited is interested in under the SFO.

Long position in the shares of our associated
corporation

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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RARBEBRTEATNEEROB D
LE Ty 3R AR A B 3020234F12 4318 2 # 17
i 19 & ££3,691,302,120/% et E & A -

ZERDRRBARTRN KRB
RTHEMEELRS&RETTHRABNEE
f& 0+ 7202312 4318 I K57 & ©

BEREERATHBERELELER
BeoHit BEREERARBBRERSE
SRR MARKEERERE S R
HEGRNEE RN EEREFR AR
B % 192,065,631,867 1% % 19 1 HE B 1

P
m ©

REMEBEZERG FHNFRE

Percentage of
interests in the
associated
corporation

Name of Director

Name of associated
corporation

Nature of interest

Class and number
of shares held

immediately as at
31 December 2023

20235128310
FrER % RAEEEEH
EEpR HE =B £ ERtME ERIRHE ERZEIL
Mr. Wu Po Sum Joy Bright Investments Limited Beneficial owner 20,000 100%
ordinary shares
AR BERERRAR EREBA 20,0000%
Mr. Wu Po Sum Central China Real Estate Interested in a Controlled 1,272,734,299 41.88%"
Limited (“CCRE”) Corporation (¥ ordinary shares
AR E BEMERNERAQA] REEE RO 1,272,734,2990%
(BEME]) TR
Ms. Wu Wallis CCRE Interest of a spouse @ 14,700,000 0.48%
ordinary shares
TR BERIME fiiBHE=e@ 14,700,000/%
B
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Notes:

1. Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po
Sum. Therefore, Joy Bright Investments Limited is a controlled
corporation of Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed
to be interested in the same number of ordinary shares of
CCRE ("CCRE Shares") that Joy Bright Investments Limited is
interested in under the SFO.

2. The spouse of Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) is interested in
14,700,000 CCRE Shares beneficially owned by him. Therefore,
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) is deemed to be interested in the
same number of CCRE Shares as her spouse is interested in
under the SFO.

3. The approximate percentage of the interest in CCRE’s issued
share capital is based on a total of 3,039,126,090 CCRE Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company or their associates had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executives were deemed or taken to have under the provisions of
the SFO), or which were required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2023, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures” above, the following persons had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in the Shares
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REBROHHER

Approximate

percentage of the

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Capacity and nature of interest Shares held share capital @

HERRAB BT
IR A fE 2

BEER HE BORERMEE R4 &8 BHBEIEe

Joy Bright Investments Limited (*) Beneficial owner 2,065,631,867 55.96%

BiEREBR AR EREAA

Ms. Wu Lam Li @ Interest of spouse 2,065,631,867 55.96%

ML Fo B =

Notes: Bt

1. Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wu Po Sum.
Under the SFO, Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Joy Bright Investments Limited is
interested.

2. Ms. Wu Lam Li, being the spouse of Mr. Wu Po Sum, is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in the Shares in which Mr. Wu Po Sum is
interested for the purpose of the SFO.

3. The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s issued
share capital is based on a total of 3,691,302,120 Shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there was no
other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

1. '%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ"ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ%i%;ﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁ R
%&Hﬁif B HEREER/NBERESR
NEIEA DA AR E B AR -

2. FHLLRBEREENRSE Bt BREES
RHEGED FMALRERRBRRELERER
MR P EE R
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B EXXPrREE & SN 102023F 128318 L&A
MEMAL (EEHARBAESTRABRI)
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HIE 5P 55 XV 2R E2 30 BF M IR X AR AR
BENEDEIOAE AL AREE #&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company’s share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
was adopted and approved by the Shareholders on 7 August 2023.
For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 30 May 2023 and 7 August 2023 and the circular of
the Company dated 20 July 2023. Pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, the awarded Shares will be satisfied by new Shares to be
allotted and issued by the Company to the trustee, or through on-
market acquisitions of existing Shares by the trustee at the
prevailing market price.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is (i) to align the interests
of the eligible participants with those of the Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or
the increase in value of the Shares; and (ii) to encourage and retain
eligible participants to make contributions to the long-term growth
and profits of the Group.

PARTICIPANTS

Eligible participants consist only of directors and employees of the
Group, who in the absolute discretion of the Board have contributed
(and will continue to contribute) or will contribute to the Group. This
also includes directors or employees who are granted options and/
or awards as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with
the Group but excludes an employee or director who has submitted
his/her resignation or whose contract of employment has been
terminated (summarily dismissed or otherwise). Further, eligible
participants excludes anyone who is resident in a place where the
grant of an award and/or the vesting and transfer of the awarded
Shares pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme is not
permitted under the laws or regulations of such place or where in
the view of the Board, compliance with applicable laws or regulations
in such place makes it necessary or expedient to exclude such
participant.
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AWARD OF SHARES AND POOL OF AWARDED
SHARES

The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
awards under the Share Award Scheme and other share schemes
of the Company would be no more than 362,580,212 Shares,
representing no more than 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Award Scheme or the
relevant date of approval of the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit.

The Company did not adopt any share scheme under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules prior to the adoption of the Share Award Scheme
on 7 August 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the number of awards
in the form of new Shares available for future grant under the
scheme mandate limit of the Share Award Scheme was 297,080,212
Shares (being the abovementioned scheme mandate limit of
362,580,212 Shares less the 65,500,000 awarded Shares in the
form of new Shares granted as set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 May 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
20 July 2023).

As at 31 December 2023 and as at 24 January 2025, being the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, the
total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Award
Scheme was 297,080,212, representing approximately 8.05% and
7.69% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at 31
December 2023 and 24 January 2025 respectively.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

Where any grant of awards to a selected participant would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and
awards granted to such selected participant (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of any relevant
scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares, such grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders (which excludes
any Shareholders that are required to abstain from voting under the
Listing Rules, such as the relevant selected participant and his/her
close associates (or associates if such selected participant is a
connected person)) in general meeting, with such selected
participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the selected
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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Each grant of an award to any Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates,
shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is a proposed recipient of the grant of an award). In
addition:

(@) where any grant of awarded Shares to any Director (other than
an independent non-executive Director) or chief executive of
the Company, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
award shares granted (excluding any award shares lapsed) in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme and
other share scheme(s) of the Company (if any) to such person
in the 12-month period (or such other time period as may be
specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time) up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over
0.1% (or such other percentage as may be specified by the
Stock Exchange from time to time) of the Shares in issue as at
the date of such grant, such further grant of awarded Shares
must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting in the
manner required, and subject to the requirements set out, in
the Listing Rules; or

(b) where any grant of awarded Shares to an independent non-
executive Director or substantial shareholder of the Company
(or any of their respective associates) would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all award shares
and options granted (excluding any award shares and options
lapsed) in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme and other share scheme(s) adopted by the Company
to such person in the 12 month period (or such other time
period as may be specified by the Stock Exchange from time
to time) up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may be
specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time) of Shares
in issue as at the date of such grant, such further grant of
awarded Shares must be approved by Shareholders in general
meeting in the manner required, and subject to the
requirements set out, in the Listing Rules.

In the circumstances described (a) and (b) above, the Company
must send a circular to the Shareholders. The selected participants,
his/her associates and all core connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting. The
Company must comply with the requirements under Rules 13.40,
13.41 and 13.42 of the Listing Rules.
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VESTING OF THE AWARDED SHARES AND
PERFORMANCE TARGETS

The respective awarded Shares shall vest on the selected
participant in accordance with the applicable vesting schedule as set
out in the letter of grant when all the vesting conditions set out
therein have been satisfied and/or waived (all of which shall be
determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee in its
absolute discretion). The Board or the Remuneration Committee
may direct and procure the trustee to release from the trust the
awarded Shares to the selected participants by transferring the
number of awarded Shares to the selected participants in such
manner as determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee
from time to time.

The Board may at its discretion specify any conditions (including
performance targets (if any)) which must be satisfied before the
awarded Shares may be vested in the award letter. Such
performance targets may include financial targets and management
targets which shall be determined based on the (i) individual
performance, (ii) performance of the Group and/or (iii) performance
of business groups, business units, business lines, functional
departments, projects and/or geographical area managed by the
selected participants.

Subject to the Listing Rules, the Board or the committee of the
Board or person(s) to which the Board delegated its authority may
from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force and
subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and
conditions or periods for the award to be vested. The vesting date in
respect of any award shall be not less than 12 months from its date
of grant, provided that for employees, the vesting date may be less
than 12 months from the date of grant (including on the date of
grant) in and only in the following circumstances where:

(a) grants of “make whole” awards to new joiner employee
participants to replace share awards such employee
participants forfeited when leaving their previous employers;

(b) grants to an employee participant whose employment is
terminated due to death or disability or occurrence of any out
of control event. In those circumstances, the vesting of awards
may accelerate;

(c) grants of awards with performance-based vesting conditions,
in lieu of time-based vesting criteria;
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(d) grants of awards that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons. They may include
awards that should have been granted earlier but had to wait
for a subsequent batch. In such cases the vesting periods may
be shorter to reflect the time for which an award would have
been granted;

(e) grants of awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule
such as where the awards vest evenly over a period of 12
months; or

(f)  grants of awards with a total vesting and holding period of
more than 12 months.

ACCEPTANCE OF AWARD AND PURCHASE
PRICE OF AWARDED SHARES

Subject to the above vesting period requirements, the Board has the
authority to determine, among other things, the amount payable on
acceptance of the award and the relevant payment terms. In
general, no amount is payable on acceptance of grant of award
under the Share Award Scheme.

The purchase price of the awarded Shares (being the price payable
by a grantee to purchase Shares under the Share Award Scheme, if
any) shall be such price which shall be determined by the Board, the
committee of the Board, or person(s) to which the Board has
delegated its authority from time to time based on considerations
such as the prevailing closing price of the Shares (being the average
closing market price for the five preceding business days on which
the Shares are traded on the Stock Exchange), the purpose of the
award and the characteristics and profile of the selected participant.
Such room for discretion provides the Board with flexibility to
stipulate, if necessary, a purchase price for awarded Shares, while
balancing the purpose of the award and the interests of
Shareholders.
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REMAINING LIFE

Subject to early termination, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing from the date of its
adoption, being 7 August 2023, until 6 August 2033.

MOVEMENTS OF AWARDED SHARES

On 29 May 2023, the Board resolved to award an aggregate of
65,500,000 awarded Shares (the “2023 Awarded Shares”) at nil
consideration to a total of 15 employee participants, which includes
2 Directors and the chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief
Executive Officer”), pursuant to the Share Award Scheme.

The grant of the 2023 Awarded Shares were made conditional on
the Shareholders approving the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme (and for the Directors, approval of independent
Shareholders for such grant to them), which was obtained via the
ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 7 August 2023, all of which remain unvested.

The closing price of the Shares, immediately before the Board
resolved to grant of the 2023 Awarded Shares (i.e. 25 May 2023)
and before the date of Shareholders’ approval of such grant (i.e. 4
August 2023) was HK$0.35 and HK$0.39, respectively. According to
the accounting standard and policy adopted by the Company, the
date of grant is considered to be the date of Shareholders’ approval
(i.e. 7 August 2023). The aggregate fair value of the 2023 Awarded
Shares as at 7 August 2023 amounted to approximately HK$25.2
million. The fair value of awarded shares on the grant date is
determined by reference to the closing price of the underlying
ordinary shares on the date of grant, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the awarded shares were granted, in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 2,
Share-based payment.
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The 2023 Awarded Shares are subject to the satisfaction of the
vesting criteria and conditions as set out in the table below. These
also include performance targets. The Company has established an
appraisal mechanism to evaluate the performance of each Selected
Participant. Each Selected Participant will be continually assessed
throughout his/her employment. The performance targets of the
Awarded Shares are individualized based on the job nature and job
positions of each Selected Participant and the projected market and
business conditions. The performance targets of the Awarded
Shares include (among others) the Company achieving satisfactory
revenue, gross profit, net profit, gross floor area under management
or other internal performance metrics during the vesting period of
the awarded Shares. Shortly prior to each vesting date, the Board
will determine whether the relevant grantee has met his/her
performance targets for the relevant one-year period prior to the
vesting date. In assessing whether such performance targets have
been satisfactorily met, the Board and Remuneration Committee will
focus on the growth and reputation of the Group, its industry ranking,
as well as benchmarking of such key performance metrics against
comparable companies in the same industry and/or with a listing on
the Stock Exchange or a comparable and recognized stock
exchange.

Subject to fulfillment of all such vesting criteria and conditions, the

2023 Awarded Shares shall be transferred from the trustee to the
selected participants upon expiry of the respective vesting period.
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Movement of the awarded Shares during the Year was as follows: RERORANEENZSHHET

Number of Awarded Share
ZRROHE

Unvested Lapsed/ Unvested
asat  Granted Vested cancelled as at 31
Selected Date of 1 January during during during December
participants grant Vesting period 2023  the Year  theYear the Year 2023
142023%F RAFE  R2023%F
1818 REAEE RFZEE %%/ 12A31H
BESHE REBH BEH AEE B 58 E 5B

Directors
£z
— Mr. Hu Bing 29 May 2023 ~ — 30%: 12 months from the date of grant - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
(i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 36 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2026)
— HkEE 2023%5A298 — 30%: B & B EEsH1208 A (E12024
F50290)
— 30% : B A HEET2408 A (812025
F5H29R)
— 40% : B A HEET361E A (F12026
£5A290)

— Ms. Wu Wallis 29 May 2023  — 30%: 12 months from the date of grant - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
(alias Li Hua) (i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 36 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2026)
—FERt 2023F5A298 — 30%: B A HEE12(8 A (812024
F5A29R)
— 30%: B LA B4 A (812025
F5AH29H)
— 40% : B# B Best361E A (F12026
F5A29H)
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Unvested
asat  Granted

Number of Awarded Share
ERRGEE
Lapsed/ Unvested
Vested cancelled as at 31

Selected Date of 1 January during during during December
participants grant Vesting period 2023  the Year  theYear the Year 2023
12023%F REAFE  R2023%F
1A1B RAFE RAFE X%/ 12A318
BESHE REBH BB 5B R 58 aE 8 ER
Chief Executive Officer
BREUGE
— Mr. Wang Jun 29 May 2023  — 30%: 12 months from the date of grant - 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
(i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2025)
— 40%: 36 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2026)
—TEEE 2023F58298 — 30% : 8% M B #1208 A (B12024
F5A29R)
— 30% : B% i B E#eat2418 A (12025
£5H290)
— 40% : B A HEE361E A (F12026
F5A290)
Selected participants
BESRE
Other employee 29 May 2023  — 30%: 12 months from the date of grant - 36,500,000 - - 36,500,000
participants (not (i.e. 29 May 2024)
being Directors or — 30%: 24 months from the date of grant
chief executive of (i.e. 29 May 2025)
the Company) — 40%: 36 months from the date of grant
(i.e. 29 May 2026)
HivfgEB2EE  2023F5A298 — 30%: B LA HBE2/ A (812024
(FRRAESESR F5A290)
R {THAS) — 30% : Bt B B :t2418 A (12025
F5A297)
— 40% : B i B #3618 A (12026
5A29H)
Total - 65,500,000 - - 65,500,000
#st
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Notes:

1. Save as disclosed above, there is no any other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules.

2. The purchase price of all awarded Shares set out in the table above is
nil.

3. All grants set out in the table above were made on 29 May 2023 and
conditional on certain approval of the Shareholders, which was
obtained on 7 August 2023.

4. None of the grants set out in the table above were in excess of the 1%
individual limit under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Further, the
Share Award Scheme is not available to any related entity or service
provider.

5. The number of Shares available for grant under the scheme mandate
limit of the Share Award Scheme as at 1 January 2023 was nil and as
at 31 December 2023 was 297,080,212 Shares.

6. The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of awards
granted under all share schemes of the Company during the Year
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the Year is 1.87%.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any borrowings.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has subscribed appropriate directors’
and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group which remains in force.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following connected transactions (other
than connected transactions that are exempted under Rule 14A.73
of the Listing Rules) during the Year:

(@) On 31 March 2023, Central China Properties Development
Limited (XY %% R AR A 7], an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CCRE, hereinafter “Central China Properties”)
(as sublessor) and the Company (as sublessee) entered into a
sublease agreement, pursuant to which Central China
Properties agreed to sublet the office premises at Unit No.
7701A on Level 77 of International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin
Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong to the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2023 to 30 March
2026 (both days inclusive) at a rent of HK$206,392.90 per
calendar month (exclusive of air-conditioning and management
charges, government rates and other outgoing, which are
payable by the Company). As at the date of the above
agreement and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wu Po Sum is
the controlling shareholder of the Company, and indirectly
owned more than 30% equity interests in CCRE. Therefore,
the abovementioned transaction constituted connected
transaction of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 31 March 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the Year, the Group has entered into the following continuing
connected transactions (other than continuing connected
transactions that are fully exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules):

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On May 13, 2021, a trademark licensing agreement (the “Trademark
Licensing Agreement”) was entered into between CCRE and our
Company, pursuant to which CCRE agreed to grant to the Group the
right to use certain trademarks of the CCRE Group registered in the
PRC and Hong Kong (the “Licensed Trademarks”) for the Group’s
business operations and investment activities, as well as the right to
sub-lease the Licensed Trademarks to third parties solely for the
purpose of business operation of the Group. The Trademark
Licensing Agreement has a term of ten years commencing from the
Listing, unless otherwise terminated by both parties. Neither CCRE
nor the Group has the right to unilaterally terminate the Trademark
Licensing Agreement. Pursuant to the Trademark Licensing
Agreement, the licensing fee payable by the Group to CCRE from
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Listing onwards will be: (1) for the first three years: RMB15 million
per year; (2) for the fourth to sixth year: RMB20 million per year; and
(3) for the seventh to tenth year: RMB25 million per year. Such
licensing fee will be calculated on a pro-rated basis for less than an
entire calendar year.

The annual cap for the licensing fee for the Year was RMB15 million.

For the Year, the licensing fees payable by the Group under the
Trademark Licensing Agreement amounted to RMB15 million.

Property Management Services Framework Agreement

On May 13, 2021, our Company and Central China New Life Limited
entered into a property management services framework agreement
(the “Property Management Services Framework Agreement”)
for a term commencing from Listing to December 31, 2023, pursuant
to which Central China New Life Limited shall provide property
management services at the Group’s place of business and
headquarter in Zhengzhou and other branch offices (the “Property
Management Services”) to the Group. The Property Management
Services Framework Agreement was agreed upon on normal
commercial terms after arm’s length negotiations, and the property
management fees were determined based on the (i) number, nature,
category and location of the properties; (ii) GFA of the properties; (iii)
rate generally offered by Central China New Life to Independent
Third Parties in respect of comparable services; (iv) anticipated staff
costs of Central China New Life; and (v) prevailing market prices for
comparable services by obtaining quotations from at least two
Independent Third Parties for the provision of similar services to
determinate if the terms offered by Central China New Life are fair
and reasonable and comparable to those offered by Independent
Third Parties. With respect to each property, the relevant members
of Central China New Life and the Group will further enter into an
individual separate agreement that prescribes the specific terms and
conditions of each property.

The annual cap for the property management services for the Year
was RMB4.0 million.

For the Year, the service fees payable by the Group under the
Property Management Services Framework Agreement amounted to
approximately RMBO0.4 million.
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As at the dates of these agreements and up to the date of this
report, Mr. Wu Po Sum is the controlling shareholder of the
Company, and indirectly owned more than 30% equity interests in
CCRE and Central China New Life Limited. Therefore, the
abovementioned transactions also constitute the continuing
connected transactions of the Company. Details of these
agreements are set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 18
May 2021.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the above-
mentioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
such continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there were not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they were
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favorable to the
Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions for the Year in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the connected
transaction and continuing connected transactions as disclosed
above, none of these related party transactions is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2023
which would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial
performance as of the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and
motivate talented individuals to contribute to the success of the
business. The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

BB 5 R 5

AEERAFEEBBREPETHERBE TR
S BEEN R MR 24 B EXRE
MEER S RFERBER S ZERB TS
BHARE FTRAUZUAERE MARFE
BT EMRAFMAEIRENRERE

HREHESR

HZEARREBH - 1R2023F12A318 2 & f s
FEFNEAFTESAAKENLE LW BERER
EEERTE-

BE - HESBEARQTLHES

E-10.4

el

RAFE FARRAEANBAREERE .
HERMEEMAR AN EHES (BEHEE
TR o

BriEEE

ERANKHAEHRERRANELEEHELEE
AR

EHEFHAEANBERER#R

ARAREPTAERRAEFEARRRZSMF
BHEARBRRRERR

HrEM KSR
AEEZ HFMEREERS] RBRABMES &
ZBAREBRIEHER R EERE 2 H

BRI BEFHEESRERE 2 WE R NEE
N HIRT R BB

115



K CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED - FFZ2EFRAT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regards to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) pursuant to the MPF Schemes Ordinance for all its
employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to consolidated income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as of 31 December 2023.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the
applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in a state managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific percentage of their
payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions. During the reporting period, the
total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and costs
charged to the consolidated income statement represent contribution
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed level of public float during the Year and
up to 24 January 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report as required under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to RMB Nil (2022: RMB1,000,000).
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MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

For the Year, the Company was not involved in any litigation,
arbitration or claims of material importance and there was no
litigation or claim of material importance which was known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened by or against the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report at pages 51 to 81 of
this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the Annual
Results, including the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and discussed auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters with the
management as well as reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

AUDITORS

KPMG resigned as auditor of the Company with effect from 26
March 2024. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as
auditor of the Company with effect from 6 May 2024 and resigned
with effect from 27 September 2024. Prism Hong Kong Limited was
appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 15 October
2024.

By order of the board

Wu Po Sum

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9 January 2025
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%@ Prism

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Central China Management Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Central
China Management Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 125 to 234, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in
the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements on 20 March 2023.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition
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Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(s).

BRI E MR E3R M AT 1(s) BB ET B
The Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ET AR EZSBE

The Group is principally engaged in the
provision of project management services in
Henan and other provinces in the People’s
Republic of China. Revenue from the Fr:
provision of project management services for

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition arising from the
provision of project management services included the following:

HFIptiR it EHERERBMELNRARRNETZFR2EATE

the year ended 31 December 2023 totalled .

RMB468.4 million (2022: RMB605.7 million).
EEBEERPEARLMBETmE REA
Bt EiREFEHENERS - # Z=2023F
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evaluating the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over the revenue recognition on provision of
project management services;
AERUEEFHERZRB B AERNBERE AL ZEFNORT B
NETHMILE:

inspecting project management service contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify key terms and conditions relating to the provision
of project management services and assessing the Group’s
revenue recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
MEREFMERERBAR URTEHEHEMERKEZRBA
R BRIGETR MG Y2 ERTETERNNERTE EEENH
WARERB R
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B3R BEh R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition

LN+

FARESEE )

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(s).

FRHATE M EIRRAT AR M T 1(s) B B EFIBE °

The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMHETMAEEZEE

The Group’s project management services
cover the life cycle of the project development
covering the project research and approval,
design and planning, construction, sales and
after-sales stages. Project management
service fee income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated service
period. The service period typically ranges
from three years to five years.
EEENEHERERBREEAFAENE
BB BFE AR REL Rt RRE
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REPRBENTF=FEHF-

For project management contracts that
contain incentive fees based on the future
sales performance, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount. We
identified revenue recognition as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and is
significant to the consolidated financial
statements, both of which give rise to an
inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
revenue recognition.
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obtaining and inspecting underlying documentation in respect of
revenue recognised, on a sample basis, which included signed
project management service contracts, project development plans,
progress reports, project construction permits and pre-sale permits,
the formal confirmation regarding incentive fees (if applicable),
invoices and bank-in slips and assessing the business substance of
the underlying transactions and whether the related revenue had
been recognised in accordance with the Group’s revenue
recognition policies;
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conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to development projects
in progress under the Group’s management and discussing with the
seconded project managers as well as the customers’ management
to observe the development progress of the projects with reference
to the project developing plan and assess the estimated service
period;

Y ESEEEEMNERBRETHEEMZER  WHEERER K2
REFPEBEETNW 2RIBEMBTEFNEEENRABEEES
I A FEET AR TS R

obtaining confirmations, on a sample basis, to confirm the receipt of
payment by customers during the year and receipt of payments and
payment period accumulated up to reporting date; for unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures by comparing
details with contracts, bank-in slips and other underlying project
related documentation; and
MERESEREURRFAWI TS NRE Rt ERE B AN
FUE R FE R ARRONERSE BB RFAEREAR
IRITHFEREMIE R HEER X ETHEBRATEREF &

assessing the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
completion progress and revenue from provision of project
management services.

AHERT B TCEE MR B E KBRS EL W AN BKE LR -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

B R BEh R &

- HBEEARASFERENREERIEL
SRHERT AR EN S -

- HEERARBLLOERNREEE
s - RIBFIERNESEE BESS
FEEFBEXNBRNEBNEATEE L
femARe s EXENFELEREN
ELXBEARB - MRERMBR/EFEEATDT
BEMN AV EEZBMBETRERE
REIBGAVBRTOEAEE RS
BRNEETR RIHMARERRIFER
BEA BMNERSERZHEN®RE R
IEFABVS R RET/RE - AW > RERFIHANB
MR BEREETREFELE -

- FHESAUBHRERNBEINHRSA &EE
MAR BREREE AMGEMBHREES
TERRZZHHMER-

- B BEEREANERIEBEDNUBKER
ERRR EENERR UEHGEEH
BHREREA-HMEE ESKEREG
MR BEEMATT - LI RES B RARE

EHEE-

BREMEREN RMREFZES BB TN
BHEHE BRRE BEXBFRRAS BER
FIFEZR AT AP a8 Al th P B 22 1l 0 12 ] R KBRFA -

BFEREFZESRREN FARMEHA
BRBIMEMABERERER YRS
BARABMRABRETERMBIENRE
FARMEMEIR - LA RHR B R BB P
RERTTEI KB B8 e (BER) ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB S

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HEEHAZESERNETET KK EMLE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit EHAHGAMERENBAZAEE  HmE
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and Ak 848 2 51 25 78 o ¥ {1945 4% SRl R & o sl 15 L
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in =18 B IEAR A B TN A AR W EE L EE
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public  skE&IRFE R AVIER T R A 2 TEHHE T I3k
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare EHEBEREEHEEXNEAZRBBEBEENA
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be  FHIz  BFPRE TN EERE R ERZEE-
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent HAABY ZEMBENETEHEARARS

auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun. I i

Prism Hong Kong Limited BEEMEEMERAR
Certified Public Accountants HEEEAD

Lee Kwok Lun =)

Practising Certificate Number: P06294 HMEFBEZRES - P06294
Hong Kong BB

9 January 2025 20251 H9H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
HeERaR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

2023 2022(Note)
20235 20224 (W)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
K e AR%T AR T T

Revenue WA & 468,377 605,679
Other income H Al A 4 73,888 35,565
Personnel cost ABKAR 5(b) (112,217) (123,069)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 7 & M # 45 52 5(d) (14,148) (18,827)
Other operating expenses H &M (58,575) (58,671)
Impairment losses on trade and B 5 I H b FE WK IE AN

other receivables and contract assets BHEERRBEREIE 5(c), 22(a) (111,529) (36,633)
Finance costs & A AR 5(a) (347) (211)
Share of loss of an associate JE (5 — Bt = A Bl B 1E 12 (477) (271)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—EEE QR 2k 12 2,247 =
Profit before taxation RR B A 3% A 5 247,219 403,562
Income tax FriS it 6 (45,982) (99,662)
Profit for the year FERA 201,237 303,900
Attributable to: LA BEAL :
Equity shareholders of the Company PIN/NSIE 25 198,571 303,900
Non-controlling interests FEE R M = 2,666 =
Profit for the year FERA 201,237 303,900
Earnings per share BRER 9
— Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) — &REARZF (ARES) 5.59 9.25
— Diluted earnings per share — EREERF (ARES)

(RMB cents) 5.59 9.25

K - AEBEERBEE S ERE125E (BFTX)
WEFILLBE R o — FFHE LM FE1(c)() °

Note: The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12 and comparative
information is restated. Further details see Note 1(c)(i).

FE133E24 B MM B AN SRR — 35 e
B F P ) FE ) AR A B o AR BRR A A9 AR B A
BT EE21(b) °

The notes on pages 133 to 234 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note
21(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AEREEAMZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B 22023F12H31H IFFZ (AARK3IE)

2023 2022(Note)
20235 20224 (W)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT
Profit for the year FERY 201,237 303,900
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEHM2E (BAX) Wi
for the year (after tax and (RBREREFH S BHEH
reclassification adjustments) HEE)
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEN DR B AE -
profit or loss:
Equity investments at fair value through other 122 FE A L2 E R 2
comprehensive income — net movement BRARE — RN FEGEER
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) (“hrTsE(e]) 2 B85 EE (3,383) (3,182)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently — FIGEREZ EF 7 I E a1
to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation of T E G NS B A B B 7 Rk Y
financial statements of overseas MEH ZER
subsidiaries 2,332 3,607
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEHMRE (FAX) K
_fortheyear o RN 425
Total comprehensive income for the year HE2HEURFLLEE 200,186 304,325
Attributable to: AR PEAh
Equity shareholders of the Company EN/NEIL g 197,520 304,325
Non-controlling interests FEEAR A 2,666 =
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHEW=ZAE 200,186 304,325

Note: The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12 and comparative
information is restated. Further details see Note 1(c)(i).

The notes on pages 133 to 234 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FaRBIRRAE

At 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

R2023%12A31H (UAR#2){E)

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2023 2022(Note)
2023%F 20224 (M)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Fz3 AR¥T T ARET T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment property and property, WEMERYE  BEREE
plant and equipment 10 11,682 12,027
Intangible assets EmEE 10 1,252 5,585
Interest in an associate A — B & A R AR 2 12 = 2,230
Other financial assets Htom&E 13 1,511 4,894
Deferred tax assets RIEFIEE E 20(b) 28,485 17,934
42,930 42,670
Current assets REEE
Contract assets EHNEE 14(a) 125,343 425,028
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b FE YRR 15 1,121,515 661,121
Cash and cash equivalents ReARECEED 16 1,835,783 1,564,617
e 3,082,641 . 2,650,766
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 & E b e 58 17 300,361 116,201
Contract liabilities BHEE 14(b) 309,936 291,968
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 3,846 2,462
Current taxation BIEATR 18 20(a) 88,198 104,234
e 702,341 514865
Netcurrentassets === "BXER&®E 2,380,300 2,135,901
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBARS 2,423,230 2,178,571
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A, 3
FaMBERKAR
At 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2023F 125310 (UAREZE)

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2023 2022(Nete)
2023%F 20224 (M)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR%T AREET T
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 4,000 636
Deferred tax liability EERIEA R 20(b) 15 143
4,015 779
NET ASSETS BEEFH 2,419,215 2,177,792
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R 1
Share capital A& A 21(a) 30,614 26,990
Reserves fE 21(d) 2,385,935 2,150,802
Total equity attributable to equity AAEERRREGERARE
shareholders of the Company 2,416,549 2,177,792
Non-controlling interests FEERR R A 2,666 =
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 2,419,215 2,177,792

Note: The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12 and comparative
information is restated. Further details see Note 1(c)(i).

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 9

January 2025.
Wu Po Sum
[iREE
Chairman and non-executive director
FERIHTESE

The notes on pages 133 to 234 form part of these financial
statements.
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Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEREER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F12F31H IEFIE (UARKESE)

Atributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KAARERREL
Other  Statutory Fair value Non-

Share Share  Treasury capital reserve  Exchange reseve  Retained controlling

capital ~ premium shares reserve fund  reserves (non-ecycling) profits Total interests  Total equity
i AVERE

Ra  REER  BRRE  EAEE  MERRE  ERRR  (FUER)  REEH gt FEBRE  REAE
Notss RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'0O0  RMBI00D RME'000 RMB'000
fE ARBTn  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTr ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

(Note21) ote 1)) (Note 2 Note 21(c)i) (Note 24 hote 21
(Hite) (el (B2ne))) (Kane)n) () (He)y)
Balance at 1 January 2023 HNBEIRIANES 26990 18,229 (6,408) 131,450 242,993 3,528 (3182 1534192 2177792 - 21717192
Changes in equity for 2023: ABERERE:
Proftfor he year EREA - - - - - - - B 1985M 2,666 01297
Other comprehensive income Ef2EkE - - - - - 232 (3,389) - (1,051) - (1,051)
Total comprehensive income EhnEE - - - - - 2332 (3383 198571 197,520 2,666 200,186
Cancellaton ofrepurchased shares HHEORA 2M(a)li) (63) (6:349) 6,408 - - - - - - - -
Issug of ordinary shares BEER 2103)f) 3092 242 - - - - - - W - 733
Restricted shares issued under share BERDEBHHEH
award scheme RERE i) 595 - - (595) - - - - - - -
Dividends declared nrespect of BREEERRRENRS
the previous year 21) - - - - - - - (68,554) (88,554) - (88,554)
Divdends declared nrespect of KERERERENRE
th curentyear 21t - - - - - - o (e (12488 S ()
Equity setfled share-based payment WREESIRAA
BRI 19 - - - T4 - - - - T34 - 134
Balance at 31 December 2023 HABENENANER 30614 486,122 - 138,196 242,993 5,860 (6,565) 1519329 2,416,549 2,666 2419215

The notes on pages 133 to 234 form part of these financial £133E234 B MM sEiEXN ANF WMz —3 5 o

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AeEEREER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22023F12A31H 1IFFE (KA RKESE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARTERRFER
Fair value
Share Share Treasury  Other capital Statutory ~ Exchange reserve Retained
capital premium shares reserve  reserve fund reserves  (non-recycling) profits Total
At ATRREE
ke BAEE  ERRH 0 EARE  AeRRe EXRE  (FUEE) Bl &t
Notes RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
Wit ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Note 21(3) (Note (i)~ (Note () (Note 2} (Mot 21(ci) - (Note 21(cy)
(HE21(a) (Bane) (Baanen) (HEae)) (BEane) (Bzaiep)
Balance at 31 December 2021 RONE12ENBNER 21,035 518,675 (6,950) 130,438 223,295 (19) - A5 2319629
Impact on infial application of HREREAEHE
amendments to HKAS 12 AV ACHY S - - - - - - - (566) (566)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2022 R2022E1A1R %
HEL S 21,035 518,675 (6,950) 130,438 223,295 (19) - 1426849 2319063
Changes in equity for 2022: NNFREEY:
Proft forthe year ERER - - - - - - - 303900 303900
Other comprehensive income AeAks - - - - - 3,607 (3,182) - 425
Total comprehensive income 2ENHEE - - - - - 3607 (3182 303900 304325
Cancellation of repurchased shares = #EEIR () (45) (6,905) 6,950 - - - - - -
Purchase of own shares EERARA o)) - - (6.408) - - - - - (6:408)
Appropriation fo statutory resenve fund - EEZ TR ES 21o)fi) - - - - 19,698 - - (19,698) -
Dividends approved in respectof e BAEEEHEDRS
previous year 21b) - (263,541) - - - - - - (263,541)
Dividends declared in respectofthe ~ AEEERERENRS
current year 21(b) - - - - - - - (176,659) (176,659)
Equity setled share-based payment ~ DAREEE MR A
... S S S S . S S S S S
Balance at 31 December 2022 RN2E12EN B IER 26,990 248229 (6,408) 131,450 242,993 3528 (3182 1534192 2471192

The notes on pages 133 to 234 form part of these financial 2513322348 WM B AN SRR m — 200 °
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FERERER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2023F 12310 IFF/E (UARKESIE)

2023 2(022(Note)
20235 20224 (W)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
K e AR®T T AR T T
Operating activities KEEE
Cash generated from operations KEMMSIRS 16(b) 444,910 185,946
Tax paid BRI 20(a) (72,697) (51,449)
Net cash generated from RETEFBELSESE
emselbg eelbides Lol Ll
Investing activities RETH
Payment for the purchase of BEYZE BWERRED
property, plant and equipment (N 10 (51) (1,020)
Disposal of items of property, HEWE - BERZEBEE
plant and equipment 556 =
Payment for the purchase of BEEEFEENNR
intangible assets - (7,555)
Repayment from related parties RaHE 7 B - 1,600
Advances to third parties ME=TF K (698,325) (428,530)
Repayment from loan to third parties BEF=FTEX 380,000 320,742
Interest received 2 Y F B 61,229 17,864
Netcash used in investing activities REZBAAREFE (256,59M) (96,899)
Financing activities Bl & EE
Proceeds from issuance of BT EBRATSIE
ordinary shares 21(a) 247,330 -
Repurchase of own shares BoE s KH = (6,408)
Dividend paid ERARE 21(b) (88,554) (440,200)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERENE LTS 16(c) (5,206) (5,574)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEREHNFEIT D 16(c) (347) (211)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEEFFHABE S FHE 153,223 (452,393)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FEREeRnER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22023F12H31H IFFZ (AARK3IE)

2023 2022(Note)
20234 20224 (i)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ft et ARBTR ARETE

Net increase/decrease in cash and BERBRESEEYEM

cash equivalents WD RE 268,845 (414,795)
Cash and cash equivalents at MA1ENEREER

1 January REZEY 16(a) 1,564,617 1,975,806
Effect of foreign exchange rate INNEEZSENWHLE

changes 2,321 3,606
Cash and cash equivalents at M2A3MBANEER

31 December HEEEY 16(a) 1,835,783 1,564,617

Note: The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12 and comparative  ff:t: NEBE B E B E B S ER| 5125 (EFTA) »
information is restated. Further details see Note 1(c)(i). W E DB E K - — 2 FE 1B R KT EE1(c)() °

The notes on pages 133 to 234 form part of these financial Z133%E234E WM FFEK AR EmETM —=5 ©
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Central China Management Company Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 October 2020, as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Act’). Its principal place of business is at
Room 7701A, 77th Floor, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin
Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong and has its registered office at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 31 May 2021 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of project management services in Henan
and other provinces in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2023F 12318 IFF/E (UARKEZIE)

RRZEZFBRAR ([RARRBERSE
EAEBE22F (A RE) (19614 F35% 7%
Bl 447 RI1EET) ([RAEE])H20205
10A22R EREFESTMK Y A —FER
RERAF -EEXZLEMEMREEN
N tTABEA - REREREZIESITE
7701A = « H 7 it #% £ & 7 1 Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ° A" 2 7] i& 15 70202145 A 31 H
([EmBE)EEBHERSMERAA
([BRFTl)EREM - ARG REMBEAR
Al(AEIAER])EEZRPEARIEAM
Bl ([HRE]) e REMERIEERER
HER R

BEAEFHE
(a) EHEH

BB MR RE A EAE S
B A ([ EBE IR ))
(HSEBREEARHAAR (55
GHEAE)) B2 F A E R B
BIE B 1 RS8R BA G SRR
((EAEEA]) RRE)REBA
G OB B R b S B S 4R
ENHAEABARBFARAA
BH EmRA(TEmRA) 23 A
WE G AR BRA 2 EATHE
HIA TR -

BEGMAGCBMETRAE
EARgtHEERERHAHRER
RANKER 2B BMBHREER]-
M) AR B RERZFETE
EMERSFAERESER  BRAIE
FIRASTHHARAEEERYD
RZEHRA M BRE AR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R ¥R R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22023F12H31H IFFZ (AARK3IE)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

134

Basis of preparation and functional and
presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) and the
Group’s interest in an associate. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
rounded to the nearest thousand except as otherwise
indicated, while the Company’s functional currency is the
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

— other investments in securities (see note 1(f)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

EXEFEER @

(b)

MREERINER2FEH

B £2023F12A3MH L FERERE
BEBREEARARENE QA
(G AEE]) RASE R — HH
ERAIMNES - FRRBERIN KA
MBREAARE (TARE]) 25
YA BERZANTE MARF
I e RET (B -

RUBBREA RN RIER
EemALe fTHAATES
52 BERE BRI

— EH#EHRE (RMFEIE)) -

MENEBBMBERE LN
EHEREEBHRLAIZERRE
AMEE ABE WARAXZ2HE
BEHIE - B MRR - ZFEER
HEARKXIDERAEERRBER
BRABLTEBAENZHEMEAE
MBERERIMEARZETAER
HERRKEMBSGELENEER
BERAEMNHEEE BRNER
A RE R Bt F EE R o

ZEF M RERRREFERE
SR ERTEBRIEREFLERN
HE SRz HEER MET#
EFMECRKEE AERIEHRER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation and functional and
presentation currency (Continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

(i) New and amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and
amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting
period:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Making materiality judgements:
Disclosure of accounting policies

. Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model
rules

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

1 EXE

B ZE2023F 12318 IFF/E (UARKEZIE)

aHBUR (@)

(b) WMREERDERZIER (B)

B

EEEREAT VG HREERR

FE R I R B ERF E A
PA Ko 5| BUfl 5 T HEE #O = 2 R

it

R EE2 »

(c) EFHEREH

(i)

AT RAEIEET BB B E
Al

AEEEKBEGAM RS HE
R AT 5] RSB RT BB
BHREEEARAEHIME
H)AE B B S S

- BAAUBHEELF7
5% RERE A

- BREERER HF
WKz 2 REBHBER
FEA BB FE2F (12
FTAR) - fEH B A G -
BRI KE

.  BHETFERESHE (8
RIAR)  BABR  BEE
AT B ER BA AT
B E 2

. BB ST ERFE125% (&
RIAN) TS B FEIE
MNE— S REMEA

. EEeiEA5125% (&
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HYEE IR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22023F12A31H 1IFFE (KA RKESE)

1

136

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

New and amended HKFRSs (Contfinued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
new and amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

HKFRS 17, which replaces HKFRS 4, sets out the
recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure requirements applicable to issuers of
insurance contracts. The standard does not have a
material impact on these financial statements as
the Group does not have contracts within the scope
of HKFRS 17.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

The amendments require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information and provide
guidance on applying the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosure. The Group has
revisited the accounting policy information it has
been dislosing and considered it is consistent with
the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(i)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs (Contfinued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

The amendments provide further guidance on the
distinction between changes in accounting policies
and changes in accounting estimates. The
amendments do not have a material impact on
these financial statements as the Group’s approach
in distinguishing changes in accounting policies
and changes in accounting estimates is consistent
with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

The amendments introduce a temporary mandatory
exception from deferred tax accounting for the
income tax arising from tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development
(“OECD”) (income tax arising from such tax laws is
hereafter referred to as “Pillar Two income taxes”),
including tax laws that implement qualified
domestic minimum top-up taxes described in those
rules. The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements about such tax including the
estimated tax exposure to Pillar Two income taxes.
The amendments are immediately effective upon
issuance and require retrospective application. The
Group provided the additional disclosures in note

6(a)(v).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EXETHER®)
(Continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (c) EFFTBEREH (&)
(i) New and amended HKFRSs (Continued) (i) FETREISETEBHBFHREE
R (%)
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred BB EFERIE 129 (55T
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a K) - BiEH - BE-—XGE
single transaction EREER B EB R ELR
15
The amendments narrow the scope of the initial ZEERT AT V12 R
recognition exemption such that it does not apply EREE - FEAEABRINP
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting MRANEFEEREHEKZE
temporary differences on initial recognition such as HEHR S WHEREREEGE-
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases HEERRRAGBMNS - HEH
and decommissioning liabilities, the associated BEFREEERABEERME
deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to be I ) % 5 bt B AR ) 7 0 R R -
recognised from the beginning of the earliest AR ERZ B ERER
comparative period presented, with any cumulative B2 2 7 ok e 2 EL At 4B X 20 0 Y
effect recognised as an adjustment to retained AR -BAEEMRZ ST S 5%
earnings or other components of equity at that ZRITRNERANAZE5&HFH
date. For all other transactions, the amendments MR BEENZERS
are applied to those transactions that occur after
the beginning of the earliest period presented.
The following table summarises the impact of TR E B g 5T 4RI 551258
amendments to HKAS 12 on the consolidated (1B3T7R) ¥2022412 A31 B 47
financial position as at 31 December 2022. EUMBEARREENTZE -
The amount The effect The amount
before of the after
adjustment adjustment adjustment
FARRET FAREK AR
Epfek:c] CfZ Epfea:c]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREF T ARBTIT
Deferred tax assets BIETRIA B E 17,934 - 17,934
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIAE B - 143 143
Reserves e 2,150,945 (143) 2,150,802

There is no impact on the Company’s financial

position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MIGHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EXEEER®
(Continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (c) EBFTBERE® (&)
(i) New and amended HKFRSs (Continued) (i) FETREISETEBHBFHREE
R (%)
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred BEBFERIFE 1255 (15T
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a K)  BifEH - BE-—XGE
single transaction (Continued) EREEREERFHNELER
IH (&)
The following table summarises the impact of TR B A S &5 AR E125%
amendments to HKAS 12 on the consolidated ({BETAR) ¥ &, 2202212 A 31
statement of profit or loss and consolidated BItFEHFaEERKEKAE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive mMEMEERERATE-

income for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The amount The effect The amount
before of the after
adjustment adjustment adjustment
FHEEH] FEEHERK FEE &
okt 0f-7% ekt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT ARET T
Income tax FriS %t (100,085) 423 (99,662)
Profit for the year FE 303,477 423 303,900
Attributable to: LA FE4h
Equity shareholders of the 7K/ &4 25 i% 5
Company 303,477 423 303,900
Total comprehensive FEXEKEETE
income for the year 303,902 423 304,325
Attributable to: LATR pEAh -
Equity shareholders of the 7N &l 25 A% R
Company 303,902 423 304,325
There is no impact on the Company’s financial BMESAARNPBEEEE
performance. TE-
There is no impact on the Group’s and the MEHSAEERARATNERS
Company'’s cash flows. MEEETE-
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF — LSP
offsetting mechanism

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF — LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides
guidance on the accounting considerations relating
to the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the
mechanism.

The Group has assessed the implications of this
new guidance on the above accounting policies
and the guidance does not has a material impact
on how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented in these consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date on
which control commences until the date on which control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 1(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate (see note

1(e)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(k)(ii)).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including participation
in the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 1(k)(ii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the period are recognised in the
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note 1(k)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of
how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 22(c). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 1(s)(iii)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

— FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Other investments in securities (Continued)

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but
may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. If
such an election is made for a particular
investment, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(s)(ii).

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note
1(j)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
provision for any impairment (see note 1(k)(ii)) in value.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over
the expected useful life of five years.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Investment property (Continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(k)(ii)).

— Items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying properties
(see note 1(j)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Properties leased for own use Over the lease terms

— Motor vehicles 4 years
— Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years
— Leasehold improvements 1 to 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

1)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 1(k)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

— Software 2 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As alessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components and
accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO TH

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(i)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and plus any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 1(h) and 1(k)(ii)).

The Group presents right-of-use assets in
“Investment property and property, plant and
equipment” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has
taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other receivables); and

contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
note 1(1)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof;

variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of
ECLs that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO TH

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued), the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in
which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on
the financial instrument assessed at the reporting
date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continueqd)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 1(s)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EXETHER®)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (k) EEEEREEREGE)
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and () ZRTAREHNEEELZE
contract assets (Continued) EE#E(E)
Write-off policy MEEE R
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, TREE HERKFKIENXE
lease receivable or contract asset is written off A& 2= R BR E A2 (B 70 I & AT i
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is BN ERATREERE DS
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally Wi - AEEBEEETEES
the case when the Group determines that the AV EAEAZEREMREE
debtor does not have assets or sources of income I SE BN IR B9 B B SRR
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay TRE - ETTHEE o
the amounts subject to the write-off.
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was 55 BT S B 2 B 18 B U B R UK
previously written off are recognised as a reversal EHEEBEETERERER
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which [8] o
the recovery occurs.
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (i) HEmEEERE

156

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

— investment property;

— intangible assets;

— interest in an associate; and

— investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EXE:THER @)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (k) EEEEREEREGE)

(i) BMERBEERE ()

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would
at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(k)(i)
and (ii)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 1(s)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set
out in note 1(k)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see note 1(m)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1)

(m)

(n)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(s)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

1(s)(iii)).
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 1(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 1(k)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(k)(i).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC
and the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options and share awards
granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options and
share awards were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options and share
awards, the total estimated fair value of the options
and share awards is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the
options and share awards will vest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(q)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Equity-settled share-based payments
(Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior year is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Project management service fee income

Project management service fee income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated service period.

Variable consideration

For project management contracts that contain
variable consideration based on the future sales
performance of the project, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Project management service fee income
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer. The Group is an agent if
its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not
control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Dividend income
Dividend income from unlisted investments is

recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

(t)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 1(k)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserves.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

@)

has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statement are evaluated continually and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results.

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

1 EXETHER®)

(w) ZEH®E
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2 EETFIEREE
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2

172

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Note 22 contains information about the assumption and their
risk factors relating to financial instruments. Other key sources
of significant estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Credit loss for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Credit losses for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are determined based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected credit loss rates. The
Group adjusts judgement in making the assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting periods.

Variable consideration

Variable consideration comprises base management
fees based on pre-agreed milestones and incentive fees
that the Group may earn by meeting the conditions set
out in the Group’s project management service contracts
with customers. The estimated amount of variable
consideration will be included in the transaction price
only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The
Group considers whether the amount of variable
consideration is constrained based on its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and the
current economic conditions.

BT HIER R 4G ()
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are provision of

project management services.

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from contracts with customers is as
follows:

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

3 WARDEBEHE
(a) WA

AEENEEXBREHREHENR
AR -

(i) EBFEFEEHPRAUT :

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Revenue from contracts with BRE BB HREEA
customers within the scope of 51555 &1 B I BE i R 7R 52
HKFRS15 and recognised over NEFEHWA
time
— Provision of project management — 2= i E KR 2 AR
services 468,377 605,679

The Group’s customer base is diversified and
includes no customer with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from provision of project
management services

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated notional
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts is RMB2,146,122,000
(2022: RMB2,872,847,000). The Group will
recognise the expected revenue from project
management service contracts in future by
measuring the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation, during
the estimated project management service period
which typically ranges from three years to five
years.

AEBNEFEHZ T X E
HEMEPNRZEBLARKE
WA HI10% °

KRERHEEHERRBRBELK
AFRRIR B & 7R

(ii)

7R2023F12H318 DB EAR
EEREBEANETHRTELD
EAENRGERBEBLED T
BARMK2146,122,0007C
(20224 : A R#2,872,847,000
T0) o NEE R EET R EE RS
HBENF=4ZHF)A"
BRTETHBLOEETNEE
RARERRERTEE LHTE
E N
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

174

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from provision of project
management services (Continueqd)

The above amount does not include any amounts
of incentive fee that the Group may earn in the
future by meeting the conditions set out in the
Group’s project management service contracts with
customers, unless at the reporting date it is highly
probable that the Group will satisfy the conditions
for earning those bonuses.

(b) Segment reporting

(i)

(ii)

Services from which reportable segments
derive their revenue

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment
performance is more focused on the Group as a
whole, as all of the Group’s activities are
considered to be primarily dependent on the
performance on project management service.
Resources are allocated based on what is
beneficial for the Group in enhancing its project
management service activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only
one operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.

Geographical information

No geographical information is shown as the
revenue and profit from operations of the Group is
all derived from activities in the PRC and all of its
non-current assets were located in the PRC.

3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER INCOME

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

4 HilgA
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Interest income on financial assets

HHIENATTENEREERN

measured at amortised cost F B Uz A 61,229 25,085
Government grants BT B & 12,174 9,404
Others HAh 485 1,076

73,388 35,565

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: B 75 AT 3% R T AR HNBR A TR I8 3= B
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETT

(@) Finance costs

Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(c))

(@) BERA

HEREBEZHE

(Kia£16(c)) 347 211
(b) Personnel cost (b) ABHEAE
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITEKREMER 95,607 113,165

Contributions to defined contribution

FUE SRR IR

retirement plan 9,269 8,892
Equity settled share-based payment VAR # 45 S LARR 1 /3 BB &Y
expenses (note 19) R (FfzE19) 7,341 1,012
112,217 123,069
Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to AEEFEBARMNESESEAEH
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes which AT & 2R 2 & 3 /) TE 38t R IR &
are administered and operated by the local municipal BB R Al Rz st Bl RIA R E B AR
government. The PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are REMNREES MASEHASBILE
calculated on certain percentage of the average employee HHENREILAEEHF2H FHEE—
salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the EWBEDLEE

scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

The Group also participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s and employee’s contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on 5% of the relevant income of the
relevant employee (up to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000) and in accordance with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and related
regulations.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with these schemes beyond the
annual contributions described above.

(c) Impairment losses on trade and other receivables
and contract assets

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables and
contract assets of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 are set out as follows:

FRELA SR (&)

AEBNRAAESERBLRENEDRE
mAERTERFTE ([REERFE]) AL
B N & B $ R & a1 81 2 R0 1% iR 58
RGO RERRINER R
EHEBES ZHBALRA(BAMEBRAL
PR 330,000/ 7T ) B95% &t & °

B b E I AREY EEMH
S EZEFFEEEORAREBNNERR
Fo

(c) ESRHMEURENSHNEEDW
BB S 18

7N £ [H & £20234F 2022412 A 31
BIEFENE S K HE M ERZKIEBEM
BHEERREEBEBZIWT

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Impairment losses on A EE
— trade receivables — & 5 WA 95,096 17,287
— contract assets —AHNEE 12,972 12,166
— other receivables — H {th el 5k18 3,461 7,180
111,529 36,633
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M IR R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5 BR#ANER 2
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR¥T ARBTTT
(d) Other items (d) HfEHE
Depreciation charge EMZ 10
— investment property and — REWMERME
property, plant and equipment WEREE (e
(excluding right-of-use FEEAEEE)
assets) 4,292 7,510
— right-of-use assets — EREEE 5,523 7,219
9,815 14,729
Amortisation cost of intangible T & EE RO SH R AN
assets 10 4,333 4,098
Auditor’s remuneration ZERT B &
— assurance services — EBZRS 4,780 2,200
— non-assurance services — IEEF IR = 144
4,780 2,344
6 INCOME TAX 6 Fiie
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (@) #HEBERERABNTMIEAS:
represents:
2023 2022(Note)
20234 20224 (M)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTTT
Current tax BRERBL1E
PRC Corporate Income Tax A1 FTIS AR (iv) 56,661 79,861
Withholding tax A (iii) = 28,000
Deferred tax IR IE
Origination and reversal of ERERcELERED
temporary differences (10,679) (8,199)

45,982 99,662
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (Continued)

Note:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12 and
comparative information is restated. Further details see
Note 1(c)(i).

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Island and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is
calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for one subsidiary
of the group which is a qualifying corporation under the
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated at the same
basis in 2022.

Withholding taxes are levied on the Company’s subsidiary
in Hong Kong in respect of dividend distributions arising
from profit of PRC subsidiaries earned after 1 January
2008 and interest on inter-company balance received by
the Hong Kong subsidiary from PRC subsidiaries levied
at 5%.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of PRC and
the respective regulations of Hainan Free Trade Port,
except for Zhongyuan Central China (Hainan)
Management Services Limited Company, which enjoys a
preferential income tax rate of 15% during the year, the
other subsidiaries which operate in mainland China are
subject to Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a statutory
rate of 25%.

6 Fis#H@

(a)

RAEBERANRER: (&)

Hfat

(0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

AEBEEABEGEAIFE12
S (EFTA) M EILLBRE R -
#— A EIE R M EE1(c)) °

REFEHEREEERREEH
MBI R ARG NEEEANF S A
ERRBHERRBSHMNEME
5

2023F BB M B HBAE TIRF AL
5T FE 5% B i A1 £916.5% (20224 :
16.5% )5t & EAREE — B A
AR AN - 2z KT B A B A FI 15 R AR
HTHEERAR -

HZMBEARMS B528 8Bk
% Bt 7 128.25% B REF - &R
T JE RR i i F1)4216.5% B R o
AN NG R b
2022 R AR B AT E o

HARBREBRME R R+ R
BB A 772200841 A1 H 14 Bk EX &9
BEHEENREDRERESHE A
A B F BB A R A A B 4
BREYFI BAR5% BT F

REBEPBRECEMSTERERSE R
BAREBENEBER RPRER
(BR)ERRBER ARG BF
EZBEBEMRFHE15% AN R
B A AR B KPS A R AR
25% M)A TE TR BN E TS
(TEEMED) -
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6 INCOME TAX (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

v)

The Group incorporated a holding entity in Hong Kong,
which has recently enacted new tax laws to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the OECD. The
new tax laws take effect from 1 January 2025. When
these laws take effect, the Group expects to be subject to
a new top-up tax in Hong Kong in relation to its operations
in Mainland China, where the additional tax deductions in
connection with government support would result in an
effective tax rate of lower than 15%. As the new tax laws
are not yet effective, the Group does not expect any
current tax impact for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil). The Group has applied the temporary
mandatory exception from deferred tax accounting for the
top-up tax and would account for the tax as current tax
when incurred (see Note 1(c)(i)).

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates:

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M IR R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

6 Fis#H@

(a) SEBRRANRER: (&)

Hiat: (4&)

(v) AEBERESZEMAS—FEZEK
B EAROEMGHEEL UE
MEAS A MR A AE (R Y S — R B AR A
L H2025F1 1B R EM &
ZEFRER ASEEHERE
FR B A ZE RS AR B S O BT N -
i £2 B 5 4% B 8 BA M SR SN TE R
1B E R B REA15% o R
MEMKRES AEEBHEHES
2023F12A3MBIEFETS X E|E
o B B B 18 57 £ (20224F : &) o A&
SEERMMFEERARERES
TEENERRTMERE  WER
= HE T AN A TE B G EL A BR 51| /E BN H7
18 (RFE1(C)(i)) °

MERXBZERRXFEN S
i F B B ER A0 -

(b)

2023 2(022(Note)

20234 20224 ()

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Profit before taxation B 351 Al i A 247,219 403,562

Notional tax on profit before taxation, & 5l | 89 & = Fi 58 -

calculated at the rates applicable to RERREERERER

profits in the jurisdictions concerned i A B B R 5T & 38,540 69,172

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1~ A] 175 f &2 (9 7 75 5 22 7,442 2,490

Withholding tax TEF - 28,000

Income tax expense FTisBiA X 45,982 99,662

Note: The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12 and

comparative information is restated. Further details see
Note 1(c)(i).

i AEBEEAEESIHENFE2
% (EEA) L BIILBRAR

#— B R ME1(C)i) °
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7 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7 EERESTHRAETHH

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

RIBEEE R R RHIZE383(1) & K2 AR B
F2M(BEEHRESNEZZEMREL
EERERSTTRABFHMNAT :

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as

follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement ~ Share-based
Director’s  and benefits Discretionary scheme payments 2023
fee in kind bonuses* contributions (note 19) Total
DN ]
1% 28 BAGHE  ERHAR 2023
2023 2023% Ezpe REWEN e & B (Hit19) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT AR%TT AR%ETT AR%ETr AR%Tx
Chairman and non- TERFHTES
executive director
Mr. Wu Po Sum HEREE 2,714 - - - - 2,714
Chief executive ERTHAR
Mr. Wang Jun (i) TE() - 1,130 247 70 1,222 2,669
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Hu Bing kL E - 1,954 70 86 1,200 3,310
Mr. Chen Aiguo (i) BRE B 2 (i) - 443 - ~ - 443
Mr. Duan Juwei (i) BRIEBLE() - 443 - - = 443
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (i) S £ A (i) - 167 - 13 = 180
Non-executive director ~ F#H/TEZS
Ms. Wu Wallis (i) HER L (i)
(alias Li Hua) 235 - - - 720 955
Independent non- BUEHTES
executive directors
Mr. Zhu Baoguo (iv) KRB (v) 217 - - - = 217
Mr. Xu Ying RBEE 217 - - - - 217
Mr. Siu Chi Hung () BEEMEEW) 217 - - - = 217
3,600 4,137 37 169 3,142 11,365
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2023F 12318 IFF/E (UARKEZIE)

7 EERESITTBRAELEM =)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Share-based
Director's  and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments 2022
fee in kind bonuses  contributions (note 19) Total
PARR (5
T4 =28 RINEHE EREMR 2022
2022 20224 E=H0E  REWET HiEES xR (Kfz£19) Wt
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT ARETRT AR®ETR
Chairmanandnon- EEREHUTES
executive director
Mr. Wu Po Sum BRAREE 2,545 - - - - 2,545
Executive directors  H{TESE
Mr. Hu Bing TR E = 1,108 1,500 36 = 2,644
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (i) SR 7T A (i) - 2,000 898 36 - 2,934
Non-executive FHTES
director
Ms. Wu Wallis (i) PR (i)
(alias Li Hua) 221 - - - - 221
Independent non- BIFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Zhu Baoguo (iv) RIREIL A (iv) 204 - - - = 204
Mr. Xu Ying rELE 204 - - - - 204
Mr.SiuChiHung(v)  BHHELEW) 204 - - - - 204
3,378 3,108 2,398 72 - 8,956

(i) Mr. Wang Jun was appointed as chief executive officer of the

(ii)

(vi)

Company with effect from 9 January 2023.

Mr. Ma Xiaoteng resigned as an executive director and chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 9 January
2023. Mr. Chen Aiguo and Mr. Duan Juwei were appointed as
the executive directors of the Company with effect from 9
January 2023.

Ms. Wu Wallis resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 14 June 2024.

Mr. Zhu Baoguo resigned as an independent non-executive
director with effect from 10 October 2024.

Mr. Siu Chi Hung retired as an independent non-executive
director with effect from 30 May 2024.

Mr. Liu Dianchen and Ms. Yan Yingchun were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company with effect
from 31 May 2024 and 27 December 2024 respectively.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

ITEARERZERARRBRERITE B
20231 H9H AN -

EBERBLLERTIARRNITESHEE
HITE  B2023F1 HOH AW - R E K
EENBERAELCDEZEAARR TR
TEE - B2023F1H9RBER -

FELLEERARFENTESR 52024
F6H14B BER

RRBEEAEBEBIIFNTES 52024
F10A10H AR -

B LEREBYIERNITES 52024
F5H30H ALK -

AREEENBRERLIRZERLR

RIBMIERNITES 9 hl 5202455431
H %2024F12 A27H £ £ R0 -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

* The discretionary bonus is determined by the Board of Directors
based on the Group’s performance for each financial year.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
both years.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022:
two) are directors and one is chief executive whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other two (2022: three)
individuals are as follows:

7

EERESTHRARHM @)

* HEReHESERRAEESMEEF
ERRBAEE

RAEFERBEEMNEESRESTRAR
PR FA B RE T FH B Bk

REE A L

T A LTHMAE AL (20224 :
MB)BEER —BERSTHRAS 2
T % B2 A B 527 - B BE &R N W B (20224 :
=R) ANTHFHMERENT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 284 & B ¥ Al 3,011 4,213
Discretionary bonuses B RE 324 1,578
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET 2R 233 71
Share-based payments VA RR 1 7 EE R 89 15 50 1,680 57
5,248 5,919

The emoluments of these three (2022: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

=4 (2022F : =& ) &= 3 B A £ &9 37 B
BRATEE:

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000

1,000,001;% 7T 21,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001/% 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001 7T 22,500,000 7T
2,500,001;% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001 7T 23,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 7T, 24,000,000/ 7T

2023 2022
20235 20224
= 1

1 1

= 1

1 —

2 3
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE 9 HBREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) EREXREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year HE2023F12A3MB EFEFRKRE
ended 31 December 2023 is based on the profit REFMDERRNEERR B =K
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of R FE G s A A K #196,355,0007T
RMB196,355,000 (2022 (Restated): RMB303,900,000) (2022 (43&3I|) - AR#303,900,000
after adjusting to reflect the cash dividends distributed to T0) (A HR % DA I B [R)20234F % 17 52
holders of unvested restricted shares under 2023 Share BB ETAGEXREKROFEAR
Award Scheme, and the weighted average of ADERRIRESRE) KB BEITL @R
3,511,422,120 ordinary shares (2022: 3,286,297,643 #0904 F 9 03,511,422, 120 (2022
ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as £ :3,286,297,643[% ) 5t E T EMAT :
follows:
Earnings, basic &2F - BXK
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETT

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 7K /A &4z %5 3% 51 & 15 % 7

of the Company 198,571 303,900
Less: Cash dividends distributed to W AR IR20234F ik ) 22 B ET 2l

holders of unvested restricted shares  [AIREB SR FIRMDEHAE A

under 2023 Share Award Scheme IREERIR SRR B (2,216) -

Adjusted profit attributable to equity AR EER TR A 84

shareholders of the Company, BN AR = IR R R4 i A
used in the basic earnings
per share calculation 196,355 303,900
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, basic: TR NME T8 B
2023 2022
20234 20224
At 1 January ®1A18 3,282,662,120 3,289,706,120
Effect of ordinary shares issued BETTERNTE 228,760,000 =
Effect of shares repurchased f% 17 Bl B B 22 £ - (3,408,477)

3,511,422,120 3,286,297,643
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 9
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b)

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the calculation
of diluted earnings per share were based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB198,571,000 and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 3,537,801,572 shares, after adjusting
by the potential dilutive effect of 2023 Share Award
Scheme, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, diluted:

BRER 2

BREFRER

FREERNTEBHEETEIN
B E BN P BIABRRAA &
EHELTRRCEBRMTE-

H E2023F12A31H It F & Gk #
SER R TR IR A QA 7] 25 AR E (L
st A1l A R #198,571,0007T & 3 8 A%
DO I 15 243,537,801,5720% (4L %
2023 IR BEFTEI M EEH E R
BIR)FTEWNT

BAERNE 8 #5:

2023
2023

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares, basic
Dilutive effect of 2023 Share Award

Scheme (Note 19(c)) (Kt7E£19(c))

Rl RSl GE- YN

3,511,422,120

2023F [ fn ZEETEI MR &

26,379,452

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares, diluted

BRI TR #E

3,537,801,572

As the declared high cash dividend distribution plan
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and the 2023
Share Award Scheme have an anti-diluting effect, the
2023 Share Award Scheme was ignored in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share. Therefore, the
diluted earnings per share and basic earnings per share
are the same for the year ended 31 December 2023.

There was no dilutive potential ordinary shares
outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2022.
Therefore, the diluted earnings per share and basic
earnings per share are the same for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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HRNE £2023F 128318 ILFE T
K = 2838 & I8 B A 9 IR 5T 2 %2023
Fm BT EIAA REERE R
T E GRS R FIR20234F ik ) 2
Bhat 24 28K - i 2£2023F12 531
BILFEE SRESBENERNERE
REF o

# £20229F 128318 1k F [ #f & 3
TEIMBEE ST AR ALt &
F2022F12A31B L FE FRES
BHNENESREARRF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

10 REVERYE - BERERE
UREREE

(a) REVMERME - BERKERE

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment

property and property, plant and equipment B Z ¥R
Properties Furniture,
leased for Motor  fixtures and Leasehold  Investment
own use Vehicles equipment improvements property Total
BAK B BE BEME
BEM= "E  RERRE % REMF @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR AR%®Tn ARETR ARET:
Cost KA
At 1 January 2022 1202261 A1A 22,287 6,183 6,085 18,318 - 52,873
Additions NE 2,599 286 106 639 2,925 6,555
Disposals HE (8,961) - (82) - - (9,043)
At 31 December 2022 142022 12A31H 15,925 6,469 6,109 18,957 2,925 50,385
Additions E 9,954 10 41 - - 10,005
Disposals L& (4,015) = 27) = = (4,042)
Exchange differences ~ EXE%E 134 = 1 = = 135
At31December2023  H2BFI2ANA (L ALk o2 .. L O 2055 .48
Accumulated ZIHE:
depreciation:
At 1 January 2022 12022%1 A1H (14,035) (3,431) (4,636) (10,559) - (32,661)
Charge for the year FEXH (7,219) (1,389) (845) (5,032) (244) (14,729)
Written back on L ERRE
disposals 8,961 - 71 - - 9,032
At 31 December 2022 142022 12A31H (12,293) (4,820) (5,410) (15,591) (244) (38,358)
Charge for the year EEYH (5,523) (895) (424) 2417) (556) (9,815)
Written back on LEREE
disposals 3,486 - 10 - 3,496
Exchange differences X =5 (130) - (1) = (124)
At31December2023 RABFI2ANA _(14460) (6718 (5825 (18001) (B00) . (aag0r)
Net book value: RERE:
At31December 2023 12023F12A31H 7,538 764 299 956 2,125 11,682
At31December2022 120226124318 3,632 1,649 699 3,366 2,681 12,027
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10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,

(b)

10 REMERYE - BENRRE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE (#&)
ASSETS (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (b) FERAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of the Group’s right- AEENFEREEEREIFEIN
of-use assets is as follows: e
2023 2022
20235 20224F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR® T AR®T T
Properties leased for own use, ZTEXAFIEEH 2
carried at depreciated cost HEMEE (i) 7,538 3,632

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

REZEAERNESHBHIER

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: AHTAT :
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Depreciation charge of CRAEEENEER:
right-of-use assets:
Properties leased for own use BRMEEYE 5,523 7,219
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) FE&EZFE (K:t5(a)) 347 211
Expense relating to short-term leases  SEHHEMNHEBE S H 819 1,023

During the year ended 31 December 2023, additions to
right-of-use assets were RMB9,954,000 (2022:
RMB2,599,000). This amount included the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities and the future cash outflows
arising from leases that are not yet commenced are set
out in notes 16(c) and 18, respectively.

(i) Properties leased for own use

The Group has leased a number of properties as
its office and employee dormitory through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years. Some leases include an
option to renew the lease and all terms should be
renegotiated towards the end of the lease term.
None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.
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#H Z=2023F12A8318 It FE - F B #E
BENE B AR 54,0007 (2022
& A R#2 599,0007T) © 3% 7% E 5+
AFBEEHZE FNEN ZERNEHE

B

HEMBRenHAE HEAENE
HESTUARRARBZEHEEE
ZARRBE ML Z7F1E D B &R K
#£16(c) 218 °

() EBERAWHEEYF
AEEBEERAMEREEES
TYMEERPRAEREERS -
VIR EHE BT R2ESF - &
THESENRHEEH MR TH
WHEBHBERMEGRREENR
EfmEENHBE -MAEHEE
BB #EE MR
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10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY, 10 REBEVERWME - BERRE
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE (%)
ASSETS (continued)

(c) Intangible assets (c) BEEE
Software
g4
RMB’000
AREBT T
Cost: AN
At 1 January 2022 72022118 15,746
Additions NE 55
At31December2022 . R2022F12R31R 1o
Additions NE -
At31December2023 . F2028F12A31A LU
Accumulated amortisation: E-Sg: §f
At 1 January 2022 7202241 A1H (6,118)
Charge for the year FEXH (4,098)
At31December2022 . R2022%1283A (19,215)
Charge for the year FESMH (4,333)
At31December2023 ~  2028%12A3A (14,549)
Net book value: BRIEFHEE:
At 31 December 2023 72023F12 431H 1,252
At 31 December 2022 72022F12 A431H 5,585
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particular of subsidiaries
which principally affects the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2023. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless otherwise stated.

11 RBATINIIRE

TREFHIN2023F12831A HAEE X

BBEEXRRERE

oh B2 488
Cil 7%

GOlIEEPNCIRYCS

FERBERIN RN BL SRR

Proportion of
ownership interest

FREREERLLH
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
oF it BR 32 K% = it ) =NV =) PN
DA LR REM R BREEX X -] BE FEXEK
Henan Zhongyuan The PRC RMB800,000,000/ - 100% Project
Central China RMB350,000,000 management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
AR REEMT ) AR - 100% [EihE
BERARAA 800,000,0007T, RER®
AR
350,000,0007T
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB10,000,000/ - 100% Project
China (Hainan) - management
Management services
Services Co., Ltd.
mREX(EE)EE HH AR - 100% FEiE
REER AR 10,000,0007T, KRR
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Anyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREXE(ZB)ET PEH AR¥ - 70% FEiHiE
ERARAA REZR

5,000,0007T,
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11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 11 HRBEATMNIRE 2

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRERERLLH
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
o AR 3L B o i K% B4 F] FA Fff B A &
DA ERE KR BEEX EEE] BE IEER
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Puyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mRER CEB)HT  HE AR - 70% EHiE
ERARANA 5,000,0007T, RIERT
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Shanggqiu) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREXR(BDIET HE AR - 70% FihE
BERARANA 5,000,0007T, RER®
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Xuchang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREX(FE)ET PE AR - 70% FEHLE
BERER QT 5,000,000z, AR 75
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Zhumadian) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
hREX(EFE) X AR¥ - 70% FEHiE
WHBERARAR 5,000,0007T,” REERS
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

11 RBATINIIRE &)

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRERERLLH
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
o AR 3L B o i K% B4 F] FA Fff B A &
DA ERE KR BEEX =X ] BE IEER
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Zhoukou) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mREX(AR)HT HE AR - 70% EHiE
ERARANA 5,000,0007T, RIERT
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Luoyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mREXCRB)EH PE AR - 70% FihE
BERARANA 5,000,0007T, RER®
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Xinyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREX(EBR)EH  PE AR - 70% FEHLE
BERER QT 5,000,000z, AR 75
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Nanyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mREXE(BE)ET  PE ARM - 70% FEHiE
HRERAF 5,000,0007T,” RER®
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2023F 12318 IFF/E (UARKEZIE)

11 RBATIMNIIRE &)

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRERERLLH
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
A L & o i K% B4 F] FA Fff B A &
DA ERE KR BEEX =X ] BE IEEX
Yichuan Jianbang The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
Management = management
Services Co., Ltd. services
FINFEHER®ER  PE AR - 70% EiiE
BRAA] 5,000,0007T, RERS
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB10,000,000/ - 65% Project
China (Shaanxi) — management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
hREE (BRAE)HT HE AR - 65% FEihE
ERARANA 10,000,0007T,/ RER®
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Shanxi) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREX(LA)EH  PE AR - 70% FEiE
ERARANA 5,000,0007T, RER®
Zhongyuan Central The PRC RMB 10,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Pingdingshan) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
hREE (FIAWL) [ AR - 70% FEIHLE
HERARAR 10,000,0007T, AR 7S
Note: et :

The above subsidiaries are PRC limited liability companies. These
official names of the entities are in Chinese. The English names are
translated by management only for the purpose of these financial
statements as no English names have been registered or available.

BB AREATEAERRIA -ZERRNE
FEBRAX - RXEHDEREERIBHREK
EeE %S R E WAL ARE M
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

12 R—ME QRIS

The following list contains an associate of the Group, which is TERESAEEN —HEEQR (AL

an unlisted corporate entity, whose quoted market price is not

available:

MEEER) HMEMELTARF:

Effective interest
held by the Group

AEERFEENERER
Date and
place of Registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Principal
Name of company establishment capital As at 31 December activities
AL R
AR ER FX 3L A H R ith B BRER M12A31H FTEEHK
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Biyang Jianheng Real 12 September RMB20,000,000/ - 20% Property
Estate Development 2019 RMB20,000,000 development
Co., Ltd The PRC
(“Biyang Jianheng”)
A5 32218 5 M 2= 7 B 2019F9H12H AR - 20% FEHERZE
BRAF a2 20,000,0007T,
(M#EsEE]) AR
20,000,0007T
Note: Ktz
The entity is a PRC limited liability company. The official name of the % FRE—HEERAR - ZEREEHBEAF
entity is in Chinese. The English name is for identification purpose 3 XA TEEM E%%}E'zl

only.
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12 R—REBEQTINEZS 2

The associate mentioned above is accounted for using the XAt e B R R AR ER RS B
equity method in the consolidated financial statements. i E PN
The information of the associate is as below: e NRIMEEET
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AREET T
Carrying amount of the associate in BE ARRGEHBRRN
the consolidated financial statements EREE - 2,230
Amounts of the Group’s share of the AEBREEBEATUATEEN
associate’s &%
Loss from continuing operations REFEK AT 2 EE 477 271
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wk - -
Total comprehensive loss ZHEBIEEE 477 271

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group

B E2023F12A31B L F - AEB [ —

disposed of all of interest in Biyang Jianheng to an BEVE=ZFHENGRENEHDER -
independent third party for a consideration of RMB4,000,000. KRB B AR E4,000,0007T - RIBEE R Z
The gain on disposal is recognised in profit or loss as follow: HEKEDT
RMB’000
ARBT T
Consideration RE 4,000
Carrying amount of the 20% investment on REREATENE H20% K E ZREAE
the date of loss of significant influence (1,753)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—AE ARz WS 2,247
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13 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 13 HitemEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFIT
Investment in unlisted securities RAEMEEHKE (i) 1,511 4,894
Note: Kt -

(i) The Group’s investment in unlisted securities represented an
investment in a private equity fund. The Group designated the
unlisted securities at FVOCI (non-recycling), as it does not
intend to held for trading and not expect to dispose of this
investment in the foreseeable future.

14 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 14
LIABILITIES

(@) Contract assets

() AEERREMESFHRERR —BL
SREESHNRE - AEEEELZSFRL
mREFRATFEFARZE (TAIEE) -
EAETHFEEE BRHARNA R RK
TEHEZKE -

AHNEERSHER

(@) AHEE

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Contract assets EREE

Project management service B ERERE

125,343 425,028

All of contract assets are expected to be recovered
within one year.
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14 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

14 ENEERSHEE®)

(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHAE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Contract liabilities EHNERE
Project management service 5 Hb 2 R AR T
— Billings in advance of performance ~ — BB 49BR X 309,936 291,968
Movements in contract liabilities BHEEEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T
At 1 January R1A1H 291,968 393,249
Decrease in contract liabilities as a BREVFTAEGHEEDN
result of recognising revenue during FARAZBENEHNEE
the year that was included in the VRS
contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year (110,108) (273,783)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result F 2 A B & i 2= A 2 E 18
of billing in advance of project IREEBRESHENEE
management service K& 58 128,076 172,502
At 31 December M12H31H 309,936 291,968

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of billings in
advance of performance and advance payments
received expected to be recognised as income after
more than one year is RMB204,878,000 (2022:
RMB153,852,000). All of the other contract liabilities are
expected to be recognised as income within one year.

M2023%12 8318  FBHAE R —F %
BRAWARE WE LR KIE R TE
W5 AAR®E204,878,0007T
(20224 : A R #:153,852,0007T) ° &
TEMAIBEANEBERE —FARKE
RBAUN o
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15 ESZREMEYFRIE
2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR T ARETFIT
Trade debtors and bills receivable & 5 & Y7018 & & W 2= 1% 396,496 194,160
Less: allowance for credit losses  J& : {E & BB & (134,042) (38,756)

Trade debtors and bills receivable, & 5 & ¢ 318 K fE W Z 1%

net of loss allowance (MkREEREE) (a) 262,454 155,404
Amounts due from related parties  [& Y B8 5t 5 7B 24(c) 4,419 30,761
Other debtors H fth fE Y 3K IE (b) 840,441 466,540
Financial assets measured at REHEA AT ENEREE
__amortisedeost . RN 652,705
Deposits and prepayments & RIEN IR 14,201 8,416

1,121,515 661,121
Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free W@ A RIESAERAR 2R AE
and have no fixed terms of payment. The details of which are TE AT SRERRR o 5 B ST 5E24(c) °

set out in note 24(c).

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be BB E S REMERKBERE —FA
recovered or recognised as expense within one year or on W el ERBFAZHIRERERER-
demand.
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade debtors and bills receivable, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2023F 12318 IFF/E (UARKEZIE)

15 EZREMEBWRIA )

(a)

AR oA

BERSHR RIFFZ A HRME
BiEREER EHRUHENERE
BZEREDTAT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREFIT

Within 6 months 61E A A 192,505 122,463
6 months to 1 year 618 A =14 61,016 16,324
Over 1 year HBiE1F 8,933 16,617
262,454 155,404

Trade debtors and bills receivable are due when the
receivables are recognised. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 22(a).

Other debtors

As at 31 December 2023, other debtors mainly
represented advances to third parties of
RMB747,953,000 (2022: RMB428,530,000) which are
interest bearing at rates ranging from 10% to 14% (2022:
14%) per annum, unsecured and expected to be
recovered within one year.

(b)

g 5 R WA M EREBR N ERE
WHIRRZIH - BEAKEEERRE
MEZRERRFBRBURBEEL 2
EERRCE - TFBHNME
22(a) °

Hfl B R IE

MN2023512A318 - Hfb et 8 =
Z A5 =B R ARKET747,953,000
gL (20224 : A K %428,530,000
TL) C RBRIEFFEN F10% =
14% (20224 : 14% )T B B HE &
TEHAR — & UL [el -
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

198

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

16 RERALSHEURAMRSR

EEIU\

(a) RERBESEB/EYEE :

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents in the REMBRRARREEE S
consolidated statement of financial MEXRFNRe KRS
position and in the consolidated cash % {B%)
flow statement 1,835,783 1,564,617

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

(b) BRBANGRELEEHELE RS

generated from operations: ZHER
2023 2022
2023F 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
&t AR®T ARBT T
Operating activities REEH
Profit before taxation B A5 Al i A1 247,219 403,562
Adjustments for: THE
Depreciation and amortisation 7 & [ # 4 5(c) 14,148 18,827
Interest income A EHBA 4 (61,229) (25,085)
Equity settled share-based VAR #2845 B LARR 0 B E TR Y
payment expenses B 5(b) 7,341 1,012
Share of loss of an associate &5 — FEHf & A R E 18 12 477 271
Gain on disposal of e — R g QR 2 K
an associate 12 (2,247) -
Gain on disposal of items of HEWE - BEKZBEIEAEE
property, plant and equipment  Z Jz% (10) -
Finance costs A& Pk AR 5(a) 347 211
Changes in working capital: LEEREE):
Decrease/(increase) in contract & L& ER L (1 HN)
assets 299,685 (124,528)
(Increase)/decrease in trade B 5 K& H b e Y FRIE
and other receivables (gm) R (138,069) 17,515
Increase/(decrease) in trade B 5 M E b FE T 5/IE
and other payables #n Cmd) 59,280 (4,558)
Increase/(decrease) in contract & #J & E& 01, O )
liabilities 17,968 (101,281)
Cash generated from KEMBRE
operations 444910 185,946
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16 RERBAEFEVREMBLR

E2EE %)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MEITBEEZEBZHIER
activities

TRHAMINETREEHELEZ AR
EIEEZ%@J(’E%E%&%@%%

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities By MEETHELE L BEREEE
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash REMEL LI K Xiﬁi = 1R
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash REBZGEBRERERTLESR
flow statement as cash flows from financing activities. BMEEHELECRERECAG-

Lease
liabilities
HEaE
RMB’000
AREET T
At1January2022  M2022f¢4B18 6,073
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREELENEE:
Capital element of lease rentals paid EEERSH ézli*ﬁ’ﬁ (5,574)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSHFEHD (211)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ @ERen=¥eEes (5,785)
Other Changes: Hip g :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into REATLHMEEMEEANEEGE
new leases during the year 0 2,599
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) MBEFX (Hfzt5(a)) 211
Totalotherchanges . .. Ate#E®e® 2810
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ~ R2022F12R31HN2023F1818 3,098
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREELENEE:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEE fﬂ’i*ﬂ’]éﬁ*ﬁﬁ (5,206)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEHSHNFEH D (347)
Total changes from financing cash flows =~~~ B&EReRERDESE (8,553).
Other Changes: H{h &5
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into REATZLHEEMEEANHEERE
new leases during the year 0 9,954
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) FEF (HfaE5(a)) 347
Totalotherchanges ... HAGE®@®E 10,301
At 31 December 2023 7"2023F12831H 7,846
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BE

16

17

200

F2023F12A31H IFFE (KA REZIE)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases

(d)

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases
comprise the following:

16 RMERFALZEYREMBEER
EER@

(d)

HENRER L

REEHARSRERNS

FEUOR :

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Within operating cash flows RNELBESREN 431 1,678
Within financing cash flows REERSREA 5,553 5,785
5,984 7,463
These amounts relate to the following: ZERFEENNEE AR
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBFT
Lease rentals paid BENHERS 5,984 7,463
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 17 EZNRHMEBEMNRKIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥T T ARET T
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< BB B 75 SRR 24(c) 43,874 35,658
Dividend payables FERT AR B 124,880 =
Other creditors and accrued Ha et IBE R ERTE A
charges 131,607 80,543
300,361 116,201
Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free JFE {<F B B fé’\léii%?ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ B HAE
and payable on demand, the details of which are set out in BRESKEE  HFBEN M FE24(c) °
note 24(c).
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled B8 5 kH A FER %5’\ BIEE R

within one year or on demand.

—FRNEE

HILBRER
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18 LEASE LIABILITIES 18 HES&SE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRINTAEBEHEBBHEHE L EH
of the Group’s lease liabilities: EP
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
2023%12831H 2022%F12A31H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REAE REASE RIEHAE RIEHEE
TREE TRRBE NRERE IR AR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR ARBTT ARETRT
Within 1 year 1F AN 3,846 4,107 2,462 2,532
After 1 year but within —FRERMFEA
2 years 3,395 3,497 636 653
After 2 years but within MEFEZRERAFAN
5 years 605 609 - -
e eeeeieeeieeeeo . e 000 106 6836 S 653
7,846 8,213 3,098 3,185
Less: total future interest  J& : AR ZE A 85I 52
expenses HaFE (367) (87)
Present value of lease HEBERE
liabilities 7,846 3,098
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19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTION

(@) Share options scheme

(i)

202

Share options granted on 12 June 2018

On 12 June 2018, CCRE conditionally granted
3,000,000 share options to Group’s key
management, for services provided to the Group.
The exercise price is HK$4.296 per share. The
share option scheme was effective from 12 June
2018. Under the share option schemes, no share
option is vested within first year from the date of
grant. 20% of the share options are vested within
the second year from the date of grant and 40% of
the share options are vested in each of the third
and fourth year from the date of grant. Each option
gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share of CCRE. All the options granted will
be exercisable within 10 years after grant date.

The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference to
the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the share options
granted is measured based on a binomial lattice
model. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model. Expectations of
early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
lattice model.

Fair value of share options and assumption

Fair value at measurement date HK$1.566
Share price HK$4.290
Exercise price HK$4.296
Expected volatility 45%
Option life 10 years
Expected dividends 3%
Risk-free interest rate 2.92%

19 DRESEURGHAERNRS

BRRESTE
() H20184%6 512 AEH ZER

#

201856 8128 - ¥ HEHR
FBHERAEEETEEEASR
fig 14 5% 3,000,00017 BE A% 4 -
LA 52 B [A) 78 55 B 42 i A AR 75 o
f& B 12 17 56 (8 /54.2967%8 It ©
BERRAERT 210 20184E6 A 128 #E
FE A - IR BB ERT S B
REBHEE —FRLEREB
AR - NI B B #E 58
T ERNERE20% K B IR R
REBHEEF=FELFNFEAN
BFEREEA0% - F0 B IRER
FTHEAEFRE —REEH
ELERK -2 ERE
HraREEBHE SR T
1TfE -

P LA R BR 9% 1) B8 i HE T 2 AR 7%
MRFEL2EMRELERE
ZAFEFE--FAEHBRE
MR E[ETIIER ZHEAH
ERAUTE-BRESOFH
FEURA R AER—RE AR
BoRATEMEHE &AL
ZIRA B AR

BRI N ER K

RetE2 A2 AF(E 1.566/5 7T

AR (B4 4.29075 7T
1I{EERE 429675 7T
TEHR R 45%
HE N e A H 104
TEHARR B & 3%
4 [ B 1) == 2.92%
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19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 19 URELFEURBHEENRS
TRANSACTION (continued) (%)
(a) Share options scheme (Continued) (a) EERRESTEI(E)

(i) The number and the weighted average exercise (i) BEHERLERENZER
price of share options granted by CCRE are as IEFGITEEUT :
follows:

2023 2022
20235 2022

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
¥ BRE 19 e
fTiEfE gE 176 fE HE

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Outstanding at 1 January ~ FMA18 #ATTE 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000

Granted during the year RAFER L - = = -
Exercised during the year ~ RAAF Z1T{F - - = =
Lapsed during the year RAFF R - - = =

Outstanding at 31 December 7128318 i@ R 17{& 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000
Exercisable at 31 December 7128318 A T LA7T{E 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000
The options outstanding at 31 December 2023 had 720235124318 1 RITHEH
a weighted average exercise price of HK$4.30 BikE HmETraTEEs
(2022: HK$4.30) and a weighted average 4.307% 7t (20224 : 4.30/% 7T )
remaining contractual life of 4.45 years (2022: 5.45 KNI FER & K0 F R 24.45
years). F (20224 : 5.45%F ) »
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19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

204

19 DRESEURGHAERNRS

TRANSACTION (continued) (#)
(b) 2021 Share Award Scheme (b) 2021 F 7B &
On 21 December 2020, CCRE, the then parent company 2020128218 AEE E A&
of the Group, announced the share award scheme to NEI R E AR RZEE S W)
grant restricted shares to its employees, which was HEERTRAERKRE UZERE
subject to such employees’ acceptance. The share BX R - IR MH RENET 880 B BUF H
award scheme will be valid and effective for a period of BT F (12021F & H ZEIETE]) -
10 years (the “2021 Share award scheme”).
During January and February 2021, 30 employees of the R20215F18 K28 A& B K305 &
Group accepted the share award and subscribed an BEEMRKRMNDERH LREE L
aggregate of 21,300,000 restricted shares at total 21,300,000/% & il 14 I = - R (E #58
consideration of HK$61,054,500. The restricted shares 7361,054,5007% T ° [R il 14 A% 52 78 LA
are subject to service and performance vesting Pl 75 70 5% 3R /5 55 188 164 - AL FR20% %
conditions, with 20% of the granted shares vested every FTHROEARAFNERTHE
year on and after the first anniversary of the grant date E—EBEERECEGFHE-
during the next five years.
Movements in the number of outstanding 2021 Share i AR AT E2021F Rk (0 22 B A &) 2k B
Award Scheme are as follows: 2B
2023 2022
20235 20224F
Number of Number of
restricted restricted
share units share units
PR il 14 PR 14
=358 e
At 1 January M1A18 10,800,000 20,700,000
Vested and transferred during the year RAFECHERDE & (2,220,000) (4,140,000)
Lapsed and cancelled during the year RN E R BMANBUE - (5,760,000)
At 31 December ®12H31H 8,580,000 10,800,000
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19 DRESEURGHAERNRS

TRANSACTION (Continued) (#&)
(c) 2023 Share Award Scheme (c) 2023 FpR7 BTl
On 29 May 2023, the Board of directors of the Company MR2023F5H29H AR R EEEH
resolved to award an aggregate of 65,500,000 restricted RAZREREG HI5BEE D EE
shares (the “2023 Share Award Scheme”) at nil 25 B) & $£65,500,0008% [R #I 14 I =
consideration to a total of 15 employee participants, (F2023F Ml RENFH &) - BIE
pursuant to the 2023 Share Award Scheme, which was 20234 I fn £2EDET &l - AR AR AR
subject to the approval of the shareholders of the R e% B H#HEfE - 20234 J (7 42 Eh =t &
Company at that date. The 2023 Share Award Scheme M2023F8 A7 H E A A 7] IR KA
was adopted and approved by the shareholders of the L
Company on 7 August 2023.
The restricted shares are subject to service and RBEEREZRE RRIREB IR
performance vesting conditions, with 30%, 30% and 40% FIRR-RARKR=ZFRN BFH AR
of the granted shares vested every year on and after the 2023F5H29H R —AFE A k2 &
first anniversary of the date of 29 May 2023 during the 57/E30%30% N40% HE R H A
next three years, respectively.
The fair value of awarded shares on the grant date is RIR BB B 75 3R &5 2 A 55255k L AR 17
determined by reference to the closing price of the REBEE T RENR X H B E
underlying ordinary shares on the date of grant, taking WAABEDZ2EMHE S ERNE
into account the terms and conditions upon which the W HEBRNKTEEE  IEEIR LR
awarded shares were granted, in accordance with BN AR (0 B G R R AR
HKFRS 2, Share-based payment.
Movements in the number of outstanding 2023 Share i R 1T {20234 I 19 S B 51 £ 20 B
Award Scheme are as follows: BB
2023
20234
Number of
restricted
share units
PR il 14
RE 5
At 1 January MR1A1H -
Granted during the year RAFER T 65,500,000
Vested and transferred during the year REAFEELHFBRDER -
Lapsed and cancelled during the year RN F [ R EUH -
At 31 December #12A318 65,500,000
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20

206

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

20 HFEMBRRRPHOAEH

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) FREMBMRRFKPZEEBIIERE -

financial position represents:

Total

Azt

RMB’000

ARBTT

At 1 January 2022 7R2022F1 51H 47,822
Charged to profit or loss (note 6(a)) BEENR (ffiF6@a)) 107,861
Tax paid BAHIE (51,449)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 1202212 A31H &2023%F1 818 104,234
Charged to profit or loss (note 6(a)) B85 Ak (f77t6(a)) 56,661
Tax paid [EENE2E (72,697)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12431H 88,198
2023 2022

2023F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Representing: 2W|ER:

Current taxation BN EA 5 18 88,198 104,234
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 FERBRRTAPOMEH 2
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (b) ERIAELEHBEERERE
(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax () EBEHESEREREESTH
assets and liabilities 25
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ERERIEEE/ (BB)HBHR
recognised in the consolidated statement of FaMBRARANER KR
financial position and the movements during the FRZEBHWOT:
year are as follows:
Credit loss Lease  Right-of-use
allowance liabilities assets Total
FEBRRE HERE - HRAREE M@t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETE ARBTR
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A18 10,158 - - 10,158
Impact on initial application ~ E X ERE B & ER
of amendments to F12% (BETA) /)
HKAS 12 (Note 1(c)(i)) 2 ([ffz1(c)i) - 1,518 (2,084) (566)
At 1 January 2022 (restated)  %2022F1H1H
(1EE5) 10,158 1,518 (2,084) 9,502
Credited/(charged) to profit 5T A8,/ (GEHER
or loss (Note 6(a)) k) (Kiit6(a)) 7,776 (744) 1,167 8,199
At31 December 2022and 12022127318 &
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 17,934 774 (917) 17,791
Credited/(charged) to profit s A/ (BEZEA
or loss (Note 6(z)) B (Ki6() 10,551 368 (240) 10,679
At 31 December 2023 $2023F12A31H 28,485 1,142 (1,157) 28,470
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20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position

FEEMBRRRPOFAEHR @

(b)

CRBELEHEEERKE(E)

(i) HEHMBERRKRZEHR

2023 2022(Note)

20234 20224 (i)

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Representing: 2|E\A :

Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE B 28,485 17,934
Deferred tax liabilities FLERIBEE (15) (143)

28,470 17,791

Note: The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 12
and comparative information is restated. Further
details see Note 1(c)(i).

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

As at 31 December 2023, taxable temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,430,272,000 (2022:
RMB1,210,168,000). No deferred tax liability was
recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has determined that it is probable that
these will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

208

(c)

KiiE: AEBEERABEBGRE
BIZE125% (BRI AR) - W&
DI ER - E—PFER
B 51 (c)(i)

RERWBELEBIRAE -

20235128318 » E27K A &) & B ff}
BREARD K aFEBEHERSTEY
=% 5 AR #1,430,272,0007T
(20224 : AR ¥1,210,168,0007T) °
I % ok 3 9 R 52 E R B O ) AR R
MR EEREECREAE BAN
NGIEE E Rt oy = NGl RSN 6
BARBBRE A BARKRA A #E

N8 DK% E A o
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

21 BX - ERIRER

(a) Share Capital (a) B
As at 31 December
MW2A31H
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE K- ] 2B T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised share capital EERAR
(Note (i) (KiaE@)) 10,000,000,000 100,000,000 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
As at 31 December
M2A31H8
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
IR £ 21 B o] P& A ©H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETTT
Ordinary shares, issued ZER BBTR
and fully paid: B
At 1 January ®1A1H 3,289,706,120 26,990  3,295,288,120 27,035
Issuance of ordinary shares ~ Z£17 & 3@ A%
(Note (ii) (K1t i) 343,140,000 3,092 = -
Issuance of restricted shares  2%17 gk A% 15 22 Eh =t
held for share award 358 /PR
scheme (Note (i) AR (Bt 32 (i) ) 65,500,000 595 = =
Share repurchased and =AD& S
cancelled (Note (iv)) (B (iv)) (7,044,000) (63) (5,582,000) (45)
At 31 December M2H831H 3,691,302,120 30,614  3,289,706,120 26,990

209



K CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED - FFZ2EFRAT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R ¥R R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#FE2023F 12 H31H IEFE (WA RETE)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

210

(a)

Share Capital (Continued)

Notes:

(0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company was incorporated on 22 October 2020 in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability. Upon incorporation, the Company’s
authorised share capital was HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each, of
which 1 share was issued and allotted, credited as fully
paid.

On 12 May 2021, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares to HK$100,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 shares.

In May 2023, the Company issued 343,140,000 shares to
twelve subscribers at a total consideration of
HK$274,512,000 (equivalent to RMB247,330,000).
RMB3,092,000 was credited to share capital and
RMB244,238,000 was credited to share premium.

In July 2023, the Company issued 65,500,000 ordinary
shares to an independent trustee for the purpose of
granting restricted shares held for share award scheme
(Note 19(c)).

In 2022, the Company repurchased its own ordinary
shares of 7,044,000, with an aggregate consideration
paid amounting to approximately HK$7,174,000
(equivalent to RMB6,408,000). All of these shares were
cancelled in May 2023.

In 2021, the Company repurchased its own ordinary
shares of 5,582,000, with an aggregate consideration
paid amounting to approximately HK$8,605,000
(equivalent to RMB6,950,000). All of these shares were
cancelled in March 2022.
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)
Dividends

(b)

(i) Dividend payable to equity shareholders of the

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

21 BX - R#EREBE®)

IRE

(b)

() FREBXADERSBERIEN

Company attributable to the year i) 8=t
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Interim dividend declared of HK$3.74 =k A/ HA % S &%
cents (equivalent to RMB3.38 3 AR 3. 74751
cents) per ordinary share (2022: (FHERARK3I.389)
declared and paid of HK$5.81 (2022%F : Bk &K fF
cents (equivalent to RMB5.37 5818l (FER
cents)) ARME5375) ) 124,880 176,659
Final dividend in respect of the AN FE HEfE RROR S B9 _E (R
previous financial year, approved P HFERRPKRE
and paid during the year, of TR I B 2. 70781
HK$2.70 cents (equivalent to (FHERARK2.495)
RMB2.49 cents) per ordinary (20224 : 9.9 11l
share (2022: HK$9.9 cents (HERARYKS.015))
(equivalent to RMB8.01 cents)) 88,554 263,541

The Board did not proposed a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

On 24 August 2023, the Board declared an interim
dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2023, of
HK$3.74 cents per ordinary share (2023 Interim
Dividend”). On 8 December 2023 and 15 January
2024, the Company announced a supplementary
announcement regarding a scrip dividend scheme,
pursuant to which the scheme offering eligible
shareholders the scrip dividend option whereby
eligible shareholders may elect to receive the 2023
Interim Dividend wholly or partly in cash or by the
allotment of new shares credited as fully paid in
lieu of cash dividend.

E=g UV EEHIREE£2023
F12ANALEFREZRPIKE -

MN20235F8H24H EE=E€ 5k
H E2023F6 A308 IE/~AA 2
AR AR AR B AR i A% 3. 7475 (1L
([2023F R HRR% B | ) » 122023
F12A8H k2024175158 -
RARAMHAEBAKRREEE
METAE Bt ZirElma
BB ARG SR A
AERKREIERENR S KA
BRI 1E 8 R B9 3T IR 10 DA MR
BEHREBRBEWMEEB KD
2023 F R HRAR B, ©
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

212

(Continued)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Other capital reserve

The other capital reserve comprises the following:

In 2017, 2018 and 2021, share options and
restricted shares were granted to certain key
management of the Group by CCRE, which
then indirectly held 100% equity interest of
the Group. In 2023, the shares under 2023
Share Award Scheme was granted to certain
employee participants. The Group recognised
a total expense and a corresponding capital
reserve of RMB7,341,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB1,012,000); and

Deemed contribution from the parent
company prior to the Company’s initial public
offering in relation to: (i) certain assets and
liabilities historically associated with the
project management business of the Group
but were retained by the parent company;
and (ii) certain assets and liabilities
historically associated with the real estate
development and investment business but
were retained by the Group.
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

(ii)

(iii)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

PRC statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make up
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by the issue of new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholdings or by increasing the par
value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares mainly include the ordinary shares
repurchased but not yet cancelled.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company did not repurchase its own ordinary
shares on the Stock Exchange.

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)

21 BX - R#EREBE®)
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(i) FEEERE

BIEFE (RRE) AEER
BB A R ZBAR I R B & AT
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BRNEBRIIREMELRD
25%

(iii) EFER G
EEROHEBESEEEERME W
ARIESHAEBA%

# £2023F12A31B L EE -
AN A &) I 4 A B <2 F B [ H AR
B H X E -

213



K CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED - FFZ2EFRAT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R ¥R R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22023F12A31H 1IFFE (KA RKESE)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

214

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Treasury shares (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares of
7,044,000 on the Stock Exchange, with an
aggregate consideration paid amounting to
approximately HK$7,174,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,408,000). As at 31 December 2022, the
ordinary shares were repurchased but not yet
cancelled by the Company and were recorded in
“Treasury shares” in the Company’s reserves at the
purchase consideration. All of these shares were
cancelled in May 2023.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(u).

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 1(f)(ii)).

21 BXFX - #EREBE®)
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 21 BX - RERRE®

(Continued)
(d) Movements in components of equity (d) REZARITDHEE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBERE S HEKE D K ER )
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated REREHHHEHE NGRS
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of xR -ANABEFEMNE M A

changes in equity. Details of the changes in the EFERNERBXEFSFBHI W
Company’s individual components of equity between the T
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Fairvalue  (Accumulated
Other reserve losses)/
Share Share  Treasury capital  Exchange (non- Retained
capital  premium shares reserve reserve  recycling) profits Total
EftEA AVERE (RitER) /
The Company LYY Bx  RARE  ERRAR B EiRE (F78R) RERH st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARETR
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31A R
and 1 January 2022 ANFIH1ANER 05 SI8ETS (6950 479 (5949) - (14531) 986,009
Changes in equity for 2022 NNFERE
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - 410764 470764
Other comprehensive income for ~ FE A2 Az
the year - - - S ) - 04605
Total comprehensive income for ~ FE2AUELAE
the year - . - - (M8) 4076 575369
Cancellation of repurchased HHBERG
shares @) N5 690 . . . _ .
Purchase of own shares BEaakh - - (6.408) - - - - (6,408)
Dividends approved in respectof ~ BAFEEHENRS
the previous year - (263541) - - - - - (263541)
Dividend declared in respectof ~ AFEEREREY
the current year K& - - - - - - (176,659)  (176,659)
Balance at 31 December 2022 12022412310 it 26,990 248,229 (6,408) 487,819 81,838 (3,182) 219574 1,114,860
Loss for the year ERBE - - - - - - (14762 (14762)
Other comprehensive income ~~ FEEH2ENE
forthe year - - - S (338) - 1369
Total comprehensive income ERRENEES
for the year - - - - (338) (14762 (1064)
Cancelation of repurchased HHRERD
hares 63 (6345 6408 - - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares BOLER 3,002 244,238 - - - = - U1
Restricted shares issued under ~ RER M A& 2151
share award scheme RIRHIERZ 595 - - (595) - - - -
Purchase of own shares BEaskh - - - - - - - -
Dividends approved in respectof ~ BAFEEHENHRS
the previous year - - - - - - (88,554) (88,554)
Dividend declared inrespectof ~ AFEEERERN
the current year RS - - - - - - (124,880)  (124,880)
Equity settled share-based IR IRA A
payment EROFAR - - - 5,990 - - 5 5,990
Balance at 31 December 2023 12023%12A318 it 30,614 486,122 - 493,214 98,919 (6,565) 51,378 1,153,682
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

216

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so it can continue to provide returns for
equity shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The results of the directors’ review of the Group’s capital
structure are used as a basis for the determination of the
level of dividends, if any, that are declared. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged and was not subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group is not exposed to any significant currency risk or
interest rate risk. Exposure to credit and liquidity risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and
contract assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with sound credit rating for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the statement of
financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. There is no significant concentration of credit
risk within the Group.

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets

There is no significant concentration of credit risk
within the Group. The trade receivables are due
upon the date of the billing. The Group measures
loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets, including bills receivable and trade-related
amount due from related parties, at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M IR R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
#F2023F 125315 IEFE (UARKESE)
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

22 BIERREEREMIANFE

(&)

(a) BEERE)

(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets () EBZEUFERESHNEEE)
(Continued)
The following table provides information about the TREREERAEERE FE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade WHRIE(BEEKERREK
receivables, including bills receivable and trade- RAEs 5 B E S5 AR ) AR
related amount due from related parties: FERBLBHEEBEEMNE
¥}
2023
2023%F
Gross Expected
Expected carrying credit loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHA EHEE
EiE = HERMEE EiEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®ETxR
Within 6 months 618 AW 25.63% 258,833 66,328
6 months to 1 year 618 A =14 47.29% 115,758 54,742
Over 1 year B @1 59.22% 21,905 12,972
396,496 134,042
2022
2022%F
Gross Expected
Expected carrying credit loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHA EHEE
BREX RERTEE BEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETET
Within 6 months 61E A A 6.6% 131,958 8,693
6 months to 1 year 6fE A =14 31.6% 24,695 7,795
Over 1 year @15 57.5% 39,075 22,458
195,728 38,946
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22 BEERREEREMIAQNFE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@) FERREE)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets () EBZEUFERSHEEE)
(Continued)
The following table provides information about the THREREERNEERESNE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for ENEERKREEHEEESE
contract assets: K E R -
2023 2022
20235 20226
Gross  Expected Gross  Expected
Expected  carrying creditloss  Expected carrying  credit loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
Al BAHEE TaH BEEE
BEE LFEE FEREE BEX QAFRE BERA
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARBTET
Contract assets BREE 25.63% 168,530 43,187 6.6% 455243 30,215

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

BHEEEDRBERATFEZ
EREBEELRESE ZEHX
KOR TR AR B SR BUE UK
& BRI 9 A8 B AR O - B AT AR S
A 7K €2 [ it Uk 50 I8 T8 B 4 B
NE B E A 2 R =
B

B 4 380 HA 7 4 R B 2 B R K OR
BT Y BIER LR 2 Z BT
REFHR-

B i1 HR {8 30 48 5k (B 2 JE Uk 5k 18
HEZZRAEEBRTFBERL
B EPER - RIBEBELR
EEERE ANEEEXRT
mE AL B ERIIWAR AR
BHUE - B AR %S %
{EH R BB -
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of trade receivables and contract assets during the
year is as follows:

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

(%)

(a) =ERRGE)

() EBSEUHERANEE(F)

FARESRERARANE
ERBENBREERZSNT -

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTTT

At1danuary  RWANE 69,161 ___._.: 39,708

Impairment losses recognised FANERRREEE

during the year 108,068 29,453
At 31 December M12H31H 177,229 69,161

(iij)  Credit risk arising from other receivables

In respect of other receivables, the Group monitors
the exposures and manages them based on
historical settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

At each reporting date, the Group measures the

expected credit losses of other receivables in
following ways:

220

(i) FEEMERNENEERRE

MREMEERFENS AEE
RIBE S SE LS IBELR
BRI B 3 R SRA B IR S B
RS ER R EEARRER -

REREEH AEEIZ TS
77 A B H Al R MR R0 TR
EEER:



2023 ANNUAL REPORT « ZZ2 == F# J

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22

=

RA 35 80 R P E
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BEEREEREMIAQNTE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FERMRE)
(i)  Credit risk arising from other receivables (i) FEEMERNENEERRE
(Continued) (%)
If, at the reporting date, the credit risk on other ARRE B H - E AR
receivables has not increased significantly since B ER R B Y18 R MXI
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss RAREBLEA BIAREEZRES
allowance for other receivables at an amount equal R2EAMBEREESENS
to 12-month expected credit loss. The Group %Ei?rgﬁi\ﬁw@lﬁl K IE B B 18 B
measures the loss allowance for other receivables o m Efh EWKIBRE B
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit % B VR FERARAE LA B
loss if the credit risk on other receivables has RELEREEE AXEHIZ
increased significantly since initial recognition and HEREEFEDNNEREE
no impairment loss has occurred. The Group =i} E’J‘i\%ﬁd‘gﬁfﬁfﬂﬁlm
measures the loss allowance for other receivables WEBERE -8 VIRERD
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit KE %Ef@ﬂﬁﬁ% ==l $%
loss if impairment losses has occurred since initial EHERERGFEBRNEHRE
recognition. EBEN S BT = HMERR
THH) B R -
The Directors believe that there is no material EERAE TEEREEES
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding &?ﬁﬁt HERTEEREKX
balance of deposits and prepayments. Therefore, EERR AL Ze RFERMK
the expected loss rate of deposits and IEE’]?E,HHEETET?E.:HEZ%IT
prepayments is assessed to be immaterial and no EE A BREZ=20234F &2022
loss allowance provision is made for these deposits F12AMBEFEI ERZE
and prepayments during the year ended 31 Re RTENFRIEFH R B 1R B o
December 2023 and 2022.
The following table provides information about the TEREBREEAEENEER
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other % I L th FE W5k IE (235 FE UK
receivables, including non-trade related amount R S R IEE SRR B
due from related parties: HEEEBBENER:
2023 2022
2023F 2022F
Gross  Expected Gross  Expected
Expected  carrying creditloss  Expected carrying  credit loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
A BHEE T EHEE
FEX #KAE FERE FBiEX BEAE BEAG
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARBFR
For other receivables that ~ §iiEEER 51
the credit risk has not R AR X
increased significantly B LR H A e
since initial recognition WA= 1.46% 857,396 12,536 1.80% 504,998 9,075
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(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk arising from other receivables
(Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on historical loss
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view
of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of other receivables during the year is as follows:

(a)

FERR(E)

(i) RERMERSANEERR

(42 )
(45 )

BHEBERIREE L EBEL
BEH - RFHLEREBAE A
F bR FEE S 54 Uk S AT 6 48 R
AR~ B AR T B R £ [ Bt e
Yo 3R TE TR B 4 HE A O A RO
MEBEEZRER-

FREEMEYRKRBEEREOE
BRERESMT

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT

Attdanvary AtAw@E 2075 189

Impairment losses recognised FAERAREER

during the year 3,461 7,180
At 31 December M12H318 12,536 9,075

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

(b)

B LB

AEEANENELZERAEREERN
SR ER RERASAKNEY
BRERSREBRHUREFTLMERF
ERCEZERBBE T HBIME
EHNERKERAEBRRESS
HfE - AEBHBR R EHEZER
B2FREEBERZNETER
REERRANIR &G NBERA
“ﬁﬁﬁ %M&EIxéﬂ%%
BRRAREREE  UEMNEH
&E%m@éﬁﬁi
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiEKMEERESHMITAEQTE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FENMERPR(E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRITAEEETESREBER
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the MEMRNFRE VBB ETD
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are ERBEFHNARMREERERLSE
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the BEAXNHxE ARG -
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
As at 31 December 2023
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
M0BF12ANAENAREREERE
More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
-k —F# MmER M2A31A
REX BRER BRER LER @zt WEREE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTR ARBTR AR%TR AR®TR ARWTR

Trade and other payables BoREMENTIE 300,614 - - - 300,614 300,614
Lease liabilties REAR 4,07 3,497 609 - 8,213 7,846
304,721 3,497 609 - 308,827 308,460

As at 31 December 2022
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
R02F12ANBENAERR S NE

More than More than

Within 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying

1 year or less than less than More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
—FR5 —£f MER M2A31A
RER  ERERN  ERER nER gt HEREE

RMB00O ~ RMBO000  RMBO0O ~ RMBO00  RMBO00O  RMBI000
AREBTL ARETL ARETR ARETL ARETR ARETR

Trade and other payables B REAMENTE 116,201 - - - 116,201 116,201
Lease liabilities RERE 2,532 653 - - 3,185 3,098
118,733 653 = = 119,386 119,299
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22

224

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end
of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date;

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available;

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

HERREERSMTIAATE

(&

(c)

AFENE

(i)

BAFENBZEHMEERR

&

NFEZR

TREJRBEFEVHRELE
QB3R A FEFE RBE
HARAEHAEAEESHITA
MAFESR=EEBR -RE
BEXMAERBABRSR
BRLEBEMHELEATRF
Bt EFRENE:

E—RIEE: AE-RHAE
SHEMATE DAMREE
%8 B AR
SESLEEE Y

FE_MEEUNFE-_REBAE
AAENATE BAABER
ABREFEE - RBAER
FRAREREXTABRE
AB-FABENBAERYL
EMSEBA E2ENBAE:

FE—RAEEERERTAH
R AEFERFE
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiERBEENEMIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(Continued)
(c) Fair value measurement (Continued) (c) AFEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () HAFEITEZZHEERSE
value (Continued) & (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NFEER(E)
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2023 categorised into
AT EFER2023F12A31A 2 BB
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R20235
12A31H
ZAYHE E-R ot E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tn AR®TR AR®TR AR%ETx
Recurring fair value KEMNTEGE
measurements
Other financial assets: HEEMEE:
— Investment in unlisted securiies — &k EM B HHHE 1,511 = 1,511 =
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2022 categorised into
AFEFEN202F12A31B DA
Fair value at
31 December
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
120224
12H318
ZATHE E—1 E-H E=H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFTT AR®ETR
Recurring fair value KEMATETE
measurements
Other financial assets: AL HEE:
— Investment in unlisted securies — &k E A A HHE 4,894 = 4,894 =
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continuead)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

Principal and returns of Investment in unlisted
securities are not guaranteed. The Group invested
in investment funds which holds a combination of
term deposits, securities and futures. Fair value of
Level 2 investment funds were recognized based
on the periodic reports from investment funds.

23 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2023 and
2022 not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

(%)

() ATENEE)

() BAFEABZEZHEERA
=&

N FEFR(E)

#H Z=2023F12A8318 L F & -
BB — 4 7 M e
MEmEANEHE =R A
ERNBRENEHMEL N E M
15 LB A B A SR B R RE R
N ERBR 2 EHERE-

RERFLMESFZAS RE
B ERE - AEERENSF
EEMER EXLHEHEA
MREES - F_HREES
MAFENREREESHNTE
EASR & P RERR -

23 RiE

REr & B 15 TR N R 5T 38 2 1R20234F &
2022F 12 A31H RBITE ANAENT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Contracted for 23] 4) 2,196 3,075
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXEBARS

TRANSACTIONS
BARE T BB R ERE B R

(@) Name and relationship with related parties (a)

Name of party
S A

Relationship with the Group
BEAR K BRI R

Central China Real Estate Limited (“CCRE”") Company controlled by the ultimate
BEMEROERAR ([EEME]) controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
(together with its subsidiaries, “CCRE Group”) Sum

GEREMBAR 5t [BEMESE]) B AR AR SR BA IR AR S AR 1 2

NG|

Central China New Life Limited (“Central China New Life”)
BREMERBROB (TREMHEE])

(together with its subsidiaries, “Central China New Life Group”)

Company controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
Sum

(EREMBAR S [EXHEEEE]) B AR BB R A TR AR S AR 2

NG|

Zhoukou Lvcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Zhoukou Lvcheng”)
BEO&BEHEREAERAR ([FHAK])

A joint venture of CCRE Group
EEMWESENASRE

Luohe Liangchen Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Luohe Liangchen”)
BARREFARAR (DRARKR])

A joint venture of CCRE Group
REMWESENA SRR

Henan Rongxing Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Henan Rongxing”)
MEREEXBRAR (DUEKRE])

A joint venture of CCRE Group
REMWESENA SRR

Taigian County Jianrun Urban Development Co., Ltd.
(“Taigian County Jianrun”)
ARZEENTERARAR ([ARIZEE])

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEMEEENSERE
Puyang Jiancheng Development Co., Ltd.

(“Puyang Jiancheng”)
EEERERAER AR (EEEM])

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEEMESENEEDLE
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

228

24 EXEBAXRS ®)

Significant related party transactions (b) EXREHLEIRXRS
In addition to the related party information disclosed BRARGEBHRREMESIEED
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the BT B RN REERE E20235F
Group entered into the following related party 12A3MB L FEFT LA TEE X
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2023. Z)°
2023 2022
20235 20224
The Group rEEH Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
HtaF AR®T T AR®T T
Provision of project REEHERERS:
management service to:
An associate NG - 2,427
Licensing fee to CCRE Group ZEXMESEENZFTEHR (i) 15,000 15,000
Repayment from: BNKA:
An associate — BB & A A - 1,600
Acquisition of right-of-use BEXESEEWEFEHE
assets from CCRE Group BE 6,950 =
Receiving other miscellaneous H B 5 &5 1 H 318
services from related parties R 4,611 6,188
Note: Kzt :
(i) Licensing fee (i) &FAEH

On 13 May 2021, the Company and CCRE entered into a
license agreement (the “Trademark Licensing
Agreement”) in respect of “ # %" (“Jianye”) and related
trademarks for an initial term of ten years after the listing
date. Pursuant to the license agreement, licensing fees
are charged by CCRE to the Company since 31 May
2021, the listing date of the Company in the following
manner: (i) for the first three years: RMB15,000,000 per
annum; (ii) for the fourth to sixth year: RMB20,000,000
per annum; (iii) for the seventh to tenth year:
RMB25,000,000 per annum, if applicable, calculated on a
pro-rated basis for less than an entire calendar year.
Neither CCRE nor the Group has the right to unilaterally
terminate the Trademark Licensing Agreement.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
accrued licensing fee of RMB15,000,000 (2022:
RMB15,000,000) pursuant to the license agreement,
which was included in “other operating expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

R20214E5 8130 @ AR D T B 2 4
EfVEBIEZ%] REBEEIZEN
BN EAGEETN DR e
FHE LT ASER T F - RIERT
Al Bk EEF M ER] 5202145 A
318 (ARG EH A ) EBEBMN
TAXNKEFFRAIZ A : ()31 = :
&4 AR #15,000,0007T (i) 5 7
FEENF : §F AR%20,000,000
T (i BEEFEEETF BFEAR
#25,000,0007T ° & i — {52 2
BF ST BERLHIE-
BEMERANEESEEEHEL
LEPEAZ T Al hp ok ©

E £2023F12A31B I EE - A&
ER BT O] ket IR AT Al B AR
15,000,0007T (20224 : A R &
15,000,0007T) ' EFF ARG EBEE
[Hbeapt] -
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 BEREEBARS &)

TRANSACTIONS (cContinued)

(c) EREAHES WAER

(c) Balance with related parties

2023 2022
The Group AEE 20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Amounts due from: PE W FRIE
Trade related: B SR
An associate — & A A - 1,379
Non-trade related: FHEZ 1A -
CCRE Group and its joint ventures and Z¥iEEE R LS L P¥R
associates i B/N] 4,419 5,718
An associate — A& R A - 23,664
4,419 30,761
Amounts due to: PE 43R
Trade related: H 518
Central China New Life Group BENEEEE 38,629 25,351
CCRE Group BEHMESEE 5,245 6,501
Non-trade related: FHEZ 1A -
CCRE Group EEMESE - 3,806
43,874 35,658
Contract assets from related parties: B# TSN EE:
Trade related: B Z Ak
An associate — A B & A A - 3,387
Contract liabilities to related parties: BH SN EE:
Trade related: B Z AR
CCRE Group and its joint ventures and EZ¥iESEBREAERER
associates EE /NG| 1,000 16,580
Lease liabilities to CCRE Group EEMEEENEEERE: 4,796 905
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balance with related parties (Continued)

All the balances are unsecured, interest-free and payable
on demand.

Trade-related amounts due from related parties are in
relation to provision of project management services to
related parties. Trade-related amounts due to Central
China New Life Group include collection of service fees
on behalf of Jianye Property Management for its
provision of property management services to the
customers of the Group.

(c)

24 EXEBAXRS ®)

SERARE T VA ER ()

FRAEHAEER 28 BEARER
At

FEWRBRET 2B B HEBKIATI EEA
MELRESHERERE BB K
MNEEFLEEEEZE 5 HEBNKEA
BREBEAAKETFREHRFEIHE
RERBMREZXDEE L KRR

2023 2022
The Company KA F] 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT

Amount due from subsidiaries FE U B A R FRIE
— non-current —ERH 1,027,075 517,018
— current — & 252,530 592,516
Lease liabilities to CCRE Group EXMEEENEEEE: 187 302
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Key management compensation

Compensations for key management other than those
for directors as disclosed in note 7 is set out below:

RA 35 80 R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2023F 12318 IFF/E (UARKEZIE)

24 EXEBAERS #)

(d)

FTEEEANSHM

REBANET EESHMIEEE
A B HIEII0T -

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Salaries and other short-term employee ¥4 & £ th 45 Hi{g 8 18 7
benefits 3,593 8,600
Equity settled share-based payment VARG 7 45 S DA R 1 /3 R &Y
(NEN 1,316 542
Total HEt 4,909 9,142

Total remuneration is included in “personnel cost”’ (see
note 5(b)).

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of licensing fees
to CCRE Group, acquisition of right-of-use assets from
CCRE Group and receiving other miscellaneous services
from related parties disclosed in note 24(c) constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules are provided in sections “Connected
transactions” and “Continuing connected transactions” of
the Directors’ Report except those transactions which
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

(e)

FMEzsET ATABRA] (RE s
5(b)) °

HEEXZEEz LT RAZER
3

FRAREMESEE NG E
A -BEXERKEFEREEE RN
2 Bt 75 WSO ER A L b RETE AR 75 (A BT AT
24(c) I FE) MR A TR B £
RAFUAERENEER HHIFE
RERS  EMRAUFMAZERTED
BRERSNESSRE [HERS ]
RIFEBEX S| M HEEER
F14ATE(N) EH REZEEMER R
BSF EMARBE4AZENHERTE D
RS ERGNe
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25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 DEEEMFRTR

FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR® T ARBTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M WS MR 1,581 554
Interests in subsidiaries NN ok 24(c) 1,027,075 517,018
Amount due from related parties & Y5 5 B 24(c) — =
Other financial assets HEihemEE 13 1,511 4,894
e BOSOMGAY 522466
Current assets REEE
Amount due from subsidiaries JE W BT BB A B kIR 24(c) 252,530 592,516
Cash and cash equivalents RekRECEED 871 180
DU 253,401 592,696
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H fth fE AT R IR 3,405 =
Dividend payables FEAT IR E 124,880 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 690 302
D ETE 20N
Netcurrentassets = *®AE¥®E 124426) 592,394
Total assets less current BEERRBAER
liabilities 1,154,593 1,114,860
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25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 PARIBHEHMBERRER 2
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE AR¥T T ARBET T
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 909 =
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEA G 2 =
911 =
Net assets EEFH 1,153,682 1,114,860
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARF#HE
Share capital [N 21(a) 30,614 26,990
Reserves f# 21(d) 1,123,068 1,087,870
TOTAL EQUITY M AARE 1,153,682 1,114,860
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on M20255F1 HOREE E gk R IXRETE -
9 January 2025.
Wu Po Sum Hu Bing
HER B K
Chairman and non-executive director Executive Director
TEFHHTEE HITESH
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26

234

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2023 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

26 EHE2023fF12A3MBLLEE

A8 {E & K 4 SRS ET A
MEAREETREENRE

HEAMBHRERTIZBARAIL BB
fAeEBMAREE2023F12 8318 (L&
B 8 R AR BN R AN B S SR R A %
EERT AR ER - BT Al g AL
BEBEA-

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning on
or after
RT3 B #E
ZEBRBN
S HBEX

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in Financial Statements

ERMBERELERNFE8N B HEKZ 2 RKE

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

BEMBMELRNENSR LA R ENE R A BKE

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

FREMBHRELNE165E (EF]AX) ELHLEHERE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BEGFENFIR (BRIAR) - WEHEREFRBEE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

RGBSR (BRIAX) - RESBERBRBD LAY

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance Arrangements
BB ERBTHRREBTBHRELERNETR (BFIR) HEFHELH

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability
ERRTERIE215 (BFTAR)  SRZ AJ £ 1E

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

FREMBHRELENE10E R F B ERF285 (EFTA)
REZHABENA A S P FZHNEELEHTE

1 January 2027
20271 H1H

1 January 2027
20271 H1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2025
202551 H1H

To be determined

N

FET

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial positions or performance of
the Group but may affect the presentations and disclosures of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group is in
the process of making a detailed assessment of the impact of
HKFRS18. Except for the HKFRS 18, so far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

ERZEVHRELERNFISRARLE TS
HAKBOPTGRARRIREREATE -
BREEFEAEESEMBHRRNZT
KRB -AEELAEFANGEEREY R
SEAFIRNTE -BREBM RS E
AIFE185E5N AN B B AR A RAZFE
R HRRI BRI MR BEA KA BEHERER
BRREXEATE -



2023 ANNUAL REPORT « ZZ2 == F# j

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MEBHIBRE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated %34 £ 48 LA M AR 15 7K 3R 45 iyt 69 EE % A L 9 /K
assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial S£E&EAESBREEHFAEE BEMEZN
years prepared on the basis as hereunder stated is as set out below: I Z 520 :

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

2023
20234
RMB’000
AR T

e
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 2020%F 2019

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBETT ARBTT ARBTRE

Revenue

Profit before taxation
Income tax

Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

L' ON

BR 35 A 7
FIEEL!

FEBER

LU BB
AR EIEE R

IR M AR

468,377

247,219
(45,982)

201,237

198,571
2,666

605,679 1,301,449 1,152,082 1,028,995

403,562 1,012,878 912,337 858,224
(99,662)  (242,723)  (230,867)  (217,127)

303,900 770,155 681,470 641,097

303,900 770,155 681,470 641,097
NATER NARNEHA NATEA NATER
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

METHIBE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY #Z&8EE  8ER#ES
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETIT ARETT ARYTT ARETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERENE EE 42,930 42,670 50,575 35,011 33,277
Current assets REBE 3,082,641 2,650,766 2,844,456 1,640,040 1,343,960
Total assets EEME 3,125,571 2,693,436 2,895,031 1,675,051 1,377,237
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities RBAE (702,341)  (514,865)  (573,793)  (662,588)  (625,978)
Non-current liabilities EmEals (4,015) (779) (1,609) (5,071) (4,528)
Total liabilities =R t.t (706,356)  (515,644)  (575,402)  (667,659)  (630,506)
Net assets BEE 2,419,215 2,177,792 2,319,629 1,007,392 746,731
Equity s
Total equity attributable N B HEZ AL
to equity shareholders JEfG R 42 EE
of the Company 2,416,549 2,177,792 2,319,629 1,007,392 746,731
Non-controlling interests ~ JE#% A% 25 2,666 NAT@EA NAT@EA NATEA NATEA
Total equity RSB 2,416,215 2,177,792 2,319,629 1,007,392 746,731
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